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CHAPTER "A" - GENERAL OVERVIEW, GOALS AND 

STRATEGY 

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION REGARDING FINANCIAL POSITION AND 

OPERATING RESULTS 

PRINCIPAL DATA  

Profitability 

 

For the three months 
ended March 31 

Change in 
%  

2017 2016 

 
In NIS millions 

Interest income, net 1,167  (3)1,049  11.2  

Credit loss expenses 145  46  215.2  

Profit before taxes 503  368  36.7  

Provision for taxes on profit 182  (3)175  4.0  

Profit after taxes 321  193  66.3  

Profit Attributed to the Bank's Shareholders 303  179  69.3  

Profit Attributed to the Bank's Shareholders – disregarding certain components (see below) 309  229  34.9  

Comprehensive income, attributed to the Bank's shareholders 129  (18)   

Net earnings per one share of NIS 0.1 par value attributed to the Bank's shareholders - in NIS ⁽²⁾0.27  0.17  
 The ratio of Profit before taxes to total equity in %⁽¹⁾ 14.3  11.3  
 The ratio of  Profit after taxes to total equity in %⁽¹⁾ 8.9  5.8  
 Net return on equity attributed to the Bank's shareholders, in %⁽¹⁾ 8.6  5.5  
 Net return on equity attributed to the Bank's shareholders, in %⁽¹⁾ - disregarding certain components 

(see below). 8.8  7.1  
 Footnotes: 

(1) On an annual basis. 
(2) The diluted earnings are identical to the basic earnings. 
(3) Reclassified, see Note 1 G (1). 

Profitability - disregarding certain components 

 
2017 2016 

Q1 2017  
compared to 

 
Q1 Q4 Q1 Q4 2016 Q1 2016 

 
In NIS millions Change in % 

Net income attributed to the Bank's shareholders - as reported 303  145  179  109.0  69.3  

Disregarding: 
     Effect of settlement ⁽¹⁾ 6  80  -  

  Effect of the change in tax rate⁽²⁾ -  59  50  
  Net income attributed to the Bank's shareholders - disregarding the components above 309  284  229  8.8  35.0  

Net return on equity attributed to the Bank's shareholders, in % - disregarding the 
components above 8.8  8.2  7.1  

  Footnotes: 
(1) Increased compensation to employees of an investee company overseas whose operations were sold. See Note 23 J to the annual financial statements 31 December, 2017 (page 196-

197). 
(2) See Note 8 L to the annual financial statements 31 December, 2016 (page 147-148). 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

Balance sheet 

 

March 31, 
2017 

March 31, 
2016 

December 
31, 2016 

Change in % compared 
to 

 
In NIS millions 

March 31, 
2016 

December 
31, 2016 

Total assets 219,096  207,200  219,577  5.7  (0.2) 

Credit to the public, net 143,459  129,203  140,760  11.0  1.9  

Securities 36,187  38,064  38,818  (4.9) (6.8) 

Deposits from the public 171,642  ⁽¹⁾161,633  172,318  6.2  (0.4) 

Equity attributed to the Bank's shareholders 14,754  13,270  14,512  11.2  1.7  

Total equity 15,185  13,627  14,936  11.4  1.7  
Footnote: 

(1) Reclassified - see Note 1 G (2) to the condensed financial statements. 

Ratio of capital to risk assets 

Basel III 
March 31, 

2017 
March 31, 

2016 
December 

31, 2016 

 
in % 

Ratio of common equity tier 1 to risk assets 9.7  9.4  9.8  

Ratio of total capital to risk assets 13.9  13.7  13.8  

Financial ratios 

 

March 31, 
2017 

March 31, 
2016 

December 
31, 2016 

 
in % 

Ratio of total equity to total assets 6.9  6.6  6.8  

Ratio of credit loss expenses to the average balance of credit  to the public 0.40  0.14  0.34  

Ratio of credit to the public, net to total assets 65.5  62.4  64.1  

Ratio of credit to the public, net to deposits from the public 83.6  79.9  81.7  

Ratio of deposits from the public to total assets 78.3  78.0  78.5  

Ratio of total non-interest income to operating and other expenses 63.8  55.2  59.2  

Ratio of total non-interest income to operating and other expenses – disregarding certain 
components (see below) 64.2  55.2  55.3  

Ratio of operating expenses to total income 68.8  77.4  72.7  

Ratio of total non-interest income to operating and other expenses – disregarding certain 
components (see below) 68.4  77.4  72.9  

Risk assets adjusted return⁽¹⁾ 8.8  5.6  6.7  

Risk assets adjusted return⁽¹⁾ – disregarding certain components (see below) 9.0  7.2  7.2  

Leverage ratio⁽²⁾ 6.6  6.4  6.6  

Liquidity coverage ratio⁽²⁾ 150.8  133.9  146.5  
Footnotes: 

(1) Return on capital computed on the average balance of risk assets (31.3.2017 - 9.17%,  31.12.2016  - 9.15%, 31.3.2016 - 9.08%). 

(2) The ratio is computed in respect of the three months ended in the end of the reporting period. 

MARKET SHARE  

Based on data relating to the banking industry as of December 31, 2016, published by the Bank of Israel, the Discount Bank Group’s 

share in the total of the five largest banking groups in Israel was as follows 

 
December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015 

 
In % 

Total assets 15.0  14.8  

Credit to the public, net 15.2  14.2  

Deposits from the public 15.1  14.7  

Interest income, net 17.4  17.1  

Total non-interest income 18.4  15.9  
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Development of the Discount share 

 
Closing price at end of the trading day 

Rate of 
change in 

Q1 of 2017 
in % 

 
May 10, 2017 March 31, 2017 

December 31, 
2016 

Discount share 900  851  801  6.3  

The TA 5 Banks index 1,663.52  1,598.96  1,578.90  1.3  

The TA 35 index 1,420.11  1,397.38  1,470.78  (5.0) 

Discount market value (in NIS billions) 10.48  9.85  9.07  8.6  

GOALS AND BUSINESS STRATEGY 

THE UPDATED STRATEGIC PLAN 



 

 

 

 

12 

Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

ASSIMILATION OF THE STRATEGIC PLAN  

CHAPTER "B" - EXPLICATION AND ANALYSIS OF THE 

FINANCIAL RESULTS AND BUSINESS POSITION 

MATERIAL TRENDS, OCCURRENCES, DEVELOPMENTS AND CHANGES 

MANAGEMENT'S HANDLING OF CURRENT MATERIAL ISSUES 
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ISSUE OF SUBORDINATED DEBT NOTES (SERIES L) 

FORMATION OF THE "DISCOUNT SPIRIT" 

UNCOMPROMISING CONTINUATION OF THE STRATEGIC PLAN 

ADDITIONAL ISSUES 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

PRINCIPAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTS 

LEADING AND DEVELOPING RISKS 

1
 The growth figures in Israel for the first quarter of 2017 were not available at the time the report was submitted to the printing press. 
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INITIATIVES CONCERNING THE BANKING SECTOR AND ITS OPERATIONS 

EFFICIENCY OF THE BANKING INDUSTRY - THE REGULATORY EXPECTATIONS 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

REVIEW BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

MATERIAL DEVELOPMENTS IN INCOME, EXPENSES AND OTHER 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

PROFIT AND PROFITABILITY 
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DEVELOPMENTS IN INCOME AND EXPENSES 

Developments in certain income statement items in the first quarter of 2017, compared with the fourth quarter of 2016 and compared 

with the first quarter of 2016 

 
2017 2016 

Rate of Change Q1 
2017 compared to 

 
Q1 Q4 Q1 Q4 2016 Q1 2016 

 
In NIS millions in % 

Interest income 1,440  ⁽²⁾1,428  ⁽²⁾1,218  0.8  18.2  

Interest expenses 273  262  169  4.2  61.5  

Interest income, net 1,167  1,166  1,049  0.1  11.2  

Credit loss expenses 145  224  46  (35.3) 215.2  

Net interest income after credit loss expenses 1,022  942  1,003  8.5  1.9  

Non-interest Income 
     Non-interest financing income 225  179  96  25.7  134.4  

Commissions 666  653  624  2.0  6.7  

Other income 22  6  62  266.7  (64.5) 

Total non-interest income 913  838  782  8.9  16.8  

Operating and other Expenses 
     Salaries and related expenses 859  866  859  (0.8) -  

Maintenance and depreciation of buildings and equipment 264  254  273  3.9  (3.3) 

Other expenses 309  338  285  (8.6) 8.4  

Total operating and other expenses 1,432  1,458  1,417  (1.8) 1.1  

Profit before taxes 503  322  368  56.2  36.7  

Provision for taxes on profit 182  ⁽²⁾168  ⁽²⁾175  8.3  4.0  

Profit after taxes 321  154  193  108.4  66.3  

Bank’s share in profit (loss)of affiliated companies, net of tax effect (4) 3  (1) -  300.0  

Net profit attributed to the non-controlling rights holders in consolidated 
companies (14) (12) (13) 16.7  7.7  

Net Profit attributed to Bank's shareholders 303  145  179  109.0  69.3  

Net return on equity attributed to the Bank's shareholders, in %⁽¹⁾ 8.6  4.1  5.5  
  Net Profit attributed to Bank's shareholders -  disregarding certain 

components (see above) 309  284  229  8.8  34.9  

Net return on equity attributed to the Bank's shareholders, in %⁽¹⁾ - disregarding 
certain components  (see above) 8.8  8.2  7.1  

  Footnote: 

(1) On an annual basis. 

(2) Reclassified, see Note 1 G (1) to the condensed financial statements. 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

Composition of the net financing income 

 
2017 2016 

 
Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 

 
in NIS millions 

Interest income 1,440  ⁽¹⁾1,428  1,519  1,494  ⁽¹⁾1,218  

Interest expenses 273  262  332  339  169  

Interest income, net 1,167  1,166  1,187  1,155  1,049  

Non-interest financing income 225  179  51  428  96  

Total net financing income 1,392  1,345  1,238  1,583  1,145  

Analysis of the total net financing income 

 
2017 2016 

 
Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 

 
in NIS millions 

Profit from current operations 1,190  ⁽¹⁾1,188  1,187  1,147  ⁽¹⁾1,074  

Net profit (loss) from realization and adjustment to fair value of bonds 95  (20) 43  43  75  

Profit (loss) from investments in shares 79  54  3  373  14  

Adjustment to fair value of derivative instruments 14  77  (30) (18) (39) 

Exchange rate differences, options and other derivatives 13  33  35  37  21  

Net profit on the sale of loans 1  13  -  1  -  

Total net financing income 1,392  1,345  1,238  1,583  1,145  

Footnote: 

(1) Reclassified, see Note 1 G (1) to the condensed financial statements. 
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Development of the interest income, net by regulatory operating segments 

 

For the three 
months ended 

March 31, 
 

 
2017 2016 

 

 
In NIS millions 

Change 
in % 

Domestic operations: 
   Households 364  309  17.8  

Private banking 13  14  (7.1) 

Small and minute businesses 346  301  15.0  

Medium businesses 66  74  (10.8) 

Large businesses 115  123  (6.5) 

Institutional bodies 7  8  (12.5) 

Financial management 70  ⁽¹⁾33  112.1  

Total Domestic operations 981  862  13.8  

Total International operations 186  187  (0.5) 

Total 1,167  1,049  11.2  
Footnote: 
(1) Reclassified - see Note 1 G (1) to the condensed financial statements. 

Development in the credit loss expenses 

 

For the three months 
ended March 31, 

 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
In NIS millions 

On a specific basis (12) (9) 42  

On a group basis 157  55  427  

Total 145  46  469  

Rate of credit loss expenses to the average balance of credit  to the public⁽¹⁾: 
   Cumulative rate since the beginning of the year 0.40%  0.14%  0.34%  

Details of the quarterly development in the credit loss expenses 

 
2017 2016 

 
Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 

 
In NIS millions 

On a specific basis (12) 77  (2) (24) (9) 

On a group basis 157  147  143  82  55  

Total 145  224  141  58  46  

Rate of credit loss expenses to the average balance of credit  to the public⁽¹⁾: 
     The rate in the quarter 0.40%  0.66%  0.42%  0.18%  0.14%  

Cumulative rate since the beginning of the year 0.40%  0.34%  0.24%  0.16%  0.14%  
Footnote: 

(1) On an annual basis. 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

Distribution of the commissions 

 

For the three months 
ended March 31 

 

 
2017 2016 Change 

 
in NIS millions in % 

Account management fee 123  121  1.7  

Credit cards 262  243  7.8  

Operations in securities and in certain derivative instruments 88  77  14.3  

Commissions from the distribution of financial products 34  33  3.0  

Handling credit 39  36  8.3  

Conversion differences 35  33  6.1  

Foreign trade services 17  12  41.7  

Net profit from credit portfolio services 2  3  (33.3) 

Commissions on financing activities 45  43  4.7  

Other commissions 21  23  (8.7) 

Total commissions 666  624  6.7  

Details of the effects of certain components on salaries and related expenses, with details of the impact of certain components 

 
2017 2016 

 
Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 

 
In NIS millions 

Salaries and Related Expenses - as reported 859  866  830  861  859  

Awards (41) (18) (28) (45) (23) 

Effect of change (9) (125) (16) -  -  

Reversal of excess provisions -  ⁽²⁾57  -  -  -  

Salaries and Related Expenses - Disregarding certain components 809  780  786  816  836  
Footnotes: 

(1) Accelerating the amortization of "actuarial profits and losses" following the implementation of the 2016 efficiency plan - See Note 23 J to the annual 
financial statements 31 December, 2016 (pp. 214-215). 

 

(2) Mostly actuarial components.  

DEVELOPMENTS IN THE COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Condensed statement of comprehensive income 

 

For the three months 
ended March 31, 

 

 
2017 2016 

 

 
in NIS millions 

Change in 
% 

Net Profit attributed to the Bank's shareholders 303  179  69.3  

Changes in components of other comprehensive income (loss), attributed to the Bank's shareholders: 
   Other comprehensive  loss, before taxes⁽¹⁾ (166) (230) 

 Effect of attributed taxes (8) 33  
 Other comprehensive loss, attributed to the Bank's shareholders, after taxes (174) (197) 
 Comprehensive income (loss),attributed to the Bank's shareholders 129  (18) -  

Footnote: 

(1) For details regarding changes in the components of other comprehensive income, see Note 4 to the condensed financial statements. 
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STRUCTURE AND DEVELOPMENTS OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES, CAPITAL AND 

CAPITAL ADEQUACY 

DEVELOPMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

Developments in the principal balance sheet items 

 

December 31, 
2016 

December 
31, 2016 

 

 
in NIS millions 

Rate of 
change 

in % 

Assets 
   Cash and deposits with banks 29,179  29,311  (0.5) 

Securities 36,187  38,818  (6.8) 

Credit to the public, net 143,459  140,760  1.9  

Liabilities 
   Deposits from the public 171,642  172,318  (0.4) 

Deposits from banks 5,184  5,342  (3.0) 

Securities loaned or sold under repurchase arrangements 3,340  3,543  (5.7) 

Subordinated debt notes 8,648  8,498  1.8  

Equity attributed to the Bank's shareholders 14,754  14,512  1.7  

Total equity 15,185  14,936  1.7  

CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC  

COMPOSITION OF CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC BY LINKAGE SEGMENTS 

Data on the composition of net credit to the public by linkage segments 

 
March 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 

 

 

In NIS 
millions 

% of total 
credit to the 

public 
In NIS 

millions 

% of total 
credit to the 

public 

Rate of 
change in 

% 

Non-linked shekels 100,117  69.8  96,200  68.3  4.1  

CPI-linked shekels 15,627  10.9  15,243  10.8  2.5  

Foreign currency and foreign currency-linked shekels 27,715  19.2  29,317  20.8  (5.5) 

Total 143,459  100.0  140,760  100.0  1.9  
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

COMPOSITION OF CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC BY REGULATORY OPERATING SEGMENTS 

Review of developments in the balance of net credit to the public, by regulatory operating segments  

    

 

March 31 
2017 

December 
31 2016 

 

 
In NIS millions 

Change 
in % 

Domestic operations: 
   Households* 53,048  51,488  3.0  

Private banking* 209  214  (2.3) 

Small and minute businesses 35,970  34,219  5.1  

Medium businesses 12,436  12,398  0.3  

Large businesses 21,921  21,438  2.3  

Institutional bodies 1,007  1,047  (3.8) 

Total Domestic operations 124,591  120,804  3.1  

Total International operations 20,957  22,100  (5.2) 

Total credit to the public 145,548  142,904  1.9  

Credit loss expenses (2,089) (2,144) (2.6) 

Total credit to the public, net 143,459  140,760  1.9  

*Of which - Mortgages 26,547  25,764  3.0  

COMPOSITION OF THE OVERALL CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC RISK BY ECONOMIC SECTORS 

Developments of total credit to the public risk, by main economic sectors 

 
March 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 

 

Economic Sectors 

Total credit 
to the public  

risk 

Rate from 
total 

credit  
risk 

Total credit  
to the public  

risk 

Rate from  
total 

credit  
risk 

Rate  
of  

change 

 

in NIS 
millions % 

in NIS 
millions % in % 

Industry 19,063  8.4  19,648  8.7  (3.0) 

Construction and real estate - construction 23,918  10.5  22,535  10.0  6.1  

Construction and real estate - real estate activity 19,257  8.5  19,511  8.7  (1.3) 

Commerce 26,241  11.6  26,650  11.8  (1.5) 

Financial services 20,816  9.2  21,063  9.4  (1.2) 

Private individuals - housing loans 28,634  12.6  27,761  12.3  3.1  

Private individuals - other 54,381  23.9  53,382  23.7  1.9  

Other sectors 34,797  15.3  34,649  15.4  0.4  

Total overall credit to the public risk 227,107  100.0  225,199  100.0  0.8  
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DEVELOPMENT OF PROBLEMATIC CREDIT RISK 

Overall credit risk and the rate of problematic credit risk in principal economic sectors 

 
March 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 

Economic Sectors 

Total  
credit  

risk 

Of which:  
Problematic  

credit risk 

Rate of 
problematic 

risk 

Total  
credit  

risk 

Of which:  
Problematic  

credit risk 

Rate of 
problematic 

risk 

 
in NIS millions % in NIS millions % 

Industry 19,063  651  3.4  19,648  657  3.3  

Construction and real estate - construction 23,918  445  1.9  22,535  483  2.1  

Construction and real estate - real estate activity 19,257  408  2.1  19,511  451  2.3  

Commerce 26,241  1,066  4.1  26,650  1,105  4.1  

Financial services 20,816  737  3.5  21,063  766  3.6  

Private individuals - housing loans 28,634  312  1.1  27,761  328  1.2  

Private individuals - other 54,381  448  0.8  53,382  441  0.8  

Other Sectors 34,797  1,091  3.1  34,649  1,340  3.9  

Total Public 227,107  5,158  2.3  225,199  5,571  2.5  

Banks 7,730  33  0.4  9,189  93  1.0  

Governments 25,602  -  -  26,575  -  -  

Total 260,439  5,191  2.0  260,963  5,664  2.2  

THE BALANCES OF THE ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

THE RISK CHARACTERIZATION OF THE CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC PORTFOLIO 

The distribution of expenses and the ratio of credit loss expenses in the different economic sectors in relation to the outstanding 

balance of credit to the public in those sectors 

 
For the three months ended March 31 

 
2017 2016 

 

Credit loss 
expense 

Rate of 
expense 

(expense 
reversal) 

Credit loss 
expense 

Rate of 
expense 

(expense 
reversal) 

sectors 
In NIS 

millions % 
In NIS 

millions % 

Agriculture 3  1.2  (4) (1.6) 

Mining & Quarrying 1  1.0  -  -  

Industry (18) (0.6) (32) (1.0) 

Construction and real estate - construction (18) (0.7) 6  0.4  

Construction and real estate - real estate activity 5  0.1  4  0.1  

Electricity and water 2  0.4  1  0.2  

Commerce 47  1.0  16  0.3  

Hotels, hotel services and food ⁽¹⁾-  ⁽¹⁾-  (9) (1.5) 

Transportation and storage (1) (0.1) 7  0.6  

Communications and computer services 38  7.1  2  0.4  

Financial services (1) (0.0) 15  0.7  

Other business services 6  0.5  6  0.5  

Public and community services 9  0.7  2  0.2  

Private Individuals - Housing Loans 4  0.1  4  0.1  

Private Individuals - Other 68  1.0  29  0.5  

Total Public 145  0.40  47  0.14  

Total Banks -  -  (1) -  

Total credit loss expenses 145  -  46  -  
Footnote: 

(1) Less than one NIS million. 

SECURITIES  
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COMPOSITION OF THE SECURITIES PORTFOLIO BY LINKAGE SEGMENTS 

Composition of the securities portfolio by linkage segments 

   

 

March 31, 
2017 

December 31, 
2016 Rate of 

change in % 
 

In NIS millions 

Non-linked shekels 16,414  16,705  (1.7) 

CPI-linked shekels 4,139  4,607  (10.2) 

Foreign currency and foreign currency-linked shekels 14,684  16,530  (11.2) 

Shares - non-monetary items 950  976  (2.7) 

Total 36,187  38,818  (6.8) 

COMPOSITION OF THE SECURITIES PORTFOLIO ACCORDING TO PORTFOLIO CLASSIFICATION 

Composition of investments in securities according to portfolio classification in accordance with directives of the Supervisor of Banks 

 
March 31,2017 December 31 ,2016 

 

Amortized 
Cost  (in 

shares-cost) Fair value 
Book 
value 

Amortized 
Cost  (in 

shares-cost) Fair value 
Book 
value 

 
in NIS millions 

Bonds 
      Held to maturity 5,898  6,179  5,898  6,267  6,559  6,267  

Available for sale 26,720  26,777  26,777  28,671  28,753  28,753  

Trading 2,563  2,562  2,562  2,827  2,822  2,822  

Shares 
      Available for sale 932  941  941  957  963  963  

Trading 10  9  9  13  13  13  

Total Securities 36,123  36,468  36,187  38,735  39,110  38,818  

INVESTMENTS IN MORTGAGE AND ASSET BACKED SECURITIES 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

DETAILS REGARDING IMPAIRMENT IN VALUE OF AVAILABLE FOR SALE SECURITIES 

CUSTOMER ASSETS 

Data on the composition of deposits from the public by linkage segments 

 
March 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 

 

 

In NIS 
millions 

% of total 
Deposits 
from the  

public 
In NIS 

millions 

% of total 
Deposits 
from the  

public 

Rate of 
change 

in % 

Non-linked shekels 111,196  64.8  108,345  62.9  2.6  

CPI-linked shekels 5,203  3.0  5,360  3.1  (2.9) 

Foreign currency and foreign currency-linked shekels 55,243  32.2  58,613  34.0  (5.7) 

Total 171,642  100.0  172,318  100.0  (0.4) 
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Review of developments in the balance of deposits from the public, by regulatory operating segments 

 

March 31, 
2017 

December 31, 
2016 

 

 
In NIS millions 

Change 
in % 

Domestic operations: 
   Households 67,941  67,496  0.7  

Private banking 15,450  16,221  (4.8) 

Small and minute businesses 27,128  27,729  (2.2) 

Medium businesses 6,369  6,982  (8.8) 

Large businesses 15,098  14,285  5.7  

Institutional bodies 14,960  13,185  13.5  

Total Domestic operations 146,946  145,898  0.7  

Total International operations 24,696  26,420  (6.5) 

Total deposits from the public 171,642  172,318  (0.4) 

CAPITAL AND CAPITAL ADEQUACY 

IMPLEMENTATION OF BASEL III IN ISRAEL 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

COMMON EQUITY TIER 1 GOAL 

COMPONENTS OF CAPITAL 
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COMPONENTS OF THE REGULATORY CAPITAL AS OF MARCH 31, 2017 

Components of the regulatory capital as of March 31, 2017 

 
March 31, 

December 
31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

1. Capital for Calculating ratio of capital 
   Common equity tier 1 after deductions 15,157  13,596  15,036  

Additional tier 1 capital after deductions 890  1,068  1,068  

Tier 1 capital 16,046  14,664  16,104  

Tier 2 capital 5,588  5,205  5,020  

Total capital 21,635  19,869  21,124  

2. Weighted risk assets balance 
   Credit risk ⁽²⁾139,360  128,497  ⁽²⁾137,393  

Market risk 3,127  3,129  2,483  

CVA risk 1,277  1,019  942  

Operational risk 12,135  12,192  12,072  

Total weighted risk assets balance 155,899  144,837  152,890  

3. Ratio of capital to risk assets 
   Ratio of common equity tier 1 to risk assets 9.7  9.4  9.8  

Ratio of total capital to risk assets 13.9  13.7  13.8  

Ratio of minimum capital required by the Supervisor of Banks 
   Ratio of common equity tier 1 ⁽¹⁾9.2  ⁽¹⁾9.1  ⁽¹⁾9.2  

Total capital ratio ⁽¹⁾12.7  ⁽¹⁾12.6  ⁽¹⁾12.7  

Footnotes: 

(1) With an addition of  0.17% (March 31, 2016: 0.08% ,December 31, 2016: 0.15%), in accordance with the additional capital requirements with respect to 
housing loans - see Note 9 (b) to the condensed financial statements. 

(2) The total weighted balances of the risk assets have been reduced by NIS 82 million (December 31,2016: NIS 64 million) due to adjustments in respect to the 
efficiency plan. 

RAISING OF RESOURCES 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE ACCORDING TO THE THIRD PILLAR OF BASEL 

DIVIDENDS DISTRIBUTION 

ACTIVITY OF THE GROUP ACCORDING TO PRINCIPAL SEGMENTS OF OPERATION 

- PRINCIPAL QUANTITATIVE DATA AND MAIN DEVELOPMENTS 

GENERAL 
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HOUSEHOLD SEGMENT (DOMESTIC OPERATIONS) 

SCALE OF OPERATIONS AND NET INCOME OF THE SEGMENT 

Principal data regarding the household segment (Domestic operations) 

 

For the three months 
ended March 31, 

For the year ended 
December 31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Total income 687  616  2,629  

Credit loss expenses 72  33  216  

Total Operating and other expenses 723  716  2,871  

Loss Attributed to the bank's shareholders (82) (116) (405) 

DEVELOPMENTS IN THE SEGMENT 

 

PRIVATE BANKING SEGMENT (DOMESTIC OPERATIONS) 

SCALE OF OPERATIONS AND NET INCOME OF THE SEGMENT 

Principal data regarding the Private Banking segment (Domestic operations) 

 

For the three months 
ended March 31, 

For the year ended 
December 31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Total income 30  34  112  

Credit loss expenses -  -  1  

Total Operating and other expenses 31  34  120  

Loss Attributed to the bank's shareholders (1) -  (8) 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

DEVELOPMENTS IN THE SEGMENT 

SMALL AND MINUTE BUSINESSES SEGMENT (DOMESTIC OPERATIONS) 

SCALE OF OPERATIONS AND NET INCOME OF THE SEGMENT 

Principal data regarding the Small and minute businesses segment (Domestic operations) 

 

For the three months 
ended March 31, 

For the year ended 
December 31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Total income 506  449  1,922  

Credit loss expenses 46  45  90  

Total Operating and other expenses 332  323  1,364  

Net Profit Attributed to the bank's shareholders 79  44  265  

MEDIUM BUSINESSES SEGMENT (DOMESTIC OPERATIONS) 

SCALE OF OPERATIONS AND NET INCOME OF THE SEGMENT 
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Principal data regarding the Medium businesses segment (Domestic operations) 

 

For the three months 
ended March 31, 

For the year ended 
December 31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Total income 102  110  439  

Credit loss expenses 6  21  46  

Total Operating and other expenses 59  67  289  

Net Profit Attributed to the bank's shareholders 23  12  58  

LARGE BUSINESSES SEGMENT (DOMESTIC OPERATIONS) 

SCALE OF OPERATIONS AND NET INCOME OF THE SEGMENT 

Principal data regarding the Large businesses segment (Domestic operations) 

 

For the three months 
ended March 31, 

For the year ended 
December 31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Total income 176  175  694  

Credit loss expenses reversal 3  (72) (40) 

Total Operating and other expenses 69  63  306  

Net Profit  Attributed to the bank's shareholders 65  120  268  

INSTITUTIONAL BODIES SEGMENT (DOMESTIC OPERATIONS) 

SCALE OF OPERATIONS AND NET INCOME OF THE SEGMENT 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

Principal data regarding the Institutional bodies segment (Domestic operations) 

 

For the three months 
ended March 31, 

For the year ended 
December 31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Total income 12  12  49  

Credit loss expenses -  -  30  

Total Operating and other expenses 18  17  75  

Loss Attributed to the bank's shareholders (5) (4) (38) 

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT SEGMENT (DOMESTIC OPERATIONS) 

SCALE OF OPERATIONS AND NET INCOME OF THE SEGMENT 

Principal data regarding the Financial management segment (Domestic operations) 

 

For the three months 
ended March 31, 

For the year ended 
December 31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Total income 341  180  1,182  

Total Operating and other expenses 66  54  255  

Net Profit  Attributed to the bank's shareholders 179  66  573  

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS SEGMENT 

SCALE OF OPERATIONS AND NET INCOME OF THE SEGMENT 
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Principal data regarding the International operations segment 

 

For the three months 
ended March 31, 

For the year ended 
December 31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Total income 226  255  969  

Credit loss expenses 18  19  126  

Total Operating and other expenses 134  143  534  

Net Profit Attributed to the bank's shareholders 45  57  192  

DEVELOPMENTS IN THE SEGMENT 

MAIN INVESTEE COMPANIES 

DISCOUNT BANCORP, INC. 

Discount Bancorp, Inc. – principal data 

 
In US$ millions 

 

Balance sheet items 
March 31, 

2017 
December 

31, 2016 Change in % 

Total assets 9,314  9,272  0.5  

Total credit 5,680  5,654  0.5  

Total deposits 7,380  7,329  0.7  

Total equity 892  891  0.1  

Ratio of total capital to risk assets 14.4%  14.2%  
     

Profit and loss statement items for the three mounts ended March 31 2017 2016 
 Net profit attributed to the shareholders 16  16  -  

Return on equity 7.4%  7.6%  
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

MERCANTILE DISCOUNT BANK LTD. 

Mercantile Discount Bank – principal data 

 
In NIS millions 

 

Balance sheet items 
March 31, 

2017 
December 

31, 2016 Change in % 

Total assets 32,568  32,164  1.3  

Total credit to the public, net 22,717  22,001  3.3  

Total deposits from the public 27,622  27,199  1.6  

Total equity 2,298  2,244  2.4  

Ratio of total capital to risk assets 13.4%  13.8%  -  
    

Profit and loss statement items for the three mounts ended March 31 2017 2016 
 Net profit attributed to the shareholders 41  45  (8.9) 

Return on equity 7.5%  8.8%  
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ISRAEL CREDIT CARDS LTD. 

Israel Credit Cards – principal data

 
In NIS millions 

 

Balance sheet items 
March 31, 

2017 
December 

31, 2016 Change in % 

Total assets 13,083  12,416  5.4  

Total equity 1,523  1,504  1.3  

Ratio of total capital to risk assets 15.4%  15.8%  
     

Profit and loss statement items for the three mounts ended March 31 2017 2016 
 Total Income 361  317  13.9  

Net profit attributed to the shareholders 50  46  8.7  

The contribution to the Bank's business results 34  30  13.3  

Return on equity 13.8%  15.7%  
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

DISCOUNT CAPITAL LTD. (FORMERLY KNOWN AS: ISRAEL DISCOUNT CAPITAL MARKETS 

AND INVESTMENTS LTD.) 

Discount Capital – principal data 

 
In NIS millions 

 

Balance sheet items 
March 31, 

2017 
December 

31, 2016 Change in % 

Total assets 1,349.2  1,288.3  4.7  

Total equity 552.8  494.3  11.8  
    

Profit and loss statement items for the first three mounts of 2017 2016 
 Net profit attributed to the shareholders 58.5  0.6   

The contribution to the Bank's business results⁽¹⁾ 49.7  5.0   
Footnote: 

 ⁽¹⁾ Differences between net income and the contribution to the Bank's results is derived from differences in the  implementation of generally accepted accounting 
principles 

 

CHAPTER "C" - RISKS REVIEW 

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE RISKS AND MANNER OF MANAGEMENT 

THEREOF 

RISK PROFILE OF THE DISCOUNT GROUP 

DISCLOSURES IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE THIRD PILLAR OF BASEL  
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CREDIT RISKS  

CREDIT RISKS AND THE MANNER OF MANAGEMENT THEREOF 

CREDIT QUALITY AND PROBLEMATIC CREDIT RISK 

Problematic credit risk and non performing assets 

 
March 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 

 
Credit Risk 

 

Balance 
Sheet 

Off-
Balance 

Sheet Total 
Balance 

Sheet 

Off-
Balance 

Sheet Total 

 
In NIS millions 

Problematic Credit Risk⁽¹⁾: 
      Impaired credit risk ⁽³⁾2,689  165  2,854  ⁽³⁾3,053  187  3,240  

Substandard credit risk⁽²⁾ 683  9  692  572  6  578  

Special mention credit risk⁽²⁾ 1,397  248  1,645  1,557  289  1,846  

Total Problematic Credit Risk 4,769  422  5,191  5,182  482  5,664  

Of which: Non impaired debts, in arrears for 90 days or more⁽²⁾ 409  
  

440  
  Non-performing assets: 

      Impaired debts - non accruing interest income 2,241  
  

2,504  
  Assets received in respect of credit settlement -  

  
2  

  Total Non-Performing Assets 2,241  
  

2,506  
  Footnotes: 

(1) Impaired credit, substandard credit and credit under special mention risks. 

(2) Including in respect of housing loans for which an allowance based on the extent of arrears exists and in respect of housing loans that are in arrears for 90 
days or more for which an allowance based on the extent of arrears does not exist. 

(3) Including non accruing corporate bonds in an amount of NIS 17 million, and non accruing bank bonds of NIS 32 million (December 31, 2016- non accruing 
corporate bonds in an amount of NIS 17 million, and non accruing bank bonds of NIS 93 million). 

Changes in balances of impaired debts 

 

Three months ended 
March 31 

 
2017 2016 

 
In NIS millions 

Change in impaired debts (In respect of credit to the public only): 
  Balance of impaired debts at the beginning of the year 2,943  2,944  

Debts classified as impaired during the period 138  98  

Debts no longer classified as impaired⁽¹⁾ (96) (8) 

Accounting write-offs (164) (57) 

Collections (175) (185) 

Other (6) 12  

Balance of impaired debts as of 2,640  2,804  

⁽¹⁾ Of which: due to consequent restructure -  -  
   

Changes in allowances for credit losses on impaired debts: 
  Balance of allowance for credit losses at the beginning of the year 389  463  

Increase in allowances 39  54  

Collections and write-offs (142) (33) 

Balance of allowance for credit losses as of 283  484  
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

Several financial ratios used to evaluate the quality of the credit portfolio 

 

March 31, 
2017 

March 31, 
2016 

December 
31, 2016 

Ratio of balance of impaired credit to the public to balance of credit to the public 1.8%  2.1%  2.1%  

Ratio of balance of non-impaired credit to the public, in arrears for 90 days or more, to balance of 
credit to the public 0.3%  0.3%  0.3%  

Ratio of balance of allowance for credit losses in respect of credit to the public, to balance of credit 
to the public 1.4%  1.6%  1.5%  

Ratio of balance of allowance for credit losses in respect of credit to the public to balance of impaired 
credit to the public 79.1%  73.8%  72.9%  

Ratio of problematic credit risk in respect of the public to the total credit risk in respect of the public 2.3%  2.5%  2.5%  

Ratio of credit loss expenses to the average balance of credit to the public (in annualized terms) 0.40%  0.14%  0.34%  

Ratio of net accounting write-offs in respect of credit to the public to the average balance of credit to 
the public (in annualized terms) 0.5%  0.1%  0.3%  

Ratio of net accounting write-offs in respect of credit to the public to the balance of allowance for 
credit losses in respect of credit to the public (in annualized terms) 37.0%  8.9%  18.1%  

The ratio of the balance of allowance for credit losses in respect of credit to the public, to the balance 
of impaired credit to the public together with the balance of credit to the public in arrears for 90 days 
and over 68.5%  64.7%  63.4%  

Ratio of the balance of impaired credit to the public together with the balance of credit to the public 
in arrears for 90 days and over, to balance of credit to the public  2.1%  2.4%  2.4% 

Total credit risk classified by economic sectors on a consolidated basis 

 
March 31, 2017 

 
Total Credit Risk⁽¹⁾ 

 
Debts⁽²⁾and off-balance sheet Credit Risk (excluding Derivatives)⁽³⁾ 

         
Credit Losses⁽⁴⁾ 

 
Total⁽⁹⁾ 

Credit 
Performance 

Rating⁽¹⁰⁾ Problematic⁽⁵⁾ 
 

Total 
Of which: 
Debts⁽²⁾⁽¹¹⁾ Problematic⁽⁵⁾ Impaired 

Periodic 
Credit 

Loss 
Expenses 

Net 
Accounting 
Write-Offs 

Recognized 
during the 

Period 

Balance of 
Allowance 
for Credit 

Losses 

 
in NIS millions 

Lending Activity in Israel 

Agriculture 1,471  1,388  16  
 

1,470  1,005  15  7  3  1  20  

Mining & Quarrying 1,223  1,215  1  
 

1,220  414  -  -  1  -  2  

Industry 13,764  12,753  461  
 

13,641  9,412  461  206  (14) (11) 248  
Construction and Real 
Estate - Construction ⁽⁶⁾23,732  23,059  411  

 
⁽⁶⁾23,696  10,050  411  195  (16) (5) 172  

Construction and Real 
Estate - Real Estate Activity 9,192  8,673  299  

 
9,106  8,018  299  260  (1) 1  92  

Electricity and Water 3,211  3,197  2  
 

2,654  1,823  1  1  -  -  5  

Commerce 19,341  17,488  820  
 

19,186  15,459  800  261  47  11  397  
Hotels, Hotel Services and 
Food 2,090  1,803  219  

 
2,073  1,779  219  193  -  (1) 16  

Transportation and Storage 5,541  5,353  45  
 

5,490  4,738  41  28  4  6  56  
Communication and 
Computer Services 2,713  2,189  480  

 
2,676  2,018  480  445  40  112  115  

Financial Services 10,356  9,667  649  
 

9,006  7,250  649  646  -  -  128  

Other Business Services 6,828  6,277  83  
 

6,823  4,931  83  43  10  8  67  
Public and Community 
Services 3,021  2,857  39  

 
3,017  2,156  39  13  3  1  16  

Total Commercial 102,483  95,919  3,525  
 
100,058  69,053  3,498  2,298  77  123  1,334  

Private Individuals - Housing 
Loans 28,474  27,588  309  

 
28,474  26,393  309  -  4  2  169  

Private Individuals - Other 52,451  49,738  447  
 

52,440  26,690  447  65  67  58  463  

Total Public 183,408  173,245  4,281  
 
180,972  122,136  4,254  2,363  148  183  1,966  

Banks in Israel 1,182  1,178  -  
 

732  557  -  -  -  -  -  

Israeli Government 24,207  24,207  -  
 

1,965  609  -  -  -  -  -  

Total Lending 
Activity in Israel 208,797  198,630  4,281  

 
183,669  123,302  4,254  2,363  148  183  1,966  

For footnotes see next page. 
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Total credit risk classified by economic sectors on a consolidated basis (continued) 

 
March 31, 2017 

 

Total Credit Risk⁽¹⁾ 
 

Debts⁽²⁾and off-balance sheet Credit Risk (excluding Derivatives)⁽³⁾ 

         

Credit Losses⁽⁴⁾ 

 
Total⁽⁹⁾ 

Credit 
Performance 

Rating⁽¹⁰⁾ Problematic⁽⁵⁾ 
 

Total 
Of which: 
Debts⁽²⁾⁽¹¹⁾ Problematic⁽⁵⁾ Impaired 

Periodic 
Credit 

Loss 
Expenses 

Net 
Accounting 
Write-Offs 

Recognized 
during the 

Period 

Balance of 
Allowance 
for Credit 

Losses 

 
in NIS millions 

Lending Activity Outside of Israel 

Agriculture 30  30  -  
 

30  30  -  -  -  -  -  

Mining & Quarrying 216  216  -  
 

116  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Industry 5,299  4,971  190  
 

4,999  2,647  190  23  (4) 4  40  
Construction and Real 
Estate - Construction 186  149  34  

 
186  153  34  34  (2) (1) 5  

Construction and Real 
Estate - Real Estate Activity 10,065  9,664  109  

 
10,009  7,770  109  49  6  (3) 120  

Electricity and Water 476  466  10  
 

192  133  10  -  2  -  2  

Commerce 6,900  6,464  246  
 

6,896  4,244  246  207  -  (1) 53  
Hotels, Hotel Services and 
Food 1,213  1,161  52  

 
1,210  1,160  52  -  -  -  13  

Transportation and Storage 1,084  1,019  63  
 

1,020  997  51  12  (5) -  10  
Communication and 
Computer Services 547  526  21  

 
193  128  21  20  (2) 3  11  

Financial Services 10,460  10,364  88  
 

2,436  1,590  88  71  (1) -  19  
Of which: Federal agencies 
in the U.S. ⁽⁷⁾ 7,752  7,752  -  

 
-  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Other Business Services 575  575  -  
 

571  314    -  (4) -  4  
Public and Community 
Services⁽⁸⁾ 4,558  4,405  60  

 
3,043  2,745  60  25  6  8  17  

Total Commercial 41,609  40,010  873  
 

30,901  21,911  861  441  (4) 10  294  
Private Individuals - Housing 
Loans 160  152  3  

 
160  154  3  -  -  -  1  

Private Individuals - Other 1,930  1,927  1  
 

1,928  1,347  -  -  1  -  15  

Total Public 43,699  42,089  877  
 

32,989  23,412  864  441  (3) 10  310  

Banks Outside of Israel 6,548  6,516  33  
 

4,175  3,981  -  -  -  -  -  

Governments Outside of Israel 1,395  1,395  -  
 

186  186  -  -  -  -  -  

Total Lending 
Activity Outside of 
Israel 51,642  50,000  910  

 
37,350  27,579  864  441  (3) 10  310  

TOTAL 260,439  248,630  5,191  
 
221,019  150,881  5,118  2,804  145  193  2,276  

Footnotes: 
(1) Balance Sheet and Off-Balance Sheet Credit Risk, including in respect of derivative instruments. Including: Debts⁽²⁾, bonds, securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements, 

assets in respect of derivative instruments, and credit risk in respect of off-balance sheet financial instruments, as calculated for single borrower liability limitation, guarantees and 
liabilities on account of clients in an amount of NIS 150,881, 35,237, 369, 3,034, 70,918 million, respectively. 

(2) Credit to the Public, Credit to Governments, deposits with banks and other debts, excluding investments in bonds and securities borrowed or purchased under resale and assets in 
respect of the "MAOF" market activity agreements. 

(3) Credit risk in respect of off-balance sheet financial instruments, as calculated for single borrower liability limitation, excluding in respect of derivative instruments. 
(4) Including in respect of off-balance sheet credit instruments (stated in the balance sheet under "Other liabilities"). 
(5) Balance sheet and off-balance sheet credit risk, which is impaired, substandard or under special mention, including in respect of housing loans, in respect of which an allowance is made 

according to the extent of arrears, and housing loans in respect of which no allowance is made according to the extent of arrears, and are in arrears of 90 days or more. 
(6) Including acquisition groups in an amount of NIS 189 millions. 
(7) Including mortgage backed securities in the amount of NIS 6,017 millions, issued by GNMA and in the amount of NIS 1,735 millions, issued by FNMA and FHLMC. 
(8) Including mainly municipal bonds and bonds of states in the U.S. 
(9) Including credit facilities guaranteed by banks outside the Group in the amount of NIS 5,267 million. 
(10) Credit risk,the credit rating thereof at date of reporting matches the credit rating for the granting of new credit in accordance with the Bank's policy of the Bank. 
(11) The balance of commercial debts includes housing loans in the amount of NIS 258 million, which are combined in the layout of transactions and collateral of commercial borrowers' 

business, or which were granted to acquisition groups, the projects being built by them are in the course of construction. 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

Total credit risk classified by economic sectors on a consolidated basis (continued) 

 
March 31, 2016 

 
Total Credit Risk⁽¹⁾ 

 
Debts⁽²⁾and off-balance sheet Credit Risk (excluding Derivatives)⁽³⁾ 

         
Credit Losses⁽⁴⁾ 

 
Total'⁽⁹⁾ 

Credit 
Performance 

Rating⁽¹⁰⁾ Problematic⁽⁵⁾ 
 

Total 
Of which: 
Debts⁽²⁾⁽¹¹⁾ Problematic⁽⁵⁾ Impaired 

Periodic 
Credit 

Loss 
Expenses 

Net 
Accounting 
Write-Offs 

Recognized 
during the 

Period 

Balance of 
Allowance 
for Credit 

Losses 

 
in NIS millions 

Lending Activity in Israel 

Agriculture 1,420  1,383  13  
 

1,419  968  13  7  (4) (1) 19  

Mining & Quarrying 553  431  1  
 

553  368  -  -  -  -  1  

Industry 14,106  12,535  442  
 

13,973  9,248  443  283  (31) (34) 225  
Construction and Real 
Estate - Construction ⁽⁶⁾16,586  15,940  436  

 
⁽⁶⁾16,572  6,452  436  141  6  1  134  

Construction and Real 
Estate - Real Estate Activity 11,679  10,784  607  

 
11,591  9,677  574  264  (3) 5  150  

Electricity and Water 3,363  3,232  90  
 

2,937  1,973  89  9  1  -  5  

Commerce 17,577  16,450  682  
 

17,456  13,958  683  543  (1) 6  391  
Hotels, Hotel Services and 
Food 1,843  1,488  226  

 
1,826  1,532  227  187  1  1  17  

Transportation and Storage 4,602  4,384  94  
 

4,518  3,725  89  54  6  (1) 73  
Communication and 
Computer Services 3,051  2,190  792  

 
2,973  1,672  792  686  2  1  179  

Financial Services 9,436  9,019  114  
 

8,205  6,509  113  110  13  -  108  

Other Business Services 6,134  5,878  77  
 

6,125  4,183  77  44  (5) -  54  
Public and Community 
Services 2,624  2,532  21  

 
2,622  1,917  21  4  2  1  9  

Total Commercial 92,974  86,246  3,595  
 

90,770  62,182  3,557  2,332  (13) (21) 1,365  
Private Individuals - Housing 
Loans 24,341  23,734  336  

 
24,341  22,335  336  -  4  9  170  

Private Individuals - Other 46,795  46,182  338  
 

46,780  23,019  337  60  29  24  398  

Total Public 164,110  156,162  4,269  
 
161,891  107,536  4,230  2,392  20  12  1,933  

Banks in Israel 1,771  1,771  -  
 

1,190  824  -  -  -  -  1  

Israeli Government 24,053  24,053  -  
 

1,760  510  -  -  -  -  -  

Total Lending 
Activity in Israel 189,934  181,986  4,269  

 
164,841  108,870  4,230  2,392  20  12  1,934  

For footnotes see next page. 
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Total credit risk classified by economic sectors on a consolidated basis (continued) 

 
March 31, 2016 

 
Total Credit Risk⁽¹⁾ 

 
Debts⁽²⁾and off-balance sheet Credit Risk (excluding Derivatives)⁽³⁾ 

         
Credit Losses⁽⁴⁾ 

 
Total'⁽⁹⁾ 

Credit 
Performance 

Rating⁽¹⁰⁾ Problematic⁽⁵⁾ 
 

Total 
Of which: 
Debts⁽²⁾⁽¹¹⁾ Problematic⁽⁵⁾ Impaired 

Periodic 
Credit 

Loss 
Expenses 

Net 
Accounting 
Write-Offs 

Recognized 
during the 

Period 

Balance of 
Allowance 
for Credit 

Losses 

 
in NIS millions 

Lending Activity Outside of Israel 

Agriculture 32  32  -  
 

32  32  -  -  -  -  -  

Mining & Quarrying 340  312  -  
 

112  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Industry 5,900  5,486  ⁽¹²⁾114  
 

5,321  2,966  113  28  (1) -  38  
Construction and Real 
Estate - Construction 125  125  -  

 
125  75    -  -  -  1  

Construction and Real 
Estate - Real Estate Activity 9,868  9,268  ⁽¹²⁾291  

 
9,760  7,946  311  247  7  -  110  

Electricity and Water 108  97  -  
 

64  42  -  -  -  -  -  

Commerce 7,337  7,153  155  
 

7,233  4,766  155  37  17  30  54  
Hotels, Hotel Services and 
Food 920  880  39  

 
920  867  39  39  (10) 4  6  

Transportation and Storage 1,050  1,023  18  
 

1,037  801  5  5  1  -  8  
Communication and 
Computer Services 878  837  26  

 
397  300  26  26  -  -  23  

Financial Services 11,203  11,098  87  
 

2,676  1,610  88  85  2  -  24  
Of which: Federal agencies 
in the U.S. ⁽⁷⁾ 7,976  7,976  -  

 
-  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Other Business Services 479  478  -  
 

470  233    -  11  -  14  
Public and Community 
Services⁽⁸⁾ ⁽⁸⁾4,771  4,692  -  

 
2,878  2,584  -  -  -  -  24  

Total Commercial 43,011  41,481  730  
 

31,025  22,222  737  467  27  34  302  
Private Individuals - Housing 
Loans 153  144  4  

 
153  147  4  -  -  -  1  

Private Individuals - Other 2,217  2,217  -  
 

2,214  1,367  -  -  -  -  14  

Total Public 45,381  43,842  734  
 

33,392  23,736  741  467  27  34  317  

Banks Outside of Israel 8,404  8,390  ⁽¹²⁾94  
 

4,817  4,617  -  -  (1) -  1  
Governments Outside of 
Israel 1,132  1,132  ⁽¹²⁾-  

 
14  14  -  -  -  -  -  

Total Lending 
Activity Outside of 
Israel 54,917  53,364  828  

 
38,223  28,367  741  467  26  34  318  

TOTAL 244,851  235,350  5,097  
 
203,064  137,237  4,971  2,859  46  46  2,252  

Footnotes: 

(1) Balance Sheet and Off-Balance Sheet Credit Risk, including in respect of derivative instruments. Including: Debts, bonds, securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements, 
assets in respect of derivative instruments, and credit risk in respect of off-balance sheet financial instruments, as calculated for single borrower liability limitation, guarantees and 
liabilities on account of clients in an amount of NIS 137,237, 37,183, 183, 3,761, 66,826 million, respectively. 

(2) Credit to the Public, Credit to Governments, deposits with banks and other debts, excluding investments in bonds and securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements. 
(3) Credit risk in respect of off-balance sheet financial instruments, as calculated for single borrower liability limitation, excluding in respect of derivative instruments. 
(4) Including in respect of off-balance sheet credit instruments (stated in the balance sheet under "Other liabilities"). 
(5) Balance sheet and off-balance sheet credit risk, which is impaired, substandard or under special mention, including in respect of housing loans, in respect of which an allowance is made 

according to the extent of arrears, and housing loans in respect of which no allowance is made according to the extent of arrears, and are in arrears of 90 days or more. 
(6) Including acquisition groups in an amount of NIS 316 millions. 
(7) Including mortgage backed securities in the amount of NIS 5,628 millions, issued by GNMA and in the amount of NIS 2,348 millions, issued by FNMA and FHLMC. 
(8) Including mainly municipal bonds and bonds of states in the U.S. 
(9) Including credit facilities guaranteed by banks outside the Group in the amount of NIS 5,100 million. 
(10) Credit risk, the credit rating thereof at date of reporting matches the credit rating for the granting of new credit in accordance with the Bank's policy of the Bank. 
(11) The balance of commercial debts includes housing loans in the amount of NIS 248 million, which are combined in the layout of transactions and collateral of commercial borrowers' 

business, or which were granted to acquisition groups, the projects being built by them are in the course of construction. 
(12) Following the adjustment of the treatment of bonds to the treatment of problematic debts in general, as of July 1, 2016, bonds were eliminated from the balance in which they had been 

included in the past (in the amounts of NIS 82 million, NIS 127 million, NIS 28 million, respectively; see "Securities" above). 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

Total credit risk classified by economic sectors on a consolidated basis (continued) 

 
December 31, 2016 

 
Total Credit Risk⁽¹⁾ 

 
Debts⁽²⁾and off-balance sheet Credit Risk (excluding Derivatives)⁽³⁾ 

         
Credit Losses⁽⁴⁾ 

 
Total⁽⁹⁾ 

Credit 
Performance 

Rating⁽¹⁰⁾ Problematic⁽⁵⁾ 
 

Total 

Of 
which: 

Debts⁽²⁾⁽¹¹⁾ Problematic⁽⁵⁾ Impaired 

Periodic 
Credit 

Loss 
Expenses 

Net 
Accounting 
Write-Offs 

Recognized 
during the 

Period 

Balance 
of 

allowance 
for credit 

loss 

 
in NIS millions 

Lending Activity in Israel 

Agriculture 1,462  1,413  13  
 

1,461  1,001  13  6  (2) 1  19  

Mining & 
Quarrying 734  726  1  

 
734  433  1  -  (3) (3) 1  

Industry 13,608  12,957  482  
 

13,481  8,911  482  228  (12) (36) 249  

Construction and 
Real Estate - 
Construction ⁽⁶⁾22,308  21,632  438  

 
⁽⁶⁾22,283  9,122  438  210  (4) (28) 185  

Construction and 
Real Estate - 
Real Estate 
Activity 9,554  9,182  302  

 
9,460  8,081  302  268  (90) (55) 94  

Electricity and 
Water 3,180  3,171  1  

 
2,709  1,834  -  -  -  -  5  

Commerce 19,105  17,788  869  
 

18,982  15,388  848  263  164  191  358  

Hotels, Hotel 
Services and 
Food 1,868  1,538  257  

 
1,853  1,549  257  171  1  7  17  

Transportation 
and Storage 5,573  5,464  51  

 
5,543  4,709  47  34  6  12  61  

Communication 
and Computer 
Services 2,910  2,225  624  

 
2,887  2,179  624  582  58  46  187  

Financial 
Services 9,630  8,291  671  

 
8,662  6,904  671  667  27  (6) 127  

Other Business 
Services 6,381  5,935  101  

 
6,368  4,495  101  57  19  13  64  

Public and 
Community 
Services 2,920  2,814  31  

 
2,917  2,051  31  13  12  6  14  

Total 
Commercial 99,233  93,136  3,841  

 
97,340  66,657  3,815  2,499  176  148  1,381  

Private 
Individuals - 
Housing Loans 27,601  26,625  320  

 
27,601  25,610  320  -  8  16  167  

Private 
Individuals - 
Other 51,275  48,921  440  

 
51,266  25,895  440  61  207  146  454  

Total Public 178,109 168,682 4,601 
 
176,207 118,162 4,575 2,560 391 310 2,002 

Banks in Israel 1,207  1,205  -  
 

374  130  -  -  (1) -  -  

Israeli 
Government 24,962  24,962  -  

 
2,106  618  -  -  -  -  -  

Total Lending 
Activity in 
Israel 204,278 194,849 4,601 

 
178,687 118,910 4,575 2,560 390 310 2,002 

For footnotes see next page. 
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Total credit risk classified by economic sectors on a consolidated basis (continued) 

 

December 31, 2016 

 

Total Credit Risk⁽¹⁾ 
 

Debts⁽²⁾and off-balance sheet Credit Risk (excluding Derivatives)⁽³⁾ 

         

Credit Losses⁽⁴⁾ 

 
Total⁽⁹⁾ 

Credit 
Performance 

Rating⁽¹⁰⁾ Problematic⁽⁵⁾ 
 

Total 
Of which: 
Debts⁽²⁾⁽¹¹⁾ Problematic⁽⁵⁾ Impaired 

Periodic 
Credit 

Loss 
Expenses 

Net 
Accounting 
Write-Offs 

Recognized 
during the 

Period 

Balance 
of 

allowance 
for credit 

loss 

 
in NIS millions 

Lending Activity Outside of Israel 

Agriculture 32  32  -  
 

32  32  -  -  -  -  -  

Mining & Quarrying 331  331  -  
 

111  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Industry 6,040  5,774  175  
 

5,352  2,815  175  16  47  36  51  

Construction and Real 
Estate - Construction 227  176  45  

 
227  171  45  45  4  -  5  

Construction and Real 
Estate - Real Estate 
Activity 9,957  9,592  149  

 
9,893  8,011  149  83  (13) (25) 117  

Electricity and Water 523  513  10  
 

204  27  10  -  -  -  -  

Commerce 7,545  7,171  236  
 

7,541  4,692  236  230  19  32  56  

Hotels, Hotel Services 
and Food 1,270  1,169  101  

 
1,270  1,217  101  46  19  23  13  

Transportation and 
Storage 1,116  1,050  66  

 
1,041  1,017  52  13  6  -  13  

Communication and 
Computer Services 834  808  26  

 
204  138  26  26  (8) -  16  

Financial Services 11,433  11,331  95  
 

2,735  1,707  95  75  8  10  21  

Of which: Federal 
agencies in the U.S.⁽⁷⁾ 8,117  8,117  -  

 
-  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Other Business Services 740  719  22  
 

733  485  22  -  1  -  8  

Public and Community 
Services⁽⁸⁾ 4,775  4,680  36  

 
3,152  2,831  36  36  (4) -  21  

Total Commercial 44,823  43,346  961  
 

32,495  23,143  947  570  79  76  321  

Private Individuals - 
Housing Loans 160  149  8  

 
160  154  8  -  -  -  1  

Private Individuals - 
Other 2,107  2,104  1  

 
2,102  1,445  -  -  2  1  15  

Total Public 47,090  45,599  970  
 

34,757  24,742  955  570  81  77  337  

Banks Outside of Israel 7,982  7,890  93  
 

5,218  4,960  -  -  (2) -  -  

Governments Outside of 
Israel 1,613  1,613  -  

 
119  119  -  -  -  -  -  

Total Lending 
Activity Outside of 
Israel 56,685  55,102  1,063  

 
40,094  29,821  955  570  79  77  337  

TOTAL 260,963  249,951  5,664  
 
218,781  148,731  5,530  3,130  469  387  2,339  

Footnotes: 
(1) Balance Sheet and Off-Balance Sheet Credit Risk, including in respect of derivative instruments. Including: Debts⁽²⁾, bonds, securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements, 

assets in respect of derivative instruments, and credit risk in respect of off-balance sheet financial instruments, as calculated for single borrower liability limitation, guarantees and 
liabilities on account of clients in an amount of NIS 148,731, 37,842, 440, 3,283, 70,667 million, respectively. 

(2) Credit to the Public, Credit to Governments, deposits with banks and other debts, excluding investments in bonds and securities borrowed or purchased under resale and assets in 
respect of the "MAOF" market activity agreements. 

(3) Credit risk in respect of off-balance sheet financial instruments, as calculated for single borrower liability limitation, excluding in respect of derivative instruments. 
(4) Including in respect of off-balance sheet credit instruments (stated in the balance sheet under "Other liabilities"). 
(5) Balance sheet and off-balance sheet credit risk, which is impaired, substandard or under special mention, including in respect of housing loans, in respect of which an allowance is made 

according to the extent of arrears, and housing loans in respect of which no allowance is made according to the extent of arrears, and are in arrears of 90 days or more. 
(6) Including acquisition groups in an amount of NIS 249 millions. 
(7) Including mortgage backed securities in the amount of NIS 6,164 millions, issued by GNMA and in the amount of NIS 1,953 millions, issued by FNMA and FHLMC. 
(8) Including mainly municipal bonds and bonds of states in the U.S. 
(9) Including credit facilities guaranteed by banks outside the Group in the amount of NIS 5,298 million. 
(10) Credit risk, the credit rating thereof at date of reporting matches the credit rating for the granting of new credit in accordance with the Bank's policy of the Bank. 
(11) The balance of commercial debts includes housing loans in the amount of NIS 266 million, which are combined in the layout of transactions and collateral of commercial borrowers' 

business, or which were granted to acquisition groups, the projects being built by them are in the course of construction. 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN COUNTRIES - CONSOLIDATED 

A. INFORMATION REGARDING THE TOTAL EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN COUNTRIES AND TO COUNTRIES 

WHERE THE TOTAL EXPOSURE TO EACH COUNTRY AMOUNTS TO OVER 1% OF TOTAL CONSOLIDATED 

ASSETS OR OVER 20% OF CAPITAL, THE LOWER OF THE TWO(1)  

 
March 31, 2017 

 

 
Balance sheet exposure⁽²⁾ 

 

 
Across the border balance sheet exposure 

 

The Country To governments⁽⁴⁾ To banks To others 
 

 
In NIS millions 

 United States 388  1,362  773  
 United Kingdom -  1,692  608  
 PIIGS⁽⁵⁾ -  3  6  
 Other 304  2,375  1,865  
 Total exposure to foreign countries 692  5,432  3,252  
 Of which - Total exposure to LDC countries 36  167  491  
 Notes: 

(1) Based on the final risk, net of the effect of guarantees, liquid collateral and credit derivatives. 

(2) Balance sheet and off-balance sheet credit risk, Problematic credit risk and impaired debts are presented before the impact of the allowance for credit losses 
and before the impact of collateral that are deductible for the purpose of a borrower or a group of borrowers liability. 

(3) Credit risk of off-balance sheet financial instruments as computed for the purpose of borrower indebtedness limitations. 

(4) Governments, official institutions and central banks. 

(5) Portugal, Ireland, Italy, Greece and Spain. 

(6) Reclassified – the presentation of the transfer of credit risk to a consortium of international insurers, in the following countries: Switzerland – an amount of NIS 
3,251 million; and Germany – an amount of NIS 2,499 million, see above "Large business segment (domestic operations)". 

B. INFORMATION REGARDING COUNTRIES THE AMOUNT OF EXPOSURE IN RESPECT OF EACH AMOUNTS 

TO BETWEEN 0.75% AND 1% OF TOTAL CONSOLIDATED ASSETS OR BETWEEN 15% AND 20% OF CAPITAL, 

WHICHEVER IS LOWER.  

C. INFORMATION REGARDING BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN COUNTRIES HAVING LIQUIDITY 

PROBLEMS, FOR THE PERIOD OF THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2017 

1. Information regarding balance-sheet exposure to foreign countries  

2. Information regarding balance-sheet exposures that have undergone restructuring 

 



FIRST QUARTER OF 2017 Board of Directors and Management Report 

 

 

 

 

 

47 

 
March 31, 2017 

 
Balance sheet exposure⁽²⁾ 

  

Off-balance sheet 
exposure⁽²⁾⁽³⁾ 

   

 

Balance sheet exposure to local resident 
customers of extensions of the banking 

corporation in a foreign country 
       

Across the border balance 
sheet exposure⁽²⁾ 

 

Balance 
sheet 

exposure 
before 

deduction 
of local 

liabilities 

Deduction 
in respect 

of local 
liabilities 

Net balance sheet 
exposure after 

deduction of local 
liabilities 

Total 
balance 
sheet 
exposure 

Balance 
sheet 

problematic 
credit risk 

Impaired 
debts 

 

Total off-
balance 

sheet 
exposure 

Of which 
off-balance 

sheet 
problematic 

credit risk 
 

Due up to 
one year 

Due over 
one year 

 
In NIS millions 

 
31,857  21,454  10,403  12,926  664  272  

 
8,201  62  

 
1,468  1,055  

 
-  -  -  2,300  32  32  

 
112  -  

 
1,644  656  

 
-  -  -  9  -  -  

 
4  -  

 
5  4  

 
98  98  -  4,544  52  47  

 
⁽⁶⁾6,552  -  

 
2,418  2,126  

 
31,955  21,552  10,403  19,779  748  351  

 
14,869  62  

 
5,535  3,841  

 
-  -  -  694  1  -  

 
178  -  

 
505  189  

 The item “Total LDC countries” includes the total exposure to countries defined as less developed countries (LDC) in Proper Banking Management 
Directive No. 315 regarding “Supplementary provision for doubtful debts”. 

 Balance sheet exposure to a foreign country includes across the border balance sheet exposure and balance sheet exposure of overseas extensions of the 
banking corporation to local resident customers; across the border balance sheet exposure includes balance sheet exposure of the banking corporation 
offices in Israel to residents of a foreign country and the balance sheet exposure of the overseas extensions of the banking corporation to customers who 
are not residents of the country in which the extension is located. 

 Balance sheet exposure of extensions of the banking corporations in a foreign country to local resident customers includes the balance sheet exposure of 
extensions of the banking corporation in that foreign country to residents of that country, net of the extensions liabilities (the deduction is performed up to 
the exposure amount). 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN COUNTRIES - CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

D. INFORMATION REGARDING THE TOTAL EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN COUNTRIES AND TO COUNTRIES 

WHERE THE TOTAL EXPOSURE TO EACH COUNTRY AMOUNTS TO OVER 1% OF TOTAL CONSOLIDATED 

ASSETS OR OVER 20% OF THE BANK'S CAPITAL, THE LOWER OF THE TWO(1)  

 
March 31, 2016 

 

 
Balance sheet exposure⁽²⁾ 

 

 
Across the border balance sheet exposure 

 

The Country To governments⁽⁴⁾ To banks To others 
 

 
In NIS millions 

 United States 403  1,760  1,280  
 United Kingdom -  2,581  382  
 PIIGS⁽⁵⁾ -  10  10  
 Other 419  3,222  2,253  
 Total exposure to foreign countries 822  7,573  3,925  
 Of which - Total exposure to LDC countries 152  199  377  
 

 
December 31, 2016 

 

 
Balance sheet exposure⁽²⁾ 

 

 
Across the border balance sheet exposure 

 

The Country To governments⁽⁴⁾ To banks To others 
 

 
In NIS millions 

 United States 487  1,642  1,151  
 United Kingdom -  2,146  680  
 PIIGS⁽⁵⁾ -  4  8  
 Other 433  3,254  2,772  
 Total exposure to foreign countries 920  7,046  4,611  
 Of which - Total exposure to LDC countries 129  119  501  
 Notes: 

(1) Based on the final risk, net of the effect of guarantees, liquid collateral and credit derivatives. 

(2) Balance sheet and off-balance sheet credit risk, commercial criticized exposure and impaired debts are presented before the impact of the allowance for credit 
losses and before the impact of collaterals that are deductible for the purpose of a borrower or a group of borrowers liability. 

(3) Credit risk of off-balance sheet financial instruments as computed for the purpose of borrower indebtedness limitations. 

(4) Governments, official institutions and central banks. 

(5) Portugal, Ireland, Italy, Greece and Spain. 

(6) Reclassified – the presentation of the transfer of credit risk to a consortium of international insurers, as of March 31, 2016 in the following countries: 
Switzerland – an amount of NIS 1,401 million; and Germany – an amount of NIS 1,236 million. 

(7) Reclassification – The reclassification of certain balances following a re-examination of the final risk of the exposures. 

(8) Reclassified - following classification in a subsidiary. 
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March 31, 2016 

 
Balance sheet exposure⁽²⁾ 

 

Off-balance sheet 
exposure⁽²⁾⁽³⁾ 

  

 

Balance sheet exposure to local resident 
customers of extensions of a banking 

corporation in a foreign country 
    

Across the border 
balance sheet exposure⁽²⁾ 

 

Balance 
sheet 

exposure 
before 

deduction 
of local 

liabilities 

Deduction 
in respect 

of local 
liabilities 

Net balance sheet 
exposure after 

deduction of local 
liabilities 

Total 
balance 
sheet 
exposure 

Balance 
sheet 

commercial 
criticized 
exposure 

Impaired 
debts 

Total off-
balance 

sheet 
exposure 

Of which 
off-balance 

sheet 
commercial 

criticized 
exposure 

Due up to 
one year⁽⁸⁾ 

Due over 
one year⁽⁸⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

 
32,997  21,098  11,899  15,342  396  197  ⁽⁷⁾8,598  12  1,584  1,859  

 
-  -  -  2,963  101  100  ⁽⁷⁾143  -  2,321  642  

 
-  -  -  20  -  -  11  -  12  8  

 
230  223  7  5,901  63  56  ⁽⁶⁾3,043  3  3,246  2,648  

 
33,227  21,321  11,906  24,226  560  353  11,795  15  7,163  5,157  

 
-  -  -  728  7  -  175  -  280  448  

 
December 31, 2016 

 
Balance sheet exposure⁽²⁾ 

 

Off-balance sheet 
exposure⁽²⁾⁽³⁾ 

  

 

Balance sheet exposure to local resident 
customers of extensions of the banking 

corporation in a foreign country 
     

Across the border 
balance sheet exposure⁽²⁾ 

 

Balance 
sheet 

exposure 
before 

deduction 
of local 

liabilities 

Deduction 
in respect 

of local 
liabilities 

Net balance sheet 
exposure after 

deduction of local 
liabilities 

Total 
balance 
sheet 
exposure 

Balance 
sheet 

problematic 
credit risk 

Impaired 
debts 

Total off-
balance 

sheet 
exposure 

Of which 
off-balance 

sheet 
problematic 

credit risk 
Due up to 
one year 

Due over 
one year 

 
In NIS millions 

 
33,398  22,902  10,496  13,776  677  335  9,145  77  1,419  1,861  

 
-  -  -  2,826  74  74  156  -  1,996  830  

 
-  -  -  12  -  -  8  -  6  6  

 
102  102  -  6,459  55  50  7,056  2  3,799  2,660  

 
33,500  23,004  10,496  23,073  806  459  16,365  79  7,220  5,357  

 
-  -  -  749  2  -  325  -  421  328  

 The item “Total LDC countries” includes the total exposure to countries defined as less developed countries (LDC) in Proper Banking Management Directive 
No. 315 regarding “Supplementary provision for doubtful debts”. 

 Balance sheet exposure to a foreign country includes across the border balance sheet exposure and balance sheet exposure of overseas extensions of the 
banking corporation to local resident customers; across the border balance sheet exposure includes balance sheet exposure of the banking corporation offices in 
Israel to residents of a foreign country and the balance sheet exposure of the overseas extensions of the banking corporation to customers who are not 
residents of the country in which the extension is located. 

 Balance sheet exposure of extensions of the banking corporations in a foreign country to local resident customers includes the balance sheet exposure of 
extensions of the banking corporation in that foreign country to residents of that country, net of the extensions liabilities (the deduction is performed up to the 
exposure amount) 
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B. INFORMATION REGARDING COUNTRIES THE OVERALL EXPOSURE IN RESPECT OF EACH AMOUNTS TO 

BETWEEN 0.75% AND 1% OF TOTAL CONSOLIDATED ASSETS OR BETWEEN 15% AND 20% OF CAPITAL, 

WHICHEVER IS LOWER.  

C. INFORMATION REGARDING THE BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN COUNTRIES HAVING 

LIQUIDITY TROUBLES FOR THE PERIOD OF THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2016 AND FOR THE YEAR 

ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 

1. Information regarding balance-sheet exposure to foreign countries 

2. Information regarding balance-sheet exposures that have undergone restructuring 

 

CREDIT EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 
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Details of present credit exposure to foreign financial institutions on a consolidated basis 

 

Balance sheet 
credit risk⁽²⁾⁽⁴⁾⁽⁵⁾ 

Present off 
balance sheet 
credit risk⁽³⁾⁽⁴⁾ 

Present 
credit 

exposure⁽⁴⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

 
As of March 31, 2017 

Present credit exposure to foreign financial institutions(1)(6) 
   External credit rating⁽⁷⁾ 
   AAA to AA- 1,976  592  2,568  

A+ to A- 2,563  487  3,050  

BBB+ to BBB- 168  14  182  

BB+ to B- 20  12  32  

Not rated⁽⁸⁾ 101  76  177  

Total present credit exposure to foreign financial institutions 4,828  1,181  6,009  

Balance of problematic bonds 32  -  32  

    
 

As of December 31, 2016 

Present credit exposure to foreign financial institutions(1)(6 
   External credit rating⁽⁷⁾ 
   AAA to AA- 2,904  920  3,824  

A+ to A- 3,227  257  3,484  

BBB+ to BBB- 288  -  288  

BB+ to B- 22  12  34  

Not rated⁽⁸⁾ 58  86  144  

Total present credit exposure to foreign financial institutions 6,499  1,275  7,774  

Balance of problematic bonds 93  -  93  

Notes: 

(1) Foreign financial institutions include: banks, investment banks, brokers/dealers, insurance companies, institutional entities and entities controlled by the said 
entities. 

(2) Deposits with banks, credit to the public, investment in bonds, securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements and other assets in respect of 
derivative instruments. 

(3) Mainly guarantees, including guarantees securing third party indebtedness. 

(4) Credit exposures and problematic credit risk are presented before the effect of allowance for credit losses and before deductions as defined in Section 5 of 
Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No. 313. 

(5) For further information regarding the composition of the credit exposure reflected in the table showing derivative instruments in relation to 
banks/dealers/brokers, see Note 11 to the condensed financial statements. 

(6) Credit exposure does not include exposure to financial institutions that have explicit and full government guarantees, and does not include investment in assets 
backed securities (for additional details regarding assets backed securities, see Note 5 to the condensed financial statements). 

(7) According to Moody's rating, and in its abesnce, the Fitch rating or S&P. 

(8) Most of the off-balance sheet credit risk which has no rating is in respect of guarantees by private Swiss banks and Swiss banks owned by banks in Western 
Europe that are rated A1 and above. 

 

CREDIT RISK IN HOUSING LOANS 
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Certain risk characteristics of the Group’s housing loans portfolio 

 

March 
31, 

December 
31, 

 
2017 2016 

 
% 

 Rate of housing loans financing over 75% of the value of the property 3.9  4.1  

Rate of housing loans, the monthly repayment amount of each exceeds 35% of the income of the borrower 12.0  12.5  

Rate of housing loans carrying variable interest rate of the total amount of the housing loan portfolio⁽¹⁾ 59.8  59.7  
Footnote: 

 (1) Loans in which the interest rate change frequency exceeds five years were also included in computing the ratio. 

 
Amount of loans and average financing ratios 

 

For the three 
months ended 

March 31, 

For the  year 
ended 

December 31, 

 
2017 2016 

Average amount of loan (in NIS thousands) 715  712  

Average financing ratio for housing loans (in %) 53.3  55.8  

Average financing ratio for general purpuse loans (in %) 36.3  36.6  

Division of housing credit balances according to size of credit to borrowers 

 
March 31, December 31, 

 
2017 2016 

Credit limit (in NIS thousands) 
In NIS 

millions 

% of total 
Housing 
Credit 

In NIS 
millions 

% of total 
Housing 
Credit 

Up to 1,200 21,554  81.0  20,959  81.1  

Between 1,200 and 4,000 4,668  17.5  4,479  17.3  

Over 4,000 410  1.5  421  1.6  

Total 26,632  100.0  25,859  100.0  
     

Of which: 
    Housing loans that were granted abroad 72  

 
73  

 Deduction of allowance for credit losses 173  
 

171  
 Housing loans⁽¹⁾ 258  

 
266  

 Footnote: 

(1) The credit to the public includes housing loans which are integrated in the transactions and security layout of the business of commercial borrowers, or which 
have been granted to acquisition groups, the projects being constructed by them are in stage of construction. 
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Volume of problematic debts in housing credit 

As at 

Balance 
of credit 

to the 
public⁽¹⁾⁽⁵⁾ 

Balance of 
problematic 

credit⁽¹⁾ 

Balance of 
allowances 

for credit 
losses⁽²⁾⁽³ 

Ratio of 
problematic 

debt 

 
In NIS millions 

Change in 
% 

March 31, 2017 26,805  ⁽⁴⁾312  75  1.2  

December 31, 2016 26,030  ⁽⁴⁾328  77  1.3  

Footnotes: 

(1) Recorded amount. 

(2) As at March 31, 2017 the balance of the allowance includes an allowance in accordance with the extent of arrears in an amount of NIS 72 million, and also an 
allowance over the extent of arrears in an amount of NIS 3 million (as of December 31, 2016: NIS 75 million and NIS 2 million, respectively). 

(3) Not including group allowance in a percentage of 0.35% from the credit balance in respect of which on allowance in accordance with the extent of arrears 
was not made, in amount of NIS 98 million as at March 31, 2017.(as at December 31, 2016: NIS 94 million). 

(4) Including an amount of NIS 29 million, defined as problematic credit, which is not in arrears (December 31, 2016: NIS 29 million). 

(5) The outstanding balance of credit to the public includes housing loans in the amount of NIS 258 million, which are integrated in the transactions and security 
layout of the business of commercial borrowers, or which have been granted to acquisition groups, the projects being constructed by them are in stage of 
construction (December 31, 2016: NIS 266 million). 

Distribution of housing credit granted, according to financing ratios and as a ratio of credit granted 

 
For the three months ended March 31, 

For the  year ended 
December 31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

Loan to value (LTV) ratio⁽¹⁾ 
In NIS 

millions 

% of total 
credit 

granted 
In NIS 

millions 

% of total 
Housing 

Credit 
In NIS 

millions 

% of total 
Housing 

Credit 

Up to 45% 457  29.8 325  21.1  1,693  24.2  

Between 45% and 60% 593  38.6 543  35.2  2,545  36.3  

Over 60% 486  31.6 674  43.7  2,770  39.5  

Total 1,536  100 1,542  100.0  7,008  100.0  
Footnote: 

  (1) The loan to value (LTV) ratio is computed in respect of the purchased asset and does not include additional collateral, if granted. 

  

Data regarding developments in housing credit balances according to linkage segments 

 
Non-linked credit⁽²⁾ CPI linked credit⁽²⁾ 

Foreign currency linked 
credit⁽²⁾ 

 

 

Fixed 
interest 

Variable 
interest 

 

Fixed 
interest 

Variable 
interest 

 

Fixed 
interest 

Variable 
interest 

  

 
In NIS millions 

% of 
total 

Housing 
Credit In NIS millions 

% of 
total 

Housing 
Credit In NIS millions 

% of 
total 

Housing 
Credit 

Total 
Housing 

Credit  
⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾ 

As at March 31, 2017 6,505  10,284  63.0  4,258  5,322  36.0  1  262  1.0  26,632  

As at December 31, 2016 5,795  10,331  62.4  4,224  5,225  36.5  1  283  1.1  25,859  
Footnotes: 

(1) The outstanding balance of credit to the public includes housing loans in the amount of NIS 258 million, which are intergrated in the transactions and security 
layout of the business of commercial borrowers, or which have been granted to acquisition groups, the projects being constructed by them are in stage of 
construction (December 31,2016: NIS 266 million). 

(2) The credit balance is after deduction of allowance for credit losses at an amount of NIS 173 million at March 31, 2017 (December 31,2016: NIS 171 million). 
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Composition of loans granted for housing purposes, divided by the ratio of repayments to earnings 

 
For the three months ended March 31, 

For the  year ended 
December 31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

Ratio of payment to income (PTI)⁽¹⁾ 
In NIS 

millions 

% of total 
credit 

granted 
In NIS 

millions 

% of total 
credit 

granted 
In NIS 

millions 

% of total 
credit 

granted 

Up to 40% 1,392  99.9  1,409  99.6  6,497  99.8  

Over 40% 1  0.1  5  0.4  11  0.2  

Total 1,393  100.0  1,414  100.0  6,508  100.0  
Footnote: 

     (1) The amount of loans granted do not include loans secured by a mortgage on a residential unit, balloon loans and bullet loans. 

  

CREDIT RISK OF PRIVATE INDIVIDUALS (EXCLUDING HOUSING CREDIT RISK) 

BACKGROUND 
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DEVELOPMENT IN BALANCES 

Portfolio of loans to private individuals (excluding housing loans) 

 
Balance Sheet Credit Risk 

  

 

Financial assets 
portfolio(2) 

   

 

Less than 
NIS 50 

thousand 

Greater 
than 

NIS 50 
thousand 

Total 
balance 

credit risk 

Total off-
balance 

credit risk 
Total credit 

risk(3) 

 
Balance in NIS million 

 
March 31, 2017 

Level of income to the account⁽¹⁾ 
     Excluding permanent income to the account 1,351  268  1,619  460  2,079  

Less than NIS 10 thousand 5,375  1,112  6,487  3,274  9,761  

Greater than NIS 10 thousand, but less than 
 NIS 20 thousand 3,395  1,209  4,604  2,623  7,227  

Greater than NIS 20 thousand 2,829  2,163  4,992  3,683  8,675  

Total 12,950  4,753  17,702  10,040  27,742  

 
December 31, 2016 

Level of income to the account⁽¹⁾ 
     Excluding permanent income to the account 1,590  254  1,843  795  2,638  

Less than NIS 10 thousand 5,529  1,186  6,715  3,308  10,023  

Greater than NIS 10 thousand, but less than 
 NIS 20 thousand 3,235  1,214  4,449  2,528  6,977  

Greater than NIS 20 thousand 2,435  1,925  4,360  3,128  7,488  

Total 12,789  4,579  17,367  9,759  27,126  
Footnotes: 
(1) All permanent income to the account, such as: net salary, rental income and fixed allowances. 
(2) financial assets portfolio associated with the account, such as: monetary deposits (including current account balances), securities portfolio and other monetary assets. 
(3) Including data of MDB. 

Balance sheet credit risk in respect of private individuals (excluding housing loans), by classes of interest 

 

March 31, 
2017 

December 
31, 2016 

 
in NIS million 

Fixed interest credit 5,496  5,488  

Variable interest credit 12,207  11,879  

Total 17,703  17,367  

Development of problematic credit risk in respect of private individuals (excluding housing loans) 

      

    

Rate from  total credit 
to the public 

 

March 31, 
2017 

December 
31, 2016 Change in 

March 31, 
2017 

December 
31, 2016 

 
in NIS million % % 

Problematic credit risk  447   440  1.6  1.7  1.7  

Of which: impaired credit risk  65   61  6.6  0.2  0.2  

Debts in arrears of 90 days or more  72  82  (12.2) 0.3  0.3  

Net accounting write-offs recognized during the period  58   146   (60.3) 0.2  0.6  

Balance of allowance for credit losses  463   454  2.0  1.7  1.8  
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DEVELOPMENT OF THE RISK 

RISK MITIGATING MEASURES 

THE FAIRNESS PRINCIPLE 

MONITORING AND CONTROL 
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CREDIT RISK IN RELATION TO THE CONSTRUCTION AND REAL ESTATE SECTOR 

Total credit and percentage of problematic credit in the construction and real estate sector 

 
March 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 

 

Credit for 
the  

public⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾ 

Of which: 
problematic 

credit⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾ 

Rate of 
problematic 

credit 

Credit for 
the  

public⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾ 

Of which: 
problematic 

credit⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾ 

Rate of 
problematic 

credit 

 
in NIS million % in NIS million % 

Income generating real estate 8,862  306  3.5  10,936  399  3.6  

Construction – general building contracting 1,722  258  15.0  1,938  290  15.0  

Residential projects financing 14,462  124  0.9  13,990  97  0.7  

Acquisition of building land 4,652  66  1.4  3,560  83  2.3  

Other 9,442  293  3.1  9,956  350  3.5  

Total⁽³⁾ 39,139  1,048  2.7  40,380  1,219  3.0  

Footnotes: 

(1) Balance-sheet and off-balance-sheet credit to the public, excluding financial derivatives. 

(2) Including data of MDB. 

(3) The data in this table are more expansive than the data reported according to economic sectors, in conformity with the Bank’s internal reporting, and include 
additional activities correlating largely with the activities in the construction and real estate sector. The data in the table include activity in Israel only. 
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CREDIT RISK IN RESPECT OF LEVERAGED FINANCE 

The Bank's exposure to leveraged finance according to economic sector of the acquired corporation 

 
March 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 

 

Balance 
sheet 

exposure 

Off-
Balance 

sheet 
exposure 

Total 
exposure 

Specific 
allowance 
for credit 

losses 

Balance 
sheet 

exposure 

Off-
Balance 

sheet 
exposure 

Total 
exposure 

Specific 
allowance 
for credit 

losses 

Sector In NIS millions 

Industry 1,055  88  1,143  -  345  52  397  -  

Construction and real estate 596  249  845  -  605  245  850  -  

Commerce 61  -  61  -  67  -  67  -  

Total 1,712  337  2,049  -  1,017  297  1,314  -  
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MARKET RISKS  
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Exposure to changes in interest rates – Consolidated 

 
As at March 31, 2017 

 

 

On 
demand 

or within 
1 month 

Over 1 
month 

and up to 
3 months 

Over 3 
months 

and up to 
1 year 

Over 1 
year and 

up to 3 
years 

Over 3 
years and 

up to 5 
years 

 

 
in NIS millions 

 Non linked Israeli currency 
      Financial assets and amounts receivable in respect of derivative instruments 

 Financial assets⁽¹⁾ 103,330  10,924  7,944  9,610  4,072  
 Derivative financial instruments (except for options) 11,918  22,835  10,212  12,000  4,861  
 Options  (in terms of base assets) 375  617  875  294  167  
 Total fair value 115,623  34,376  19,031  21,904  9,100  
 Financial liabilities and amounts payable in respect of derivative instruments 
 Financial liabilities⁽¹⁾ 89,582  10,156  12,713  9,293  2,727  
 Derivative financial instruments (except for options) 16,809  25,833  15,132  10,336  4,822  
 Options  (in terms of base assets) 314  672  667  18  4  
 Off-balance sheet financial instruments -  -  -  -  -  
 Total fair value 106,705  36,661  28,512  19,647  7,553  
 Financial instruments, net 
 Exposure to changes in interest rates in the segment 8,918  (2,285) (9,481) 2,257  1,547  
 Cumulative exposure in the segment 8,918  6,633  (2,848) (591) 956  
 CPI linked Israeli currency 

 Financial assets and amounts receivable in respect of derivative instruments 
 Financial assets⁽¹⁾ 631  675  2,694  7,418  4,740  
 Derivative financial instruments (except for options) 99  339  704  1,223  384  
 Options  (in terms of base assets) -  40  28  18  4  
 Total fair value 730  1,054  3,426  8,659  5,128  
 Financial liabilities and amounts payable in respect of derivative instruments 
 Financial liabilities⁽¹⁾ 210  484  1,776  2,849  4,971  
 Derivative financial instruments (except for options) 208  741  2,146  3,382  828  
 Options  (in terms of base assets) -  31  91  230  142  
 Off-balance sheet financial instruments -  -  -  -  -  
 Total fair value 418  1,256  4,013  6,461  5,941  
 Financial instruments, net 
 Exposure to changes in interest rates in the segment 312  (202) (587) 2,198  (813) 
 Cumulative exposure in the segment 312  110  (477) 1,721  908  
 Notes: 

(1) Not including balances of derivative financial instruments and fair value of off-balance sheet financial instruments. 

(2) Weighted average by fair value of average effective duration. 

(3) Including shares listed under "No fixed maturity". 

(4) Including Israeli currency linked to foreign currency. 
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 As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016 
 

As at December 31, 2016 

 

 Over 5 
years 

and up 
to 10 
years 

Over 10 
years and 

up to 20 
years 

Over 20 
years 

No fixed 
maturity 

date 
Total fair 

value 

Internal 
rate of 

return In 
% 

Effective 
average 
duration 
In years 

Total fair 
value 

Internal 
rate of 

return In 
% 

Effective 
average 
duration 
In years 

 

Total fair 
value 

Internal 
rate of 

return In 
% 

Effective 
average 
duration 
In years 

 

 in NIS millions 

 

 

              

 

 

              

 

 4,179  895  52  374  141,380  2.85%  0.66  127,282  2.69%  0.60  
 

137,120  2.84%  0.68  

 

 5,541  37  -  -  67,404  
 

1.47  75,256  
 

1.24  
 

69,422  
 

1.27  

 

 57  1  -  -  2,386  
 

0.02  1,941  
 

0.01  
 

1,573  
 

0.01  

 

 9,777  933  52  374  211,170  
 

⁽²⁾0.91  204,479  
 

⁽²⁾0.83  
 
208,115  

 
⁽²⁾0.87  

 

 

              

 

 432  113  -  -  125,016  0.27%  0.35  111,407  0.25%  0.29  
 

121,147  0.27%  0.32  

 

 7,208  87  -  -  80,227  
 

1.34  87,758  
 

1.28  
 

81,756  
 

1.31  

 

 4  -  -  -  1,679  
 

0.01  1,593  
 

0.01  
 

1,084  
 

0.01  

 

 -  -  -  -  -  
 

-  -  
 

-  
 

-  
 

-  

 

 7,644  200  -  -  206,922  
 

⁽²⁾0.73  200,758  
 

⁽²⁾0.72  
 
203,987  

 
⁽²⁾0.72  

 

 

              

 

 2,133  733  52  374  4,248  
  

3,721  
   

4,128  
  

 

 3,089  3,822  3,874  4,248  
          

 

 

              

 

 

              

 

 3,255  870  75  9  20,367  1.90%  3.44  20,211  1.66%  3.62  
 

20,398  1.94%  3.47  

 

 1,897  20  -  -  4,666  
 

4.14  4,803  
 

3.89  
 

4,699  
 

4.29  

 

 4  -  -  -  94  
 

0.02  189  
 

0.01  
 

104  
 

0.01  

 

 5,156  890  75  9  25,127  
 

⁽²⁾3.56  25,203  
 

⁽²⁾3.64  
 

25,201  
 

⁽²⁾3.61  

 

 

              

 

 1,792  319  -  -  12,401  0.57%  3.37  14,319  0.84%  3.44  
 

13,047  0.88%  3.36  

 

 938  41  -  -  8,284  
 

3.28  6,427  
 

2.62  
 

7,844  
 

2.15  

 

 41  -  -  -  535  
 

0.07  639  
 

0.01  
 

498  
 

0.01  

 

 -  -  -  -  -  
 

-  -  
 

-  
 

-  
 

-  

 

 2,771  360  -  -  21,220  
 

⁽²⁾3.25  21,385  
 

⁽²⁾3.09  
 

21,389  
 

⁽²⁾2.84  

 

 

              

 

 2,385  530  75  9  3,907  
  

3,818  
   

3,812  
  

 

 3,293  3,823  3,898  3,907  
          General notes: 

(a) Data by period in this table represent the present value of future cash flows for each financial instrument, discounted at such interest rate as to discount them 
to the fair value included in the financial instrument, in a manner consistent with assumptions used in calculation of the fair value of said financial instrument. 
For details regarding the assumptions used in calculating the fair value of financial instruments, see the "Disclosure according to the third pillar of Basel and 
additional information regarding risks" document, which is available for perusal on the Bank's website, on the MAGNA site of Israel Securities Authority and on 
the MAYA site of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd. 

(b) The internal rate of return is the interest rate used to discount the expected cash flows from a financial instrument to its fair value, as included in Note 16 a to 
the condensed financial statements. 

(c) The average effective duration of a group of financial instruments is an approximation of the change, in percentage, in fair value of said group of financial 
instruments resulting from a small change (0.1% increase) in the internal rate of return of each of the financial instruments. 

(d) Full data as the exposure to changes in interest rates in each segment according to the various balance sheet items, is available on request. 
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Exposure to changes in interest rates – Consolidated (continued) 

 
As at March 31, 2017 

 

 

On 
demand 

or within 
1 month 

Over 1 
month 

and up to 
3 months 

Over 3 
months 

and up to 
1 year 

Over 1 
year and 

up to 3 
years 

Over 3 
years and 

up to 5 
years 

 

 
in NIS millions 

 Foreign currency⁽⁴⁾ 
 Financial assets and amounts receivable in respect of derivative instruments 
 Financial assets⁽¹⁾ 24,838  5,961  3,497  4,938  3,134  
 Derivative financial instruments (except for options) 24,953  31,699  21,276  4,327  2,799  
 Options  (in terms of base assets) 809  1,686  1,128  10  -  
 Total fair value 50,600  39,346  25,901  9,275  5,933  
 Financial liabilities and amounts payable in respect of derivative instruments 
 Financial liabilities⁽¹⁾ 39,657  4,863  11,717  4,319  343  
 Derivative financial instruments (except for options) 15,172  29,746  14,633  4,629  2,979  
 Options  (in terms of base assets) 868  1,632  1,262  66  19  
 Off-balance sheet financial instruments -  -  -  -  -  
 Total fair value 55,697  36,241  27,612  9,014  3,341  
 Financial instruments, net 
 Exposure to changes in interest rates in the segment (5,097) 3,105  (1,711) 261  2,592  
 Cumulative exposure in the segment (5,097) (1,992) (3,703) (3,442) (850) 
 Total exposure to changes in interest rates 
 Financial assets and amounts receivable in respect of derivative instruments 
 Financial assets⁽¹⁾,⁽³⁾ 129,024  17,560  14,135  21,966  11,946  
 Derivative financial instruments (except for options) 36,970  54,873  32,192  17,550  8,044  
 Options  (in terms of base assets) 1,184  2,343  2,031  322  171  
 Total fair value 167,178  74,776  48,358  39,838  20,161  
 Financial liabilities and amounts payable in respect of derivative instruments 
 Financial liabilities⁽¹⁾ 129,674  15,503  26,206  16,461  8,041  
 Derivative financial instruments (except for options) 32,189  56,320  31,911  18,347  8,629  
 Options  (in terms of base assets) 1,182  2,335  2,020  314  165  
 Off-balance sheet financial instruments -  -  68  -  -  
 Total fair value 163,045  74,158  60,205  35,122  16,835  
 Financial instruments, net 

      Exposure to changes in interest rates in the segment 4,133  618  (11,847) 4,716  3,326  
 Cumulative exposure in the segment 4,133  4,751  (7,096) (2,380) 946  
 Notes: 

(1) Not including balances of derivative financial instruments and fair value of off-balance sheet financial instruments. 

(2) Weighted average by fair value of average effective duration. 

(3) Including shares listed under "No fixed maturity". 

(4) Including Israeli currency linked to foreign currency. 
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As at March 31, 2017 As at March 31, 2016 

 
As at December 31, 2016 

 

Over 5 
years 

and up 
to 10 
years 

Over 10 
years and 

up to 20 
years 

Over 20 
years 

No fixed 
maturity 

date 
Total fair 

value 

Internal 
rate of 

return In 
% 

Effective 
average 
duration 
In years 

Total fair 
value 

Internal 
rate of 

return In 
% 

Effective 
average 
duration 
In years 

 

Total fair 
value 

Internal 
rate of 

return In 
% 

Effective 
average 
duration 
In years 

 
in NIS millions 

               

               

 
5,058  864  -  357  48,647  3.05%  1.60  51,353  2.30%  1.54  

 
52,818  3.12%  1.72  

 
7,427  85  61  -  92,627  

 
1.11  105,742  

 
0.85  

 
94,654  

 
0.97  

 
-  -  -  -  3,633  

 
0.01  6,209  

 
0.01  

 
3,307  

 
0.10  

 
12,485  949  61  357  144,907  

 
⁽²⁾1.25  163,304  

 
⁽²⁾1.04  

 
150,779  

 
⁽²⁾1.21  

               

 
15  12  -  -  60,926  1.08%  0.33  61,795  0.60%  0.41  

 
64,852  1.05%  0.35  

 
9,510  60  95  -  76,824  

 
1.50  92,402  

 
1.16  

 
79,480  

 
1.40  

 
12  -  -  -  3,859  

 
0.01  6,093  

 
0.01  

 
3,368  

 
0.10  

 
-  -  -  -  -  

 
-  -  

 
-  

 
-  

 
-  

 
9,537  72  95  -  141,609  

 
⁽²⁾0.95  160,290  

 
⁽²⁾0.83  

 
147,700  

 
⁽²⁾0.91  

               

 
2,948  877  (34) 357  3,298  

  
3,014  

   
3,079  

  

 
2,098  2,975  2,941  3,298  

          

               

               

 
12,492  2,629  127  1,690  211,569  2.80%  1.14  199,775  2.48%  1.15  

 
211,610  2.82%  1.21  

 
14,865  142  61  -  164,697  

 
1.35  185,801  

 
1.09  

 
168,775  

 
1.19  

 
61  1  -  -  6,113  

 
0.01  8,339  

 
0.01  

 
4,984  

 
0.07  

 
27,418  2,772  188  1,690  382,379  

 
⁽²⁾1.21  393,915  

 
⁽²⁾1.10  

 
385,369  

 
⁽²⁾1.18  

               

 
2,239  444  -  -  198,568  0.54%  0.53  187,569  0.41%  0.57  

 
199,344  0.56%  0.53  

 
17,656  188  95  -  165,335  

 
1.51  186,587  

 
1.27  

 
169,080  

 
1.39  

 
57  -  -  -  6,073  

 
0.01  8,325  

 
0.01  

 
4,950  

 
0.07  

 
-  -  -  18  86  

 
0.08  72  

 
0.08  

 
83  

 
0.08  

 
19,952  632  95  18  370,062  

 
⁽²⁾0.96  382,553  

 
⁽²⁾0.90  

 
373,457  

 
⁽²⁾0.91  

               

 
7,466  2,140  93  1,672  12,317  

  
11,362  

   
11,912  

  

 
8,412  10,552  10,645  12,317  

          General notes: 

(a) Data by period in this table represent the present value of future cash flows for each financial instrument, discounted at such interest rate as to discount them 
to the fair value included in the financial instrument, in a manner consistent with assumptions used in calculation of the fair value of said financial instrument. 
For details regarding the assumptions used in calculating the fair value of financial instruments, see the "Disclosure according to the third pillar of Basel and 
additional information regarding risks" document, which is available for perusal on the Bank's website, on the MAGNA site of Israel Securities Authority and on 
the MAYA site of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange Ltd. 

(b) The internal rate of return is the interest rate used to discount the expected cash flows from a financial instrument to its fair value, as included in Note 16 a to 
the condensed financial statements. 

(c) The average effective duration of a group of financial instruments is an approximation of the change, in percentage, in fair value of said group of financial 
instruments resulting from a small change (0.1% increase) in the internal rate of return of each of the financial instruments. 

(d) Full data as the exposure to changes in interest rates in each segment according to the various balance sheet items, is available on request. 
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SHARE PRICE RISK 

SHARES POSITION IN THE BANKING BOOK 

Investments in shares 

 
March 31 December 31 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
In NIS millions 

Investments in shares of affiliated companies⁽¹⁾: 
   Non marketable shares 147  141  157  

Shares in the available-for-sale portfolio: 
   Marketable shares 76  76  110  

Non marketable shares 865  798  853  

Total shares in the available for sale portfolio 941  874  963  

Total investment in shares 1,088  1,015  1,120  
Footnote:  
(1) For additional information see Note 15 to the Financial Statements as of December 31, 2016. 

Capital requirement regarding share position 

 
March 31 December 31 

 
2017 2016 

 
In NIS millions 

In respect of investments in venture capital funds, in private equity funds and in a fund of hedge funds⁽²⁾ 168  168  

In respect of investments in other shares⁽³⁾ 60  48  

Total capital requirement regarding share position⁽¹⁾ 228  216  

Footnotes: 

(1) The capital requirement was computed according to 12.7% and does not include capital requirement in respect of investment in shares in the trading portfolio. 

(2) These investments are weighted at risk weight of 150%. 

(3) These investments are weighted at risk weight of 100% and 250%. 

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCING RISKS 

LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO 
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LIQUIDITY AND THE RAISING OF RESOURCES IN THE BANK 

General 

Sources for the change in the monetary base 

 
2017 2016 change 

 
In NIS billion in % 

Operations on the Capital Market 2.0  4.0  (50.0) 

The Shekel deposits tender 5.0  4.0  25.0  

Foreign currency conversion 11.1  3.9  184.6  

Government activity (12.9) (12.5) 3.2  

The Bank 

Deposits from the public 

    
Change compared to Change compared to 

 

March 31, 
2017 

March 31, 
2016 

December 
31, 2016 March 31, 2016 December 31, 2016 

 
In NIS millions 

In NIS 
millions in % 

In NIS 
millions in % 

Non-linked shekels 90,008  81,121  87,917  8,887  11  2,091  2.4  

CPI-linked shekels 5,221  6,509  5,761  (1,288) (19.8) (540) (9.4) 

Foreign currency and foreign currency linked shekels 28,206  27,802  29,675  404  1.5  (1,469) (4.9) 

Total 123,435  115,432  123,353  8,003  6.9  82  0.1  

Foreign currency and foreign currency linked 
shekels - In US$ millions 7,766  7,382  7,718  384  5.2  48  0.6  
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Deposits from Banks 

    
Change compared Change compared 

 

March 31, 
2017 

March 31, 
2016 

December 
31, 2016 March 31, 2016 December 31, 2016 

 
In NIS millions 

In NIS 
millions in % 

In NIS 
millions in % 

Non-linked shekels 1,070  917  945  153  16.6  125  13.2  

CPI-linked shekels 333  55  293  278  506.3  40  13.8  

Foreign currency and foreign currency linked shekels 317  414  468  (97) (23.5) (151) (32.3) 

Total 1,720  1,386  1,706  334  24.1  14  0.8  

OPERATIONAL RISKS 

COMPLIANCE RISKS 

PROHIBITION OF MONEY LAUNDERING AND TERROR FINANCING  
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OTHER RISKS 

CHAPTER "D" - ACCOUNTING POLICY AND CRITICAL 

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ACCORDING TO THEIR FAIR VALUE 

 

Adjustments made to assets and liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 

 
March 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Assets in respect of derivative instruments 3,058  3,304  

Adjustment in respect of credit risk regarding assets relating to derivative instruments (11) (10) 

Liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 3,667  3,598  

Adjustment in respect of credit risk regarding liabilities relating to derivative instruments (6) (4) 



 

 

 

 

68 

Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

EMPLOYEE RIGHTS 

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL 

1 The English translation of the Opinion is available for perusal at the Bank's website. 
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CERTIFICATION 
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CERTIFICATION 



75  Review Report of the independent 
auditors to the shareholders of Israel 
Discount Bank Ltd. 

76  Condensed Consolidated statement of 
profit and loss 

76  Condensed Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive Income 

78  Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet 

80  Condensed Statement of Changes in 
Equity 

82  Condensed Consolidated Statement of 
Cash Flows 

85  Notes to the Condensed Financial 
Statements 





Somekh Chaikin, an Israeli partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of 

independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG 

International”), a Swiss entity

REVIEW REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ISRAEL DISCOUNT BANK 

LTD. 

INTRODUCTION 

SCOPE OF REVIEW 

CONCLUSION 

EMPHASIS OF A MATTER 



FIRST QUARTER OF 2017  Financial Statements 
 

 

76 

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS 

  
Unaudited Audited 

  

For the three months 
ended March 31, 

For the 
year ended 
December 

31, 

 
Notes 2017 2016 2016 

   Interest income 
 

1,440  ⁽¹⁾1,218  ⁽¹⁾5,659  

Interest expenses 
 

273  169  1,102  

Interest income, net 2 1,167  1,049  4,557  

Credit loss expenses 6 145  46  469  

Net interest income after credit loss expenses 
 

1,022  1,003  4,088  

Non-interest Income 
    Non-interest financing income 3 225  96  754  

Commissions 
 

666  624  2,585  

Other income 
 

22  62  100  

Total non-interest income 
 

913  782  3,439  

Operating and other Expenses 
    Salaries and related expenses 
 

859  859  3,416  

Maintenance and depreciation of buildings and equipment 
 

264  273  1,067  

Other expenses 
 

309  285  1,331  

Total operating and other expenses 
 

1,432  1,417  5,814  

Profit before taxes 
 

503  368  1,713  

Provision for taxes on profit 
 

182  ⁽¹⁾175  ⁽¹⁾741  

Profit after taxes 
 

321  193  972  

Bank’s share in profit (loss) of affiliated companies, net of tax effect 
 

(4) (1) 15  

Net profit: 
    Before attribution to non-controlling rights holders 
 

317  192  987  

Attributed to the non-controlling rights holders 
 

(14) (13) (82) 

Net Profit Attributed to the Bank's Shareholders 
 

303  179  905  
     

Earnings per share of NIS 0.1 par value (in NIS)  
   Total earnings per share attributed to the Bank's shareholders 

 
⁽²⁾0.27  0.17  ⁽²⁾0.84  

Footnotes: 

(1) Reclassified, see Note 1 G (1). 

(2) The diluted earnings are identical to the basic earnings. 

The notes to the condensed financial statements form an integral part thereof. 
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 

For the three months ended 
March 31, 

For the year 
ended 

December 31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Net profit before attribution to non-controlling rights holders 317  192  987  

Net profit attributed to non-controlling rights holders (14) (13) (82) 

Net profit attributed to the Bank's shareholders 303  179  905  

Other comprehensive income (loss), before taxes: 
   Adjustments, net, for presentation of available-for- sale securities at fair value (26) 109  (126) 

Financial statements translation adjustments, net (190) (116) (44) 

Adjustments of liabilities in respect of employee benefits⁽²⁾ 51  (227) (239) 

Net profit (loss) in respect of cash flows hedge (1) 2  2  

Other comprehensive loss, before taxes (166) (232) (407) 

Effect of attributed taxes (8) 33  111  

Other comprehensive loss, before attribution to non-controlling rights holders, after taxes (174) (199) (296) 

Other comprehensive loss attributed to non-controlling rights holders ⁽³⁾-  (2) (4) 

Other comprehensive loss attributed to the Bank's shareholders, after taxes (174) (197) (292) 

Comprehensive income (loss), before attribution to non-controlling interests holders 143  (7) 691  

Comprehensive income, attributed to non-controlling interests holders (14) (11) (78) 

Comprehensive income (loss), attributed to the Bank's shareholders(1) 129  (18) 613  
Footnotes: 

(1) See Note 4. 

(2) Reflects mostly adjustments in respect of actuarial assessments as of the end of the period of defined benefits pension plans and amortization of amounts 
recorded in the past in other comprehensive income. 
(3) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

The notes to the condensed financial statements are an integral part thereof. 
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

  
Unaudited Audited 

 
Note 

March 31, 
2017 

March 31, 
2016 

December 
31, 2016 

  
in NIS millions 

Assets 
    Cash and deposits with banks 
 

29,179  29,210  29,311  

Securities (of which: 4,922, 4,449, 4,859 respectively, pledged to lenders) 5 36,187  38,064  38,818  

Securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements 
 

369  183  440  

Credit to the public 6,14 145,548  131,272  142,904  

Allowance for credit losses 6,14 (2,089) (2,069) (2,144) 

Credit to the public, net 
 

143,459  129,203  140,760  

Credit to Governments 
 

795  524  737  

Investments in affiliated companies 
 

147  141  157  

Buildings and equipment 
 

2,271  2,180  2,295  

Intangible assets and goodwill 
 

160  142  160  

Assets in respect of derivative instruments 11 3,034  3,761  3,283  

Other assets 
 

3,448  3,776  3,589  

Noncurrent assets held for sale 
 

47  16  27  

Total assets 
 

219,096  207,200  219,577  

For footnotes see next page. 
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED) 

  
Unaudited Audited 

 
Note 

March 31, 
2017 

March 31, 
2016 

December 
31, 2016 

  
in NIS millions 

Liabilities and  Equity 
    Deposits from the public 7 171,642  ⁽²⁾161,633  172,318  

Deposits from banks 
 

5,184  3,842  5,342  

Deposits from the Government 
 

302  ⁽²⁾325  303  

Securities loaned or sold under repurchase agreements 
 

3,340  3,698  3,543  

Subordinated capital notes 
 

8,648  8,739  8,498  

Liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 11 3,639  4,535  3,570  

Other liabilities ⁽¹⁾ 
 

11,156  10,754  11,067  

Liabilities held for sale 
 

-  47  -  

Total liabilities 
 

203,911  193,573  204,641  

Equity attributed to the Bank's shareholders 
 

14,754  13,270  14,512  

Non-controlling rights in consolidated companies 
 

431  357  424  

Total equity 
 

15,185  13,627  14,936  

Total Liabilities and Equity 
 

219,096  207,200  219,577  

Footnotes: 

(1) Of which 187 NIS million, NIS 181 million and NIS 195 million, as of March 31, 2017, March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2016, respectively, allowance for 
credit losses in respect of off-balance sheet credit instruments. 

(2) Reclassified - see Note 1 G (2). 

The notes to the condensed financial statements form an integral part thereof. 
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CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

  

  

 
  

A. For the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 (unaudited) 
 Balance at December 31, 2016 (audited) 
 Net Profit for the period 
 Dividend to non-controlling interests holders in consolidated companies 
 Exercise of options to Shares⁽¹⁾ 
 Other comprehensive  loss, net after tax effect 
 Balance at March 31, 2017 
 Balance at December 31, 2015 (audited) 
 Net Profit for the period 
 Other comprehensive loss, net after tax effect 
 Balance at March 31, 2016 
 B. For the year of 2016 (audited) 
 Balance at December 31, 2015 
 Net Profit for the year 
 Transactions with controlling shareholders 
 Issue of Shares⁽¹⁾ 
 Receipts on account of option warrants⁽¹⁾ 
 Exercise of options to Shares⁽¹⁾ 
 Other comprehensive loss net after tax effect 
 Balance at December 31, 2016 
 Footnotes: 

(1) See Note 20. 

(2) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

The notes to the condensed financial statements are an integral part thereof. 
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Capital reserves 

    

 

Share 
capital 

Share 
premium Other 

Total 
paid up 

share 
capital 

and 
reserves 

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income (loss) 

Retained 
earnings 

Equity 
attributed to 

the Bank's 
shareholders 

Non-
controlling 

interests 
holders in 

consolidated 
subsidiaries 

Total 
equity 

 
in NIS millions 

  

 
673  3,958  291  4,922  (397) 9,987  14,512  424  14,936  

 
-  -  -  -  -  303  303  14  317  

 
-  -  -  -  -  -  -  (7) (7) 

 
2  171  (60) 113  -  -  113  -  113  

 
-  -  -  -  (174) -  (174) ⁽²⁾-  (174) 

 
675  4,129  231  5,035  (571) 10,290  14,754  431  15,185  

 
665  3,434  212  4,311  (105) 9,082  13,288  346  13,634  

 
-  -  -  -  -  179  179  13  192  

 
-  -  -  -  (197) -  (197) (2) (199) 

 
665  3,434  212  4,311  (302) 9,261  13,270  357  13,627  

  

 
665  3,434  212  4,311  (105) 9,082  13,288  346  13,634  

 
-  -  -  -  -  905  905  82  987  

 
-  -  3  3  -  -  3  -  3  

 
7  465  -  472  -  -  472  -  472  

 
-  -  97  97  -  -  97  -  97  

 
1  59  (21) 39  -  -  39  -  39  

 
-  -  -  -  (292) -  (292) (4) (296) 

 
673  3,958  291  4,922  (397) 9,987  14,512  424  14,936  
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

 
Unaudited Audited 

 

For the three months 
ended March 31 

For the year 
ended 

December 
31 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Annex A - Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
   Net profit before attribution to non-controlling rights holders in consolidated companies 317  192  987  

Adjustments necessary to present cash  flows from current operations: 
   Bank’s share in undistributed (profits) loss of affiliated companies. 6  1  (18) 

Depreciation of buildings and equipment (including impairment in value) 99  109  426  

Provision for impairment of securities 2  3  18  

Credit loss expenses 271  171  994  

Gain on sale of credit portfolio, net (1) -  (14) 

Gain on sale of available-for-sale and held to maturity securities, net (158) (55) (219) 

Gain on the sale of rights in Visa Europe -  -  (360) 

Realized and non realized loss (gain) from adjustment to fair value of trading securities, net 17  (10) 9  

Gain from realization at an investment in investee companies (5) -  -  

Gain on realization of buildings and equipment, net (20) (60) (80) 

Net deferred taxes (5) 12  4  

Severance pay – increase (decrease) in excess of provision over the deposits (11) 206  198  

Net change in current assets: 
 

-  
 Deposits with banks 176  236  140  

Credit to the public, net (2,346) ⁽³⁾(1,263) (11,968) 

Credit to the Government (58) ⁽³⁾(4) (115) 

Securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements 71  96  (161) 

Assets in respect of derivative instruments 249  (553) (75) 

Trading securities 305  (543) 33  

Other assets 136  (70) 237  

Effect of changes in exchange rate on cash and cash equivalent balances (129) (72) (110) 

Accrual differences included in investment and financing activities 1,089  719  845  

Net change in current liabilities: 
 

-  
 Deposits from banks (158) (65) 1,435  

Deposits from the public (1,165) ⁽²⁾3,539  13,881  

Deposits from the Government -  ⁽²⁾19  (3) 

Securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements (203) (135) (290) 

Liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 69  1,060  95  

Other liabilities 150  (674) (447) 

Adjustments in respect of exchange rate differences on current assets and liabilities (99) ⁽¹⁾(68) (18) 

Net Cash Flows from (to) Operating Activities (1,401) 2,791  5,424  

Footnotes: 
(1) Reclassified – The reclassification of amounts between the "Effect of changes in exchange rate on cash and cash equivalent balances" item to the 

"Adjustments in respect of exchange rate differences on current assets and liabilities" item, following a re-examination. 
(2) Reclassified - see Note 1 G (2). 
(3) The classification to credit to governments of certain of the amounts in respect of the sale or purchase of credit, presented in the past as credit to the public. 
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part thereof. 
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)  

 
Unaudited Audited 

 

For the three months 
ended March 31 

For the year 
ended 

December 
31 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
   Acquisition of held-to-maturity bonds -  (188) (184) 

Proceeds from redemption of held-to-maturity bonds 146  147  794  

Acquisition of available-for-sale securities (2,578) (3,561) (14,608) 

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale securities 3,396  3,307  6,557  

Proceeds from sale of rights in Visa Europe -  -  286  

purchased credit portfolios (495) (282) (1,194) 

Gain on sale of credit portfolio 45  160  847  

Proceeds from redemption of available-for-sale securities 654  501  5,071  

Business combinations - see Annex A -  -  9  

Proceeds of the sale of investments in investee companies and dividend 9  -  7  

The sale of operations of an investee company -  ⁽¹⁾(1,225) ⁽¹⁾(1,272) 

Acquisition of buildings and equipment (99) (106) (533) 

Proceeds from sale of buildings and equipment 24  75  113  

Net Cash Flows from (to) Investing Activities 1,102  (1,172) (4,107) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
   Issuance of subordinated debt notes 784  253  282  

Redemption of  subordinated debt notes (589) (978) (1,355) 

Issue of Shares -  -  472  

Receipts on account of option warrants -  -  97  

Receipts from conversion of options to shares 113  -  39  

Dividend to non-controlling rights holders (7) -  (3) 

Net cash flows from (to) Financing Activities 301  (725) (468) 

Increase in cash 2  894  849  

Cash balance at beginning of period 28,819  27,886  27,886  

Effect of changes in exchange rate on cash and cash equivalent balances 41  ⁽²⁾26  84  

Cash balance at end of period 28,862  28,806  28,819  

Interest and  taxes paid and/or received 
   Interest received 1,672  1,434  5,646  

Interest paid (305) (364) (1,231) 

Dividends received 5  2  19  

Taxes on income paid (124) (85) (776) 

Taxes on income received 39  21  302  
Footnote: 

(1) Most of the amount stems from a decrease in the deposits from the public item, which has been presented as part of liabilities held for sale. 

(2) Reclassified – The reclassification of amounts between the "Effect of changes in exchange rate on cash and cash equivalent balances" item to the "Adjustments 
in respect of exchange rate differences on current assets and liabilities" item, following a re-examination. 
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part thereof. 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

APPENDIX A – BUSINESS COMBINATIONS(1) 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 

For the three months 
ended March 31 

For the year 
ended 

December 
31 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Net assets -  -  (22) 

Goodwill -  -  (18) 

Disregarding non-controlling rights -  -  49  

Business combinations -  -  9  
Footnote: 

(1) The merger of Clal Finance Underwriting with and into Discount Capital Underwriting. 

APPENDIX B - NON-CASH ASSET AND LIABILITY ACTIVITY DURING THE REPORTED 

PERIOD 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 

For the three months 
ended March 31 

For the year 
ended 

December 
31 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Income from sale of rights in Visa Europe -  -  74  

Purchase of fixed assets 5  12  45  

Lending of securities 174  776  2,315  
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part thereof. 



FIRST QUARTER OF 2017 Financial Statements 
 

 

85 

NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

 
Page No. 

 

 
86 

  
 

89 

  
 

90 

  
 

91 

  
 

93 

  
 

109 

  
 

113 

 

 
114 

  
 

120 

  
 

125 

  
 

129 

  
 

137 

  
 

144 

  
 

148 

 

 
166 

 

 
169 

 

 
179 

 

 
180 

  180 

  180 

  180 

 



 

 

 

 

86 

Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Par value of derivative instruments 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2017 

 

Interest rate 
contracts 

    

 
Shekel/CPI Other 

Foreign 
currency 
contracts 

Contracts 
on shares 

Commodities 
and other 
contracts Total 

 
in NIS millions 

ALM derivatives - according to the new presentation format 7,307  11,691  19,614  -  -  38,612  

ALM derivatives - according to the previous presentation format  11,190  82,325  85,644  -  -  179,159  

Other derivatives - according to the new presentation format 3,883  81,050  68,019  10,254  73  163,279  

Other derivatives - according to the previous presentation format -  10,415  1,990  10,254  73  22,732  
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Certain income statement For the three months ended March 31 2017 Unaudited 

 
in NIS millions 

Net expenses in respect of ALM derivative instruments - according to the new presentation format (28) 

Net expenses in respect of ALM derivative instruments - according to the previous presentation format (766) 

Net expenses in respect of other derivative instruments - according to the new presentation format (726) 

Net income in respect of other derivative instruments - according to the previous presentation format 12 
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
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2. INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES  

 
Unaudited 

 

For the three 
months ended 

March 31, 

 
2017 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

A. Interest Income⁽²⁾ 
  Credit to the public 1,282  1,092  

Credit to the Governments 5  3  

Deposits with the Bank of  Israel and cash 7  6  

Deposits with Banks 7  4  

Securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements ⁽⁴⁾-  ⁽⁴⁾-  

Bonds⁽¹⁾ 132  108  

Other assets 7  ⁽⁶⁾5  

Total interest income 1,440  1,218  

B. Interest Expenses 
  Deposits from the public (135) ⁽⁵⁾(70) 

Deposits from the Government (1) ⁽⁵⁾-  

Deposits from banks (8) (7) 

Securities loaned or sold under repurchase agreements (34) (38) 

Bonds and subordinated debt notes (94) (53) 

Other liabilities (1) (1) 

Total interest expenses (273) (169) 

Interest Income, Net 1,167  1,049  

C. Details of the net effect of hedge derivative instruments on interest income and expenses: 
  Interest expenses⁽³⁾⁽⁷⁾ (7) (10) 

D. Accrual basis, interest income from bonds: 
  Held-to-maturity 43  42  

Available-for-sale 84  68  

Trading 5  (2) 

Total included in interest income 132  108  

Footnotes:   

(1) Financing income generated by mortgage backed securities (MBS) - in US $ millions 11  11  
 Financing income generated by mortgage backed securities (MBS) - in NIS millions 40  43  
(2) Including the effective component of hedging relationships. 

  (3) Details of the effect of hedge derivative instruments on subsection A. 

  (4) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

  (5) Reclassified, see Note 1 G (2). 

  (6) Reclassified, see Note 1 G (1). 

  (7) Reclassified - Beginning with January 1, 2017, the data includes interest expense relating to hedge derivative instruments. As of December 31, 2016, the data 
included also the adjustment to fair value of such instruments. The comparative data has been reclassified accordingly 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

3. NON-INTEREST FINANCING INCOME  

 
Unaudited 

 

For the three 
months ended 

March 31, 

 
2017 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

A. Non-interest financing income from operations not for trading purposes 
  1. From operations in derivative instruments 
  Net expenses in respect of ALM derivative instruments⁽⁴⁾ ⁽⁸⁾(28) (327) 

Total from operations in derivative instruments (28) (327) 

2. From investments in bonds⁽³⁾: 
  Gains on sale of available-for-sale bonds 90  63  

Losses on sale of available-for-sale bonds (4) (2) 

Provision  for impairment of available-for-sale bonds -  (3) 

Total from investments in bonds 86  58  

3. Net exchange rate differences 829  333  

4. Net profit (losses) from investments in shares: 
  Gains on sale of available-for-sale shares⁽³⁾ 72  6  

Losses on sale of available-for-sale shares⁽³⁾ (7)-  (12) 

Provision for impairment of available-for-sale shares (2) -  

Dividends from  available-for-sale shares 5  2  

Profit on sale of shares and activities of affiliated companies 5  18  

Total from investment in shares 80  14  

5. Net profit in respect of loans sold 1  ⁽⁷⁾-  

Total non-interest financing income from operations not for trading purposes 968  78  

B. Non-interest financing income from operations for trading purposes⁽⁵⁾: 
  Net income (losses) in respect of other derivative instruments ⁽⁸⁾(726) 8  

Net realized and non-realized profit (losses) on adjustment of trading bonds to fair value⁽¹⁾ (16) 10  

Net realized and non-realized losses on adjustment of trading shares to fair value⁽²⁾ (1) ⁽⁷⁾-  

Total from trading operations⁽⁶⁾ (743) 18  

Details of non-interest financing income from operations for trading purposes, according to risk exposure: 
  Interest rate exposure 9  12  

Foreign currency exposure (754) 3  

Share exposure 2  3  

Total according to risk exposure (743) 18  

Total non-interest financing income 225  96  

Footnotes:   

(1) Of which, a part of the profit (losses) relating to trading bonds that are still on hand at balance sheet date (1) 9  
(2) Of which, a part of the losses relating to trading shares that are still on hand at balance sheet date (1) (1) 
(3) Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income, see Note 4:   

 Of which profit, from investments in bonds, net 86  61  
 Of which, from investment in shares ⁽⁷⁾-  ⁽⁷⁾-  
(4) Derivative instruments comprising a part of the Bank's asset and liability management layout, not designated for hedge relations. 

(5) Including exchange rate differences from trading operations. 

(6) For interest income on investments in trading bonds, see Note 2, above. 

(7) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

(8) For details regarding the change in the format of presentation, see Note 1 D above. 
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4. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)  

A. CHANGES IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) AFTER TAX EFFECT 

 

Other comprehensive income, before attribution to non-controlling 
rights holders 

Other 
comprehensive 

income 
attributed to 

non-controlling 
rights holders 

Other 
comprehensive 

income 
attributed to 

the Bank's 
shareholders 

 

Adjustments, 
net, for 

presentation 
of available-

for- sale 
securities at 

fair value 

Financial 
statements 
translation 

adjustments, 
net after 

hedge 
effects⁽¹⁾ 

Net profit 
(loss) in 

respect of 
cash flows 

hedge 

Adjustments 
in respect of 

employee 
benefits Total 

  

 
in NIS millions 

1. For the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 (unaudited) 

Balance at December 31, 2016 
(audited) 86  22  1  (511) (402) (5) (397) 

Net change during the period (16) (190) (1) 33  (174) ⁽²⁾-  (174) 

Balance at March 31, 2017 70  (168) -  (478) (576) (5) (571) 
        
Balance at December 31, 2015 
(audited) 162  66  ⁽²⁾-  (334) (106) (1) (105) 

Net change during the period 69  (116) 1  (153) (199) (2) (197) 

Balance at March 31, 2016 231  (50) 1  (487) (305) (3) (302) 
        

2. For the year of 2016 (audited) 

Balance at December 31, 2015 162  66  ⁽²⁾-  (334) (106) (1) (105) 

Net change during the year (76) (44) 1  (177) (296) (4) (292) 

Balance at December 31, 
2016 86  22  1  (511) (402) (5) (397) 

Footnotes: 

(1) Including financial statements translation adjustments of a consolidated subsidiary - Discount Bancorp Inc., the functional currency of which is different from 
that of the Bank. 

(2) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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4. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (CONTINUED) 

B. CHANGES IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) COMPONENT BEFORE TAX EFFEXT AND AFTER TAX EFFECT 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
For the three months ended March 31 

For the year ended December 
31 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 

Before 
taxes Tax effect 

After 
taxes 

Before 
taxes Tax effect 

After 
taxes 

Before 
taxes Tax effect 

After 
taxes 

 
in NIS millions 

Changes in components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), before attribution to non-controlling rights holders: 

Adjustments for presentation of available-for- sale securities at fair value 

Net unrealized Profit (loss) from 
adjustments to fair value 60  (20) 40  170  (62) 108  20  (3) 17  

Loss (profit) on available-for-sale 
securities reclassified to the statement of 
income⁽²⁾ (86) 30  (56) (61) 22  (39) (146) 53  (93) 

Net change during the period (26) 10  (16) 109  (40) 69  (126) 50  (76) 

Translation adjustments 
         Financial statements translation 

adjustments⁽¹⁾ (190) -  (190) (116) -  (116) (44) -  (44) 

Net change during the period (190) -  (190) (116) -  (116) (44) -  (44) 

Cash flow hedging 
         Net profit (loss) in respect of cash flow 

hedging ⁽⁴⁾-  ⁽⁴⁾-  -  1  (1) -  ⁽⁴⁾-  ⁽⁴⁾-  -  

Net (profit) loss in respect of cash flow 
hedging reclassified to the statement of 
income (1) ⁽⁴⁾-  (1) 1  -  1  2  (1) 1  

Net change during the period (1) -  (1) 2  (1) 1  2  (1) 1  

Employee benefits 

Net actuarial profit (loss) 28  (10) 18  (234) 77  (157) (430) 117  (313) 

Loss reclassified to the statement of 
income⁽³⁾ 23  (8) 15  7  (3) 4  191  (55) 136  

Net change during the period 51  (18) 33  (227) 74  (153) (239) 62  (177) 

Total net change during the period (166) (8) (174) (232) 33  (199) (407) 111  (296) 

Changes in components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) attributed to non-controlling rights holders: 

Total net change during the period ⁽⁴⁾-  ⁽⁴⁾-  -  (2) ⁽⁴⁾-  (2) (5) 1  (4) 

Changes in components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) attributed to the Bank's shareholders: 

Total net change during the period (166) (8) (174) (230) 33  (197) (402) 110  (292) 
Footnotes: 

(1)  Including financial statements translation adjustments of a consolidated subsidiary - Discount Bancorp Inc., the functional currency of which is different from that of the Bank. 
(2) The pre-tax amount is reported in the statement of profit and loss in the item "non-interest financing income". For further details see the note on non-interest financing income. 

(3) The pretax amount has been classified to the item "Salaries and related expenses". 

(4) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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5. SECURITIES  

A. COMPOSITION 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31,2017 

 
Book value Amortized cost 

Unrecognized 
gains from 

adjustment to 
fair value 

Unrecognized 
losses from 

adjustment to 
fair value Fair value⁽¹⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

(1) Held-to-maturity bonds 
     Bonds and loans: 
     Of the Israeli Government 3,548  3,548  237  -  3,785  

Of foreign governments 109  109  -  ⁽⁸⁾-  109  

Of  Israeli financial institutions 84  84  3  -  87  

Of  foreign financial institutions 33  33  -  ⁽⁸⁾-  33  

Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 676  676  5  10  671  

Of others abroad⁽⁶⁾ 1,448  1,448  48  2  1,494  

Total held-to-maturity bonds 5,898  ⁽²⁾5,898  293  12  6,179  

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31,2017 

   

Accumulated other 
comprehensive income 

 

 
Book value 

Amortized cost 
(in shares - 

cost) Profits Losses Fair value⁽¹⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

(2) Available for sale securities 
     Bonds and loans: 
     Of the Israeli Government 16,282  16,196  105  19  16,282  

Of foreign governments 711  710  2  1  711  

Of  Israeli financial institutions 57  56  1  ⁽⁸⁾-  57  

Of  foreign financial institutions 989  983  9  3  989  

Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 7,207  7,272  11  76  7,207  

Of others in Israel* 380  370  11  1  380  

Of others abroad⁽⁷⁾ 1,151  1,133  20  2  1,151  

Total bonds 26,777  26,720  159  102  ⁽²⁾26,777  

Shares 941  932  10  1  ⁽⁴⁾941  

Total available-for-sale securities 27,718  27,652  ⁽³⁾169  ⁽³⁾103  27,718  

* Of which: Bonds backed by State guarantees 123  123  ⁽⁸⁾-  -  123  
For footnotes see next page. 
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5. SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

A. COMPOSITION (CONTINUED) 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31,2017 

 
Book value 

Amortized cost 
(in shares - 

cost) 

Unrealized 
gains from 

adjustment to 
fair value 

Unrealized 
losses from 

adjustment to 
fair value Fair value⁽¹⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

(3) Trading Securities 
     Bonds and loans: 
     Of the Israeli Government 2,391  2,391  2  2  2,391  

Of  Israeli financial institutions 25  25  ⁽⁸⁾-  -  25  

Of  foreign financial institutions 36  36  -  ⁽⁸⁾-  36  

Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 53  54  ⁽⁸⁾-  1  53  

Of others in Israel* 36  36  ⁽⁸⁾-  ⁽⁸⁾-  36  

Of others abroad 21  21  -  ⁽⁸⁾-  21  

Total bonds 2,562  2,563  2  3  2,562  

Shares 9  10  ⁽⁸⁾-  1  9  

Total trading securities 2,571  2,573  ⁽⁵⁾2  ⁽⁵⁾4  2,571  

* Of which: Bonds backed by State guarantees 6  6  ⁽⁸⁾-  -  6  

Total securities 36,187  36,123  464  119  36,468  

Footnotes: 

(1) Fair value data based on market prices, does not necessarily reflect the price that may be obtained on the sale of securities in large volumes. 

(2) Including securities sold by overseas consolidated subsidiary under buy-back terms from held to maturity protfolio at a reduced cost of NIS 517 million (approx. 
US$ 142 million) and from the available for sale protfolio with a market value of NIS 3,246 million (approx. US$ 894 million). 

(3) Included in "Accumulated other comprehensive income". 

(4) Including shares , the fair value of which is not readily available, stated at cost of NIS 865 million. 

(5) Recorded in the statement of profit and loss. 

(6) Including U.S. Government agencies and municipal bonds and bonds of states in the U.S.A, in an amount of NIS 1,449 million (book value). 

(7) Including U.S. Government agencies, in  an amount of NIS 62 million (Book value). 

(8) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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5. SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

A. COMPOSITION (CONTINUED) 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31,2016 

 
Book value Amortized cost 

Unrecognized 
gains from 

adjustment to 
fair value 

Unrecognized 
losses from 

adjustment to 
fair value Fair value⁽¹⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

(1) Held-to-maturity bonds 
     Bonds and loans: 
     Of the Israeli Government 3,830  3,830  333  -  4,163  

Of foreign governments 114  114  ⁽⁸⁾-  -  114  

Of  Israeli financial institutions 85  85  5  -  90  

Of  foreign financial institutions 34  34  -  1  33  

Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 959  959  15  4  970  

Of others abroad⁽⁶⁾ 1,815  1,815  93  ⁽⁸⁾-  1,908  

Total held-to-maturity bonds 6,837  ⁽²⁾6,837  446  5  7,278  

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31,2016 

   

Accumulated other 
comprehensive income 

 

 
Book value 

Amortized cost 
(in shares - 

cost) Profits Losses Fair value⁽¹⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

(2) Available for sale securities 
     Bonds and loans: 
     Of the Israeli Government 15,060  14,790  277  7  15,060  

Of foreign governments 821  826  1  6  821  

Of  Israeli financial institutions 186  185  3  2  186  

Of  foreign financial institutions 1,517  1,537  8  28  1,517  

Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 7,387  7,329  76  18  7,387  

Of others in Israel* 425  409  17  1  425  

Of others abroad⁽⁷⁾ 1,461  1,456  13  8  1,461  

Total bonds 26,857  26,532  395  70  ⁽²⁾26,857  

Shares 874  871  4  1  ⁽⁴⁾874  

Total available-for-sale securities 27,731  27,403  ⁽³⁾399  ⁽³⁾71  27,731  

* Of which: Bonds backed by State guarantees 121  120  1  -  121  
For footnotes see next page. 

     

 



 

 

 

 

96 

Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

5. SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

A. COMPOSITION (CONTINUED) 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31,2016 

 
Book value 

Amortized cost 
(in shares - 

cost) 

Unrealized 
gains from 

adjustment to 
fair value 

Unrealized 
losses from 

adjustment to 
fair value Fair value⁽¹⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

(3) Trading Securities 
     Bonds and loans: 
     Of the Israeli Government 3,376  3,369  8  1  3,376  

Of  foreign financial institutions 5  5  ⁽⁸⁾-  -  5  

Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 58  57  1  ⁽⁸⁾-  58  

Of others in Israel 22  22  ⁽⁸⁾-  ⁽⁸⁾-  22  

Of others abroad 28  27  1  -  28  

Total bonds 3,489  3,480  10  1  3,489  

Shares 7  8  1  2  7  

Total trading securities 3,496  3,488  ⁽⁵⁾11  ⁽⁵⁾3  3,496  

Total securities⁽⁸⁾ 38,064  37,728  856  79  38,505  

Footnotes: 

(1) Fair value data based on market prices, does not necessarily reflect the price that may be obtained on the sale of securities in large volumes. 

(2) Including securities sold by overseas consolidated subsidiary under buy-back terms from held to maturity protfolio at a reduced cost of NIS 709 million (approx. 
US$ 188 million) and from the available for sale protfolio with a market value of NIS 3,543 million (approx. US$ 938 million). 

(3) Included in "Accumulated other comprehensive income". 

(4) Including shares , the fair value of which is not readily available, stated at cost of NIS 798 million. 

(5) Recorded in the statement of income. 

(6) Including U.S. Government agencies and municipal bonds and bonds of states in the U.S.A, in an amount of NIS 1,815 million (book value). 

(7) Including U.S. Government agencies, in  an amount of NIS 68 million (Book value). 

(8) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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5. SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

A. COMPOSITION (CONTINUED) 

 
Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

 
Book value Amortized cost 

Unrecognized 
gains from 

adjustment to 
fair value 

Unrecognized 
losses from 

adjustment to 
fair value Fair value⁽¹⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

(1) Held-to-maturity bonds 
     Bonds and loans: 
     Of the Israeli Government 3,703  3,703  251  -  3,954  

Of foreign governments 115  115  -  ⁽⁸⁾-  115  

Of  Israeli financial institutions 83  83  3  -  86  

Of  foreign financial institutions 35  35  -  1  34  

Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 779  779  7  12  774  

Of others abroad⁽⁶⁾ 1,552  1,552  47  3  1,596  

Total held-to-maturity bonds 6,267  ⁽²⁾6,267  308  16  6,559  

 
Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

   

Accumulated other 
comprehensive income 

 

 
Book value 

Amortized cost 
(in shares - 

cost) Profits Losses Fair value⁽¹⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

(2) Available for sale securities 
     Bonds and loans: 
     Of the Israeli Government 16,564  16,448  144  28  16,564  

Of foreign governments 918  926  1  9  918  

Of  Israeli financial institutions 58  57  1  ⁽⁸⁾-  58  

Of  foreign financial institutions 1,154  1,152  8  6  1,154  

Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 7,683  7,747  14  78  7,683  

Of others in Israel* 353  344  10  1  353  

Of others abroad⁽⁷⁾ 2,023  1,997  30  4  2,023  

Total bonds 28,753  28,671  208  126  ⁽²⁾28,753  

Shares 963  957  7  1  ⁽⁴⁾963  

Total available-for-sale securities 29,716  29,628  ⁽³⁾215  ⁽³⁾127  29,716  

* Of which: Bonds backed by State guarantees 124  124  ⁽⁸⁾-  ⁽⁸⁾-  124  
For footnotes see next page. 
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5. SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

A. COMPOSITION (CONTINUED) 

 
Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

 
Book value 

Amortized cost 
(in shares - 

cost) 

Unrealized 
gains from 

adjustment to 
fair value 

Unrealized 
losses from 

adjustment to 
fair value Fair value⁽¹⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

(3) Trading Securities 
     Bonds and loans: 
     Of the Israeli Government 2,568  2,570  2  4  2,568  

Of foreign governments 21  21  -  ⁽⁸⁾-  21  

Of  Israeli financial institutions 14  14  -  ⁽⁸⁾-  14  

Of  foreign financial institutions 39  39  ⁽⁸⁾-  ⁽⁸⁾-  39  

Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 61  62  ⁽⁸⁾-  1  61  

Of others in Israel 54  54  ⁽⁸⁾-  ⁽⁸⁾-  54  

Of others abroad 65  67  -  2  65  

Total bonds 2,822  2,827  2  7  2,822  

Shares 13  13  1  1  13  

Total trading securities 2,835  2,840  ⁽⁵⁾3  ⁽⁵⁾8  2,835  

* Of which: Bonds backed by State guarantees 17  17  ⁽⁸⁾-  ⁽⁸⁾-  17  

Total securities 38,818  38,735  526  151  39,110  

Footnotes: 

(1) Fair value data based on market prices, does not necessarily reflect the price that may be obtained on the sale of securities in large volumes. 

(2) Including securities sold by overseas consolidated subsidiary under buy-back terms from held to maturity portfolio at a reduced cost of NIS 587 million (approx. 
US$ 153 million) and from the available for sale portfolio with a market value of NIS 3,442 million (approx. US$ 895 million). 

(3) Included in "Accumulated other comprehensive income". 

(4) Including shares , the fair value of which is not readily available, stated at cost of NIS 853 million. 

(5) Recorded in the statement of profit and loss. 

(6) Including U.S. Government agencies and municipal bonds and bonds of states in the U.S.A, in an amount of NIS 1,553 million (book value). 

(7) Including U.S. Government agencies, in  an amount of NIS 65 million (Book value). 

(8) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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5. SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

B. AMORTIZED COST AND UNREALIZED LOSSES, ACCORDING TO THE LENGTH OF THE PERIOD AND RATE OF IMPAIRMENT OF 

HELD-TO-MATURITY BONDS WHICH ARE IN AN UNREALIZED LOSS POSITION - CONSOLIDATED  

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31,2017 

 
Less than 12 months More than 12 months 

  

Unrecognized losses from 
adjustment to fair value 

 

Unrecognized losses from 
adjustment to fair value 

 

Amortized 
cost 0-20% 20-40% Total 

Amortized 
cost 0-20% 20-40% Total 

 
In NIS millions 

Held-to-maturity bonds 
        Bonds and loans: 
        Of foreign governments 91  ⁽¹⁾-  -  ⁽¹⁾-  -  -  -  -  

Of  foreign financial institutions -  -  -  -  33  ⁽¹⁾-  -  ⁽¹⁾-  

Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 269  2  -  2  294  8  -  8  

Of others abroad 176  2  -  2  -  -  -  -  

Total held-to-maturity bonds 536  4  -  4  327  8  -  8  
         

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31,2016 

 
Less than 12 months More than 12 months 

  

Unrecognized losses from 
adjustment to fair value 

 

Unrecognized losses from 
adjustment to fair value 

 

Amortized 
cost 0-20% 20-40% Total 

Amortized 
cost 0-20% 20-40% Total 

 
In NIS millions 

Held-to-maturity bonds 
        Bonds and loans: 
        Of  foreign financial institutions -  -  -  -  34  1  -  1  

Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 161  1  -  1  272  3  -  3  

Of others abroad -  -  -  -  22  ⁽¹⁾-  -  ⁽¹⁾-  

Total held-to-maturity bonds 161  1  -  1  328  4  -  4  

 
Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

 
Less than 12 months More than 12 months 

  

Unrecognized losses from 
adjustment to fair value 

 

Unrecognized losses from 
adjustment to fair value 

 

Amortized 
cost 0-20% 20-40% Total 

Amortized 
cost 0-20% 20-40% Total 

 
In NIS millions 

Held-to-maturity bonds 
        Bonds and loans: 
        Of foreign governments 96  ⁽¹⁾-  -  ⁽¹⁾-  -  -  -  -  

Of  foreign financial institutions -  -  -  -  35  1  -  1  

Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 304  3  -  3  336  9  -  9  

Of others abroad 225  3  -  3  -  -  -  -  

Total held-to-maturity bonds 625  6  -  6  371  10  -  10  
Footnote: 

(1) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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5. SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

C. FAIR VALUE AND UNREALIZED LOSSES, ACCORDING TO THE LENGTH OF THE PERIOD AND RATE OF IMPAIRMENT OF 

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES WHICH ARE IN AN UNREALIZED LOSS POSITION- CONSOLIDATED  

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31,2017 

 
Less than 12 months More than 12 months 

  
Unrealized losses 

 
Unrealized losses 

 
Fair value 0-20% 20-40% Total Fair value 0-20% 20-40% Total 

 
In NIS millions 

Available for sale securities 
        Bonds and loans: 
        Of the Israeli Government 1,762  15  -  15  2,307  4  -  4  

Of foreign governments 275  1  -  1  -  -  -  -  

Of  Israeli financial institutions 18  ⁽¹⁾-  -  ⁽¹⁾-  -  -  -  -  

Of  foreign financial institutions 261  1  -  1  145  2  -  2  

Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 4,911  59  -  59  525  17  -  17  

Of others in Israel 42  ⁽¹⁾-  -  ⁽¹⁾-  20  1  -  1  

Of others abroad 140  2  -  2  45  ⁽¹⁾-  -  ⁽¹⁾-  

Total bonds 7,409  78  -  78  3,042  24  -  24  

Shares -  -  -  -  16  1  -  1  

Total available-for-sale securities 7,409  78  -  78  3,058  25  -  25  
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5. SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

C. FAIR VALUE AND UNREALIZED LOSSES, ACCORDING TO THE LENGTH OF THE PERIOD AND RATE OF IMPAIRMENT OF 

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES WHICH ARE IN AN UNREALIZED LOSS POSITION- CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31,2016 

 
Less than 12 months More than 12 months 

  
Unrealized losses 

 
Unrealized losses 

 
Fair value 0-20% 20-40% Total Fair value 0-20% 20-40% Total 

 
In NIS millions 

Available for sale securities 
        Bonds and loans: 
        Of the Israeli Government 3,295  7  -  7  -  -  -  -  

Of foreign governments 420  5  -  5  28  1  -  1  

Of Israeli financial institutions 139  2  -  2  -  -  -  -  

Of  foreign financial institutions 465  21  -  21  246  7  -  7  

Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 1,007  2  -  2  1,135  16  -  16  

Of others in Israel 82  1  -  1  -  -  -  -  

Of others abroad 337  8  -  8  8  ⁽¹⁾-  -  ⁽¹⁾-  

Total bonds 5,745  46  -  46  1,417  24  -  24  

Shares 4  ⁽¹⁾-  -  ⁽¹⁾-  17  1  -  1  

Total available-for-sale securities 5,749  46  -  46  1,434  25  -  25  
Footnote: 

(1) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

 
Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

 
Less than 12 months More than 12 months 

  
Unrealized losses 

 
Unrealized losses 

 
Fair value 0-20% 20-40% Total Fair value 0-20% 20-40% Total 

 
In NIS millions 

Available for sale securities 
        Bonds and loans: 
        Of the Israeli Government 7,714  28  -  28  -  -  -  -  

Of foreign governments 579  5  -  5  167  4  -  4  

Of  Israeli financial institutions 18  ⁽¹⁾-  -  ⁽¹⁾-  -  -  -  -  

Of  foreign financial institutions 370  3  -  3  113  3  -  3  

Mortgage-backed-securities (MBS) or Assets -
backed-securities (ABS) 4,962  58  -  58  592  20  -  20  

Of others in Israel 62  ⁽¹⁾-  -  ⁽¹⁾-  20  1  -  1  

Of others abroad 228  2  -  2  85  2  -  2  

Total bonds 13,933  96  -  96  977  30  -  30  

Shares 4  ⁽¹⁾-  -  ⁽¹⁾-  17  1  -  1  

Total available-for-sale securities 13,937  96  -  96  994  31  -  31  
Footnote: 

(1) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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5. SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 
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5. SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

G. ADDITIONAL DETAILS (CONSOLIDATED) REGARDING MORTGAGE AND ASSET BACKED SECURITIES 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31,2017 

 

Amortized 
cost 

Unrealized 
gains from 
adjustment 

to fair 
value⁽¹⁾ 

Unrealized 
losses 

from 
adjustment 

to fair 
value⁽¹⁾ Fair value 

 
In NIS millions 

1.Mortgage-backed securities (MBS): 
    Available-for-sale securities 
    A. Mortgage pass-through securities: 
    Securities guaranteed by GNMA 1,198  2  7  1,193  

Securities issued by FHLMC and FNMA         580  2  3  579  

Total mortgage-backed pass-through securities 1,778  4  10  1,772  

B. Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO, REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 
    Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA  5,313  5  66  5,252  

Total available-for-sale other mortgage-backed securities 5,313  5  66  5,252  

Total available-for-sale MBS securities 7,091  9  76  7,024  

Held-to-maturity securities 
    A. Mortgage pass-through securities: 
    Securities guaranteed by GNMA 27  2  -  29  

Securities issued by FHLMC and FNMA         18  1  -  19  

Total mortgage-backed pass-through securities 45  3  -  48  

B. Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO, REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 
    Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA  629  2  10  621  

Other mortgage-backed securities 2  ⁽²⁾-  -  2  

Total held-to-maturity other mortgage-backed securities 631  2  10  623  

Total held-to-maturity MBS securities 676  5  10  671  

Trading securities 
    A. Mortgage pass-through securities: 
    Securities issued by FHLMC and FNMA         ⁽²⁾-  ⁽²⁾-  -  -  

B. Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO, REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 
    Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA  54  ⁽²⁾-  1  53  

Total mortgage-backed trading securities (MBS) 54  -  1  53  

Total mortgage-backed securities (MBS) 7,821  14  87  7,748  

2. Asset-backed available-for-sale securities (ABS) 
    Collaterized bonds CLO 181  2  -  183  

Total asset-backed available-for-sale securities (ABS) 181  2  -  183  

Total mortgage and asset-backed securities 8,002  16  87  7,931  
Footnotes: 

(1) For available for sale securities-accumulated other comprehensive income. 

(2) Amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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5. SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

G. ADDITIONAL DETAILS (CONSOLIDATED) REGARDING MORTGAGE AND ASSET BACKED SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31,2016 

 

Amortized 
cost 

Unrecognized 
gains from 

adjustment to 
fair value⁽¹⁾ 

Unrecognized 
losses from 

adjustment to 
fair value⁽¹⁾ Fair value 

 
In NIS millions 

1.Mortgage-backed securities (MBS): 
    Available-for-sale securities 
    A. Mortgage pass-through securities: 
    Securities guaranteed by GNMA 1,612  12  1  1,623  

Securities issued by FHLMC and FNMA         728  14  -  742  

Total mortgage-backed pass-through securities 2,340  26  1  2,365  

B. Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO, REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 
    Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA  4,594  50  11  4,633  

Other mortgage-backed securities 19  -  2  17  

Total available-for-sale other mortgage-backed securities 4,613  50  13  4,650  

Total available-for-sale MBS securities 6,953  76  14  7,015  

Held-to-maturity securities 
    A. Mortgage pass-through securities: 
    Securities guaranteed by GNMA 35  2  -  37  

Securities issued by FHLMC and FNMA         24  2  -  26  

Total mortgage-backed pass-through securities 59  4  -  63  

B. Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO, REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 
    Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA  864  6  4  866  

Other mortgage-backed securities 36  5  -  41  

Total held-to-maturity other mortgage-backed securities 900  11  4  907  

Total held-to-maturity MBS securities 959  15  4  970  

Trading securities 
    A. Mortgage pass-through securities: 
    Securities issued by FHLMC and FNMA         1  ⁽²⁾-  -  1  

B. Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO, REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 
    Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA  56  1  ⁽²⁾-  57  

Total mortgage-backed trading securities (MBS) 57  1  -  58  

Total mortgage-backed securities (MBS) 7,969  92  18  8,043  

2. Asset-backed available-for-sale securities (ABS) 
    Collaterized bonds CLO 376  -  4  372  

Total asset-backed available-for-sale securities (ABS) 376  -  4  372  

Total mortgage and asset-backed securities 8,345  92  22  8,415  
Footnotes: 

(1) For available for sale securities-accumulated other comprehensive income. 

(2) Amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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5. SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

G. ADDITIONAL DETAILS (CONSOLIDATED) REGARDING MORTGAGE AND ASSET BACKED SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

 
Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

 

Amortized 
cost 

Unrealized 
gains from 
adjustment 

to fair 
value⁽¹⁾ 

Unrealized 
losses 

from 
adjustment 

to fair 
value⁽¹⁾ Fair value 

 
In NIS millions 

Mortgage-backed securities (MBS): 
    Available-for-sale securities 
    A. Mortgage pass-through securities: 
    Securities guaranteed by GNMA 1,344  4  4  1,344  

Securities issued by FHLMC and FNMA         640  3  3  640  

Total mortgage-backed pass-through securities 1,984  7  7  1,984  

B. Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO, REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 
    Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA  5,373  4  70  5,307  

Other mortgage-backed securities 5  -  1  4  

Total available-for-sale other mortgage-backed securities 5,378  4  71  5,311  

Total available-for-sale MBS securities 7,362  11  78  7,295  

Held-to-maturity securities 
    A. Mortgage pass-through securities: 
    Securities guaranteed by GNMA 30  2  -  32  

Securities issued by FHLMC and FNMA         20  2  -  22  

Total mortgage-backed pass-through securities 50  4  -  54  

B. Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO, REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 
    Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA  716  2  12  706  

Other mortgage-backed securities 13  1  -  14  

Total held-to-maturity other mortgage-backed securities 729  3  12  720  

Total held-to-maturity MBS securities 779  7  12  774  

Trading securities 
    A. Mortgage pass-through securities: 
    Securities issued by FHLMC and FNMA         1  ⁽²⁾-  -  1  

B. Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO, REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 
    Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA  61  ⁽²⁾-  1  60  

Total mortgage-backed trading securities (MBS) 62  -  1  61  

Total mortgage-backed securities (MBS) 8,203  18  91  8,130  

2. Asset-backed available-for-sale securities (ABS): 
    Bonds of the CLO type 385  3  -  388  

Total asset-backed available-for-sale securities (ABS)  385  3  -  388  

Total mortgage and asset-backed securities  8,588  21  91  8,518  
Footnotes: 

(1) For available for sale securities-accumulated other comprehensive income. 

(2) Amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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5. SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

H. ADDITIONAL DETAILS (CONSOLIDATED) REGARDING MORTGAGE AND ASSET BACKED SECURITIES 

ADDITIONAL DETAILS REGARDING MORTGAGE AND ASSET BACKED SECURITIES IN UNREALIZED LOSS POSITION:  

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2017 

 
Less than 12 months 12 months and over 

 

Fair  
value 

Unrealized 
losses 

Fair  
value 

Unrealized 
losses 

 
In NIS millions 

1.Mortgage-backed securities (MBS): 
    Available-for-sale securities 
    A. Mortgage pass-through securities 
    Securities guaranteed by GNMA  745  7  -  -  

Securities issued by FHLMC and FNMA         228  3  -  -  

Total mortgage-backed pass-through securities 973  10  -  -  

B. Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO,REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 
    Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA  3,938  49  525  17  

Total other mortgage-backed securities 3,938  49  525  17  

Total available-for-sale MBS securities 4,911  59  525  17  

Held-to-maturity securities 
    Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO,REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 
    Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA  266  2  286  8  

Total other mortgage-backed securities 266  2  286  8  

Total held-to-maturity MBS securities      266  2  286  8  

Trading securities 
    Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO,REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 
    Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA  38  1  ⁽¹⁾-  ⁽¹⁾-  

Total mortgage-backed trading securities (MBS) 38  1  -  -  

Total mortgage-backed securities (MBS) 5,215  62  811  25  
Footnote: 

(1) Amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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5. SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

H. ADDITIONAL DETAILS (CONSOLIDATED) REGARDING MORTGAGE AND ASSET BACKED SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

ADDITIONAL DETAILS REGARDING MORTGAGE AND ASSET BACKED SECURITIES IN UNREALIZED LOSS POSITION (CONTINUED):  

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2016 

 
Less than 12 months 12 months and over 

 

Fair  
value 

Unrealized 
losses 

Fair  
value 

Unrealized 
losses 

 
In NIS millions 

1.Mortgage-backed securities (MBS): 
    Available-for-sale securities 
    A.Mortgage pass through securities: 
    Securities guaranteed by GNMA 548  1  58  ⁽¹⁾-  

Total mortgage backed pass through securities 548  1  58  -  

B.Other mortgage backed securities (including CMO,REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 
    Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA  365  1  782  10  

Other MBS securities           -   --  17  2  

Total other mortgage backed securities 365  1  799  12  

Total available-for-sale MBS securities 913  2  857  12  

Held-to-maturity securities 
    Other mortgage backed securities (including CMO,REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 
    Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA  160  1  269  3  

Total other mortgage backed securities 160  1  269  3  

Total held-to-maturity MBS securities      160  1  269  3  

Trading securities 
    Other mortgage backed securities (including CMO,REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 
    Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA  14  ⁽¹⁾-  1  ⁽¹⁾-  

Total mortgage-backed trading securities (MBS) 14  -  1  -  

Total mortgage-backed securities (MBS) 1,087  3  1,127  15  

2. Asset-backed available-for-sale securities (ABS) 
    Collaterized bonds CLO 94  ⁽¹⁾-  278  4  

Total asset backed available-for-sale securities (ABS) 94  -  278  4  

Total mortgage and asset backed securities 1,181  3  1,405  19  
Footnote: 

(1) Amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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5. SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

H. ADDITIONAL DETAILS (CONSOLIDATED) REGARDING MORTGAGE AND ASSET BACKED SECURITIES (CONTINUED) 

ADDITIONAL DETAILS REGARDING MORTGAGE AND ASSET BACKED SECURITIES IN UNREALIZED LOSS POSITION (CONTINUED):  

 
Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

 
Less than 12 months 12 months and over 

 

Fair  
value 

Unrealized 
losses 

Fair  
value 

Unrealized 
losses 

 
In NIS millions 

Mortgage-Backed Securities (MBS): 
    Available-for-sale securities 
    A. Mortgage pass-through securities: 
    Securities guaranteed by GNMA  685  4  -  -  

Securities issued by FHLMC and FNMA         251  3  -  -  

Total mortgage-backed pass through securities 936  7  -  -  

B. Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO,REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 
    Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA  4,026  51  587  19  

Other MBS securities            -  -  5  1  

Total other mortgage-backed securities 4,026  51  592  20  

Total available-for-sale MBS securities 4,962  58  592  20  

Held-to-maturity securities 
    Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO,REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 
    Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA  301  3  327  9  

Total other mortgage-backed securities 301  3  327  9  

Total held-to-maturity MBS securities      301  3  327  9  

Trading securities 
    Other mortgage-backed securities (including CMO,REMIC and STRIPPED MBS): 
    Securities issued or guaranteed by FHLMC, FNMA and GNMA  43  1  1  ⁽¹⁾-  

Total mortgage-backed trading securities (MBS) 43  1  1  -  

Total mortgage-backed securities (MBS) 5,306  62  920  29  
Footnote: 

(1) Amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

I. INFORMATION REGARDING IMPAIRED BONDS - CONSOLIDATED 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 

March 31, 
2017 

March 31, 
2016 

December 
31, 2016 

 
In NIS millions 

Recorded amount of non accruing interest income impaired bonds 49  22  110  
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6. CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES 

 

1. DEBTS, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND THE BALANCE OF ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES - CONSOLIDATED 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2017 

 
Credit  to the public 

  

 
Commercial 

Private 
Individuals 

- Housing 
Loans 

Private 
Individuals 

- Other 
Loans Total 

Banks and 
Governments Total 

 
In NIS millions 

Recorded amount of debts: 
      Examined on a specific basis⁽¹⁾ 65,267  -  523  65,790  3,404  69,194  

Examined on a group basis: 
      The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the extent of 

arrears ⁽²⁾253  26,480  -  26,733  -  26,733  

Group - other ⁽²⁾25,444  67  27,514  53,025  1,929  54,954  

Total debts* 90,964  26,547  28,037  145,548  5,333  150,881  
       

* Of which: 
      Restructured troubled debts 1,905  -  45  1,950  -  1,950  

Other Impaired debts 670  -  20  690  -  690  

Total balance of impaired debts 2,575  -  65  2,640  -  2,640  

Debts in arrears of 90 days or more 54  283  72  409  -  409  

Other problematic debts 1,335  29  307  1,671  -  1,671  

Total Problematic debts 3,964  312  444  4,720  -  4,720  
       

Allowance for Credit Losses in respect of debts: 
      Examined on a specific basis⁽¹⁾ 1,107  -  11  1,118  -  1,118  

Examined on a group basis: 
      The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the extent of 

arrears ⁽³⁾3  ⁽³⁾170  -  173  -  173  

Group - other 364  -  434  798  ⁽⁴⁾-  798  

Total allowance for Credit Losses 1,474  170  445  2,089  ⁽⁴⁾-  2,089  

Of which: in respect of impaired debts 279  -  4  283  -  283  

Footnotes: 

(1) Including credit examined on a specific basis and found not to be impaired in an amount of NIS 66,580 million and the allowance in its respect in an amount of 
NIS 835 million computed on a group basis. 

(2) The balance of commercial debts includes housing loans in the amount of NIS 258 million, which are combined in the layout of transactions and collateral of 
commercial borrowers' business, or which were granted to acquisition groups, the projects being built by them are in the course of construction. 

(3) Includes the balance of allowance in excess of that required by the extent of arrears method, computed on a specific basis in amount of  NIS 3 million, 
computed on a group basis in amount of  NIS 98 million. 

(4) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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6. CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES 

(CONTINUED) 

1. DEBTS, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND THE BALANCE OF ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES - CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2016 

 
Credit  to the public 

  

 
Commercial 

Private 
Individuals 

- Housing 
Loans 

Private 
Individuals 

- Other 
Loans Total 

Banks and 
Governments Total 

 
In NIS millions 

Recorded amount of debts: 
      Examined on a specific basis⁽¹⁾ ⁽⁴⁾59,382  -  ⁽⁴⁾612  59,994  3,603  63,597  

Examined on a group basis: 
      The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the extent of 

arrears ⁽²⁾243  22,435  -  22,678  -  22,678  

Group - other ⁽²⁾⁽⁴⁾24,779  47  ⁽⁴⁾23,774  48,600  2,362  50,962  

Total debts* 84,404  22,482  24,386  131,272  5,965  137,237  
       

* Of which: 
      Restructured troubled debts 1,595  -  48  1,643  -  1,643  

Other Impaired debts 1,149  -  12  1,161  -  1,161  

Total balance of impaired debts 2,744  -  60  2,804  -  2,804  

Debts in arrears of 90 days or more 35  308  51  394  -  394  

Other problematic debts 1,021  32  224  1,277  -  1,277  

Total Problematic debts 3,800  340  335  4,475  -  4,475  
       

Allowance for Credit Losses in respect of debts: 
      Examined on a specific basis⁽¹⁾ ⁽⁴⁾1,202  -  ⁽⁴⁾11  1,213  1  1,214  

Examined on a group basis: 
      The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the extent of 

arrears ⁽³⁾2  ⁽³⁾168  -  170  -  170  

Group - other ⁽⁴⁾318  -  ⁽⁴⁾368  686  1  687  

Total allowance for Credit Losses 1,522  168  379  2,069  2  2,071  

Of which: in respect of impaired debts 482  -  2  484  -  484  

Footnotes: 

(1) Including credit examined on a specific basis and found not to be impaired in an amount of NIS 60,793 million and the allowance in its respect in an amount of 
NIS 730 million computed on a group basis. 

(2) The balance of commercial debts includes housing loans in the amount of NIS 248 million, which are combined in the layout of transactions and collateral of 
commercial borrowers' business, or which were granted to acquisition groups, the projects being built by them are in the course of construction. 

(3) Includes the balance of allowance in excess of that required by the extent of arrears method, computed on a specific basis in amount of  NIS 3 million, 
computed on a group basis in amount of  NIS 81 million. 

(4) Reclassified - improvement of the classification to examine routs in the data of a subsidiary company. 
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6. CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES 

(CONTINUED) 

1. DEBTS, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND THE BALANCE OF ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES - CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

 
Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

 
Credit  to the public 

  

 
Commercial 

Private 
Individuals 

- Housing 
Loans 

Private 
Individuals 

- Other 
Loans Total 

Banks and 
Governments Total 

 
In NIS millions 

Recorded amount of debts: 
      Examined on a specific basis⁽¹⁾ 63,292  -  482  63,774  4,024  67,798  

Examined on a group basis: 
      The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the extent of 

arrears ⁽²⁾261  25,696  -  25,957  -  25,957  

Group - other ⁽²⁾26,247  68  26,858  53,173  1,803  54,976  

Total debts* 89,800  25,764  27,340  142,904  5,827  148,731  
       

* Of which: 
      Restructured troubled debts 2,076  -  48  2,124  -  2,124  

Other Impaired debts 806  -  13  819  -  819  

Total balance of impaired debts 2,882  -  61  2,943  -  2,943  

Debts in arrears of 90 days or more 59  299  82  440  -  440  

Other problematic debts 1,366  29  294  1,689  -  1,689  

Total Problematic debts 4,307  328  437  5,072  -  5,072  
       

Allowance for Credit Losses in respect of debts: 
      Examined on a specific basis⁽¹⁾ 1,176  -  12  1,188  -  1,188  

Examined on a group basis: 
      The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the extent of 

arrears ⁽³⁾3  ⁽³⁾168  -  171  -  171  

Group - other 362  -  423  785  ⁽⁴⁾-  785  

Total allowance for Credit Losses 1,541  168  435  2,144  ⁽⁴⁾-  2,144  

Of which: in respect of impaired debts 386  -  3  389  -  389  

Footnotes: 

(1) Including credit examined on a specific basis and found not to be impaired in an amount of NIS 64,855 million and the allowance in its respect in an amount of 
NIS 799 million computed on a group basis. 

(2) The balance of commercial debts includes housing loans in the amount of NIS 266 million, which are combined in the layout of transactions and collateral of 
commercial borrowers' business, or which were granted to acquisition groups, the projects being built by them are in the course of construction. 

(3) Includes the balance of allowance in excess of that required by the extent of arrears method, computed on a specific basis in amount of  NIS 2 million, 
computed on a group basis in amount of  NIS 94 million. 

(4) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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6. CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES 

(CONTINUED) 

2. MOVEMENT IN THE BALANCE OF ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES - CONSOLIDATED 

 
Unaudited 

 
Credit  to the public 

  

 
Commercial 

Private 
Individuals 

- Housing 
Loans 

Private 
Individuals 

- Other 
Loans Total 

Banks and 
Governments Total 

 
In NIS millions 

 
Three months ended March 31, 2017 

Balance of allowance for credit losses, as at December 31, 2016 
(audited) 1,702  168  469  2,339  ⁽¹⁾-  2,339  

Expenses for credit loss 73  4  68  145  -  145  

Accounting write-offs (210) (2) (107) (319) -  (319) 

Collection of debts written-off in previous years 77  -  49  126  -  126  

Net accounting write-offs (133) (2) (58) (193) -  (193) 

Financial statements translation adjustments (14) -  (1) (15) -  (15) 

Balance of allowance for credit losses, as at March 31, 
2017 1,628  170  478  2,276  ⁽¹⁾-  2,276  

Of which: In respect of off-balance sheet credit instruments 154  -  33  187  -  187  
       

 
Three months ended March 31, 2016 

Balance of allowance for credit losses, as at December 31, 2015 
(audited) 1,675  176  407  2,258  3  2,261  

Expenses (expenses reversal ) for credit loss 14  4  29  47  (1) 46  

Accounting write-offs (91) (9) (72) (172) -  (172) 

Collection of debts written-off in previous years 78  -  48  126  -  126  

Net accounting write-offs (13) (9) (24) (46) -  (46) 

Financial statements translation adjustments (9) -  -  (9) -  (9) 

Balance of allowance for credit losses, as at March 31, 
2016 1,667  171  412  2,250  2  2,252  

Of which: In respect of off-balance sheet credit instruments 145  3  33  181  -  181  
Footnote: 

(1) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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7. DEPOSITS FROM THE PUBLIC 

A. TYPE OF DEPOSITS ACCORDING TO LOCATION OF RAISING THE DEPOSIT AND TYPE OF DEPOSITOR 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
March 31 December 31 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
In NIS millions 

In Israel 
   Demand deposits: 
   Non-interest bearing 31,174  30,681  32,673  

Interest bearing 30,394  28,049  30,957  

Total demand deposits 61,568  58,730  63,630  

Time deposits 85,378  77,410  82,268  

Total deposits in Israel* 146,946  136,140  145,898  

* Of which: 
   Private individuals deposits 83,391  80,714  83,717  

Institutional bodies deposits 14,960  11,498  13,185  

Corporations and others deposits 48,595  43,928  48,996  

Outside Israel 
   Demand deposits: 
   Non-interest bearing 4,137  ⁽¹⁾4,376  4,489  

Interest bearing 13,185  ⁽¹⁾13,289  13,499  

Total demand deposits 17,322   17,665  17,988  

Time deposits 7,374  ⁽²⁾7,828  8,432  

Total deposits outside Israel 24,696  25,493  26,420  

Total deposits from the public 171,642  161,633  172,318  
Notes: 

(1) Not including balances classified as assets and liabilities held for sale. 

(2) Reclassified - see Note 1 G (2). 

 

B. DEPOSITS FROM THE PUBLIC ACCORDING TO SIZE, ON A CONSOLIDATED BASIS 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
March 31 December 31 

 
2017 2016 2016 

Deposit limit Balance 

In NIS millions In NIS millions 

Up to 1 65,855  ⁽¹⁾62,792  65,085  

Over 1 up to 10 48,511  ⁽¹⁾46,974  49,980  

Over 10 up to 100 24,218  ⁽¹⁾22,951  24,462  

Over 100 up to 500 15,850  16,809  19,998  

Over 500 17,208  12,107  12,793  

Total 171,642  161,633  172,318  
Note: 

 (1) Reclassified - see Note 1 G (2). 
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8. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS  

A. DETAILS REGARDING THE BENEFITS 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
March 31 December 31 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Severance pay: 
   The liability amount 3,334  3,601  3,367  

Fair value of the program's assets 2,029  2,280  2,052  

Excess liabilities included in the other liabilities item 1,305  1,321  1,315  

Amount  that included in the other liabilities item: 
   Long-service ("jubilee") awards 334  448  352  

Post retirement benefits to retirees 703  808  715  

Vacation 158  169  142  

Illness 6  7  7  

Total Excess liabilities included in the other liabilities item 2,506  2,753  2,531  

Of which – in respect of benefits to employees abroad 47  104  56  

B. DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN 

1. COMMITMENT AND FINANCING STATUS 

1.1 CHANGE IN COMMITMENT IN RESPECT OF ANTICIPATED BENEFITS 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
For the three months ended March 31, 

For the year ended 
December 31, 

 
2017 2016 2017 2016 2016 

 

Severance pay, retirement 
and pension 

Post retirement retiree 
benefits 

Severance 
pay, 

retirement 
and pension 

Post 
retirement 

retiree 
benefits 

 
in NIS millions 

Commitment in respect of anticipated benefits at the 
beginning of the year 3,367  3,420  715  762  3,420  762  

Cost of service 18  34  1  1  89  7  

Cost of interest 26  30  7  8  106  31  

Actuarial loss (profit) (11) 173  (11) 45  504  (35) 

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates (9) (7) (2) (1) (3) (1) 

Benefits paid (57) (49) (7) (7) (697) (45) 

Reductions -  -  -  -  (52) (4) 

Commitment at the end of the period in 
respect of anticipated benefits 3,334  3,601  703  808  3,367  715  

Commitment at the end of the period in 
respect of accumulated benefits⁽¹⁾ 2,839  2,901  703  808  2,870  715  
Footnote: 

  (1) The obligation in respect of a cumulative benefit differs from the obligation in respect of a contractual benefit in that it does not 
include any assumptions with regard to the future remuneration levels. 
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8. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 

B. DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN (CONTINUED) 

1. COMMITMENT AND FINANCING STATUS (CONTINUED) 

1.2 CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF THE PLAN'S ASSETS AND FINANCING STATUS OF THE PLAN 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 

For the three months ended 
March 31, 

For the year 
ended 

December 31 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
Severance pay, retirement and pension 

 
in NIS millions 

Fair value of the program's assets at the beginning of the period 2,052  2,307  2,307  

Actual return on the program's assets 30  2  60  

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates (9) (5) (2) 

Deposits by the Bank to the plan 6  8  37  

Benefits paid (50) (32) (350) 

Fair value of the program's assets at the end of the  period 2,029  2,280  2,052  

Financing status - liability, net, recognized at the end of the period (1,305) (1,321) (1,315) 

 

1.3 AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED IN THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
March 31 December 31 

 
2017 2016 2017 2016 2016 

 

Severance pay, retirement 
and pension 

Post retirement retiree 
benefits 

Severance 
pay, 

retirement 
and pension 

Post 
retirement 

retiree 
benefits 

 
in NIS millions 

Net liability recognized  in the item "other 
liabilities" at the end of the  period 1,305  1,321  703  808  1,315  715  

1.4 AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED IN ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, BEFORE TAX EFFECT 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
March 31 December 31 

 
2017 2016 2017 2016 2016 

 

Severance pay, retirement 
and pension 

Post retirement retiree 
benefits 

Severance 
pay, 

retirement 
and pension 

Post 
retirement 

retiree 
benefits 

 
in NIS millions 

Actuarial loss, net (627) (482) (57) (148) (658) (68) 

Net liability in respect of the transition⁽¹⁾ (41) (125) -  (10) (52) -  

Net cost (credit) in respect of prior service -  (2) 6  7  -  6  

Closing balances of accumulated other 
comprehensive income (668) (609) (51) (151) (710) (62) 
Footnote: 

  (1) Stems from the change in the discount rate in calculating the provisions in respect of employee rights, at date of the initial 
implementation of the directives. 
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8. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 

B. DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN (CONTINUED) 

1. COMMITMENT AND FINANCING STATUS (CONTINUED) 

1.5 PLANS IN WHICH THE COMMITMENT IN RESPECT OF CUMULATIVE BENEFITS EXCEEDS THE PLAN'S ASSETS 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
March 31 December 31 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
Severance pay, retirement and pension 

 
in NIS millions 

Commitment in respect of anticipated benefits 3,191  3,469  3,228  

Commitment in respect of cumulative benefits 2,723  2,788  2,758  

Fair value of the program's assets 1,892  2,150  1,919  

 

1.6 PLANS IN WHICH THE COMMITMENT IN RESPECT OF ANTICIPATED BENEFITS EXCEEDS THE PLAN'S ASSETS 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
March 31 December 31 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
Severance pay, retirement and pension 

 
in NIS millions 

Commitment in respect of anticipated benefits 3,335  3,601  3,367  

Fair value of the program's assets 2,029  2,280  2,051  
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8. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 

B. DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN (CONTINUED) 

2. EXPENSE FOR THE PERIOD 

2.1 COMPONENTS OF NET BENEFIT COSTS RECOGNIZED IN THE STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS IN RESPECT OF DEFINED BENEFITS PENSION 

PLANS AND A DEFINED DEPOSIT 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 

For the three months 
ended March 31, 

For the year 
ended 

December 

 
2017 2016 2017 

 
in NIS millions 

Severance pay, retirement and pension payments 
   Cost of service 18  34  89  

Cost of interest 26  30  106  

Anticipated return on assets of the plan (19) (19) (77) 

Amortization of unrecognized amounts: 
   Net actuarial loss 13  5  40  

Cost of prior service -  ⁽¹⁾-  1  

Total amortization of unrecognized amounts 13  5  41  

Other, including loss from reduction or settlement 9  -  ⁽²⁾143  

Total net cost of benefits 47  50  302  

Total expense regarding defined deposits pension plans 45  37  153  

Total expenses included in respect Severance pay, retirement and pension 
payments 92  87  455  
    

Severance pay, retirement and pension payments 
   Cost of service 1  1  7  

Cost of interest 7  8  31  

Amortization of unrecognized amounts: 
   Net actuarial loss 1  2  9  

Cost of prior service ⁽¹⁾-  ⁽¹⁾-  (1) 

Total amortization of unrecognized amounts 1  2  8  

Other, including income from reduction or settlement -  -  (1) 

Total net cost of benefits 9  11  45  

Total expenses included in respect Severance pay, retirement and pension 
payments 101  98  500  
Footnotes: 

(1) Amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

(2) Of which settlement NIS 141 million. 
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8. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 

B. DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN (CONTINUED) 

2. EXPENSE FOR THE PERIOD (CONTINUED) 

2.2 CHANGES IN ASSETS OF THE PLAN AND IN THE COMMITMENT FOR BENEFITS RECOGNIZED IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS), 

BEFORE TAX EFFECT 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
For the three months ended March 31, 

For the year ended 
December, 31 

 
2017 2016 2017 2016 2016 

 

Severance pay, 
retirement and 

pension payments 
Post retirement 
retiree benefits 

Severance 
pay, 

retirement 
and 

pension 
payments 

Post 
retirement 

retiree 
benefits 

 
in NIS millions 

Net actuarial loss (profit) for the year (11) 190  (11) 45  542  (29) 

Amortization of actuarial loss (13) (5) (1) (2) (40) (9) 

Amortization of credit (cost) in respect of prior service -  ⁽¹⁾-  ⁽¹⁾-  ⁽¹⁾-  (1) 1  

Amortization of net liability in respect of the transition (11) -  -  -  (73) (10) 

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates 2  (1) 1  ⁽¹⁾-  ⁽¹⁾-  ⁽¹⁾-  

Other, including loss (profit) from reduction or settlement (9) -  -  -  (143) 1  

Total recognized in other comprehensive loss (income) (42) 184  (11) 43  285  (46) 

Total net cost of benefits⁽²⁾ 47  50  9  11  302  45  

Total amount recognized in net cost of benefits and in other 
comprehensive income 5  234  (2) 54  587  (1) 
Footnotes: 

(1) Amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

(2) See item 2.1 above. 

2.3 ESTIMATE OF AMOUNTS INCLUDED IN ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME EXPECTED TO BE AMORTIZED FROM ACCUMULATED 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME TO THE STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS DURING THE BALANCE OF 2017 AS AN EXPENSE (INCOME), BEFORE 

TAX EFFECT 

 
Unaudited 

 

Severance 
pay, 

retirement 
and pension 

Post 
retirement 

retiree 
benefits 

 
in NIS millions 

Net actuarial loss 36  3  

Reduction 24  -  

Net cost in respect of prior service -  (1) 

Total amount expected to be amortized from other comprehensive income 60  2  
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8. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 

B. DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN (CONTINUED) 

3. ASSUMPTIONS 

3.1 ASSUMPTIONS ON THE BASIS OF A WEIGHTED AVERAGE USED IN DETERMINING THE COMMITMENT IN RESPECT OF THE BENEFIT AND IN 

MEASURING THE NET COST OF THE BENEFIT 

 
Unaudited Audited Unaudited Audited 

 
March 31 December 31 March 31 December 31 

 
2017 2016 2016 2017 2016 2016 

 
Severance pay, retirement and pension Post retirement retiree benefits 

Discount rate 1.68%-2.28% 1.48%-2.11% 1.66%-2.22% 1.18%-2.41% 1.15%-2.18% 1.32%-2.32% 

 
Unaudited Audited Unaudited Audited 

 
March 31 December 31 March 31 December 31 

 
2017 2016 2016 2017 2016 2016 

 

Severance pay, retirement and 
pension Post retirement retiree benefits 

Discount rate 
1.66%-
2.22% 

1.76%-
2.49% 1.32%-2.49% 

1.32%-
2.32% 

1.45%-
2.59% 1.07%-2.59% 

3.2 EFFECT OF A ONE PERCENTAGE POINT CHANGE ON THE COMMITMENT FOR ANTICIPATED BENEFITS, BEFORE THE TAX EFFECT 

 
Unaudited Audited Unaudited Audited Unaudited Audited Unaudited Audited 

 
Increase of one percentage point Decrease of one percentage point 

 

Severance pay, 
retirement and pension 

Post retirement retiree 
benefits 

Severance pay, 
retirement and pension 

Post retirement retiree 
benefits 

 
March 31 

December 
31 March 31 

December 
31 March 31 

December 
31 March 31 

December 
31 

 
2017 2016 2016 2017 2016 2016 2017 2016 2016 2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Discount rate (294) (290) (329) (45) (84) (48) 294  290  341  45  84  49  

 

4. CASH FLOW 

4.1 DEPOSITS 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
Forecast⁽¹⁾ Actual deposits 

  

For the three months 
ended March 31, 

For the year 
ended 

December, 
31 

 
2017 2017 2016 2016 

 
Severance pay, retirement and pension payments 

 
in NIS millions 

deposits 21  6  8  37  
Footnote: 

 (1) Assessment of expected deposits with defined benefit pension plans during balance in 2017. 
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9. CAPITAL ADEQUACY, LEVERAGE AND LIQUIDITY IN ACCORDANCE WITH DIRECTIVES 

OF THE SUPERVISOR OF BANKS 

 

E. CAPITAL FOR CALCULATING RATIO OF CAPITAL  

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
March 31, December 31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Common equity tier 1 after deductions ⁽¹⁾15,157  13,596  ⁽¹⁾15,036  

Additional tier 1 capital after deductions 890  1,068  1,068  

Tier 1 capital 16,047  14,664  16,104  

Tier 2 capital after deductions 5,588  5,205  5,020  

Total capital 21,635  19,869  21,124  
Footnote: 

(1) See item "D" above. 

F. WEIGHTED RISK ASSETS BALANCE  

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
March 31, December 31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Credit risk ⁽¹⁾139,360  128,497  ⁽¹⁾137,393  

Market Risk 3,127  3,129  2,483  

CVA risk 1,277  1,019  942  

Operational risk 12,135  12,192  12,072  

Total weighted risk assets balance 155,899  144,837  152,890  
Footnote: 

(1) The total weighted balances of the risk assets have been reduced by NIS 82 million (December 31,2016:NIS 64 million) due to adjustments in respect to the 
efficiency plan. 
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9. CAPITAL ADEQUACY, LEVERAGE AND LIQUIDITY IN ACCORDANCE WITH DIRECTIVES 

OF THE SUPERVISOR OF BANKS (CONTINUED)   

G. RATIO OF CAPITAL RISK ASSETS 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
March 31, December 31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
In % 

A. Consolidated 
   Ratio of common equity tier 1 to risk assets 9.7  9.4  9.8  

Ratio of total capital to risk assets 13.9  13.7  13.8  

Ratio of minimum common equity tier 1 required by the Supervisor of Banks ⁽⁴⁾9.2  ⁽⁴⁾9.1  ⁽⁴⁾9.2  

Minimum total capital adequacy ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks ⁽⁴⁾12.7  ⁽⁴⁾12.6  ⁽⁴⁾12.7  

B. Significant subsidiaries 
   1. Mercantile Discount Bank LTD. and its consolidated companies 
   Ratio of common equity tier 1 to risk assets 10.7  10.4  10.9  

Ratio of total capital to risk assets 13.4  13.4  13.8  

Ratio of minimum common equity tier 1 required by the Supervisor of Banks ⁽⁵⁾9.2  ⁽⁵⁾9.1  ⁽⁵⁾9.2  

Minimum total capital adequacy ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks ⁽⁵⁾12.7  ⁽⁵⁾12.6  ⁽⁵⁾12.7  

2. Discount Bakcorp Inc. ⁽¹⁾ 
   Ratio of common equity tier 1 to risk assets 13.3  13.0  13.1  

Ratio of total capital to risk assets 14.4  14.0  14.2  

Ratio of minimum common equity tier 1 required in accordance with local regulation ⁽²⁾4.5  ⁽²⁾4.5  ⁽²⁾4.5  

Minimum total capital adequacy ratio required in accordance with local regulation ⁽²⁾8.0  ⁽²⁾8.0  ⁽²⁾8.0  

3. Israel Credit Cards LTD. 
   Ratio of common equity tier 1 to risk assets 14.1  13.9  14.4  

Ratio of total capital to risk assets 15.4  15.4  15.8  

Ratio of minimum common equity tier 1 required by the Supervisor of Banks 9.0  9.0  9.0  

Minimum total capital adequacy ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks ⁽³⁾12.5  ⁽³⁾12.5  ⁽³⁾12.5  
Footnotes: 

(1) The data in this item was computed in accordance with the rules mandatory in the U.S.A. 

(2) Beginning on January 1, 2015, IDB Bank  became subject to new Basle III capital rules based on the final rules published by the FRB. Capital ratios as of 
January 1, 2015 are as follows:  4.5% CET1 to risk-weighted assets;  6.0% Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets; and  8.0% Total capital to risk-weighted 
assets. 

(3) In view of the approach by the Supervisor of Banks, ICC is required to maintain a total capital ratio of not less than 15%, starting from December 31, 2010. 

(4) With an addition of  0.17% (March 31, 2016: 0.08% ,December 31, 2016: 0.15%), in accordance with the additional capital requirements with respect to 
housing loans - see item 1 (b) above. 

(5) With an addition of 0.18% (March 31, 2016: 0.08% ,December 31, 2016: 0.16%), in accordance with the additional capital requirements with respect to 
housing loans - see item 1 (b) above. 



 

 

 

 

122 

Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

9. CAPITAL ADEQUACY, LEVERAGE AND LIQUIDITY IN ACCORDANCE WITH DIRECTIVES 

OF THE SUPERVISOR OF BANKS (CONTINUED)   

H. CAPITAL COMPONENTS FOR CALCULATING RATIO OF CAPITAL 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
March 31, 

December 
31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

A. Tier 1 capital 
   Common equity 15,185  13,627  14,936  

Difference between common equity and common equity tier 1 (49) 115  104  

Total common equity tier 1 before supervisory adjustments and deductions 15,136  13,742  15,040  

Supervisory adjustments and deductions 
   Goodwill and other intangible assets 160  142  160  

Deferred tax assets -  1  -  

Supervisory adjustments and other deductions 5  3  2  

Total supervisory adjustments and deductions 165  146  162  

Total adjustments in respect to the efficiency plan 186   --  158  

Total common equity tier 1 after supervisory adjustments and deductions 15,157  13,596  15,036  

B. Additional tier 1 capital 
   Additional tier 1 capital before deductions 890  1,068  1,068  

Total additional tier 1 capital after deductions 890  1,068  1,068  

C. Tier 2 capital 
   Instruments before deductions 3,830  3,655  3,301  

Provision before deductions 1,758  1,550  1,719  

Total tier 2 capital before deductions 5,588  5,205  5,020  

Deductions -   --  -  

Total tier 2 capital 5,588  5,205  5,020  



FIRST QUARTER OF 2017 Financial Statements 
 

 

123 

9. CAPITAL ADEQUACY, LEVERAGE AND LIQUIDITY IN ACCORDANCE WITH DIRECTIVES 

OF THE SUPERVISOR OF BANKS (CONTINUED)   

I. THE EFFECT OF THE TRANSITIONAL INSTRUCTIONS ON THE RATIO OF COMMON EQUITY TIER 1 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
March 31, December 31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
In % 

Ratio of common equity tier 1 to risk assets before applying the effect of the transition 
provisions in Directive 299⁽¹⁾ and before the effect of the adjustments in respect to the 
efficiency plan 9.5  9.2  9.5  

Effect of the provisional instructions 0.1  0.2  0.2  

Ratio of common equity tier 1 to risk assets after applying the effect of the transition 
provisions in Directive 299⁽¹⁾ and before the effect of the adjustments in respect to the 
efficiency plan 9.6  9.4  9.7  

Effect of the adjustments in respect to the efficiency plan 0.1   --   0.1  

Ratio of common equity tier 1 to risk assets after applying the effect of the transition 
provisions in Directive 299⁽¹⁾ and after the effect of the adjustments in respect to the 
efficiency plan 9.7  9.4  9.8  
Footnote: 

(1) Including the effect of adopting the U.S. GAAP in the matter of employee rights. 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
March 31, December 31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

A. Consolidated 
   Tier 1 capital ⁽¹⁾16,047  ⁽¹⁾14,664  ⁽¹⁾16,104  

Total exposures  243,731  228,659  243,900  
    

 
In % 

Leverage ratio 6.6  6.4  6.6  

Leverage ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks 5.0  5.0  5.0  

B. Significant subsidiaries 
   1. Mercantile Discount Bank LTD. and its consolidated companies 
   Leverage ratio 6.6  6.6  6.6  

Leverage ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks 5.0  5.0  5.0  

2. Discount Bakcorp Inc. 
   Leverage ratio 9.7  9.5  9.6  

Leverage ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks 4.0  4.0  4.0  

3. Israel Credit Cards LTD. 
   Leverage ratio 9.7  9.3  10.1  

Leverage ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks 5.0  5.0  5.0  
Footnote: 

(1) For the effect of the transition provisions and the effect of the adjustments in respect to the efficiency plan, see item H,I. 
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9. CAPITAL ADEQUACY, LEVERAGE AND LIQUIDITY IN ACCORDANCE WITH DIRECTIVES 

OF THE SUPERVISOR OF BANKS (CONTINUED)   

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
For the three months ended 

 
March 31, December 31, 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
In % 

A. Consolidated 
   Liquidity coverage ratio 150.8  133.9  146.5  

Liquidity coverage ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks 100.0  100.0  100.0  

B. The Bank 
   Liquidity coverage ratio 178.2  158.7  178.1  

Liquidity coverage ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks 100.0  100.0  100.0  

C. Significant subsidiaries(1) 
   Mercantile Discount Bank LTD. and its consolidated companies 
   Liquidity coverage ratio 150.1  121.7  142.1  

Liquidity coverage ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks 100.0  100.0  100.0  
Footnotes: 

(1) The new directive does not apply to credit card companies and thus data relating to ICC are not presented. 
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10. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND SPECIAL COMMITMENTS  

A. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND OTHER SPECIAL COMMITMENTS 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
March 31 

December 
31 

 
2017 2016 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

1. Long-term lease contracts - rent payable in future years: 
   First year 104  117  114  

Second year 92  109  103  

Third year 75  91  84  

Fourth year 54  72  63  

Fifth year 47  58  56  

Sixth year and thereafter 223  277  242  

Total 595  724  662  

2. Commitment to acquire buildings and equipment 49  56  70  

3. Commitment to invest in private investment funds and in venture capital funds 476  451  519  
 

 

 

B. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND OTHER SPECIAL COMMITMENTS 
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10. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND SPECIAL COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 

B. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND OTHER SPECIAL COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 
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10. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND SPECIAL COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 

B. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND OTHER SPECIAL COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 
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10. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND SPECIAL COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 

B. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND OTHER SPECIAL COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 
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11. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS ACTIVITY - VOLUME, CREDIT RISK AND DUE DATES  

A. VOLUME OF ACTIVITY ON A CONSOLIDATED BASIS  

1. PAR VALUE OF DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS(3) 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2017 

 
Interest rate contracts 

    

 
Shekel/CPI Other 

Foreign 
currency 
contracts 

Contracts 
on shares 

Commodities 
and other 
contracts Total 

 
in NIS millions 

A. Hedging derivatives⁽¹⁾ 
      Swaps -  2,391  -  -  -  2,391  

Total -  2,391  -  -  -  2,391  

Of which: interest rate swap contracts, where the banking 
corporation agreed to pay a fixed interest rate -  2,391  

    B. ALM derivatives⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾ 
      Futures contracts -  -  -  -  -  -  

Forward contracts 7,104  -  620  -  -  7,724  

Marketable option contracts 
          Options written -  -  -  -  -  -  

    Options purchased -  -  -  -  -  -  

Other option contracts 
          Options written -  -  -  -  -  -  

    Options purchased -  -  7  -  -  7  

Swaps 203  11,691  18,987  -  -  30,881  

Total 7,307  11,691  19,614  -  -  38,612  

Of which: interest rate swap contracts, where the banking 
corporation agreed to pay a fixed interest rate 203  6,788  

    C. Other derivatives⁽¹⁾ 
      Futures contracts -  421  -  84  6  511  

Forward contracts 3,883  700  12,299  -  5  16,887  

Marketable option contracts 
          Options written -  -  2,768  4,493  -  7,261  

    Options purchased -  -  2,760  4,493  -  7,253  

Other option contracts 
          Options written -  2,795  8,463  588  30  11,876  

    Options purchased -  2,513  8,165  596  32  11,306  

Swaps -  74,621  33,564  -  -  108,185  

Total 3,883  81,050  68,019  10,254  73  163,279  

Of which: interest rate swap contracts, where the banking 
corporation agreed to pay a fixed interest rate -  33,990  

    D. Credit derivatives and SPOT foreign currency swap 
contracts 

      SPOT foreign currency swap contracts 
  

1,815  
   Footnotes: 

(1) Excluding credit derivatives and SPOT foreign currency swap contracts. 

(2) Derivatives comprising a part of the Bank's asset and liability management system, which were not designated for hedging relations. 

(3) For details regarding the change in presentation format, see Note 1 D above. 
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11. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS ACTIVITY - VOLUME, CREDIT RISK AND DUE DATES 

(CONTINUED) 

A. VOLUME OF ACTIVITY ON A CONSOLIDATED BASIS (CONTINUED) 

1. PAR VALUE OF DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS(3) (CONTINUED) 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2016 

 
Interest rate contracts 

    

 
Shekel/CPI Other 

Foreign 
currency 
contracts 

Contracts 
on shares 

Commodities 
and other 
contracts Total 

 
in NIS millions 

A. Hedging derivatives⁽¹⁾ 
      Swaps -  3,640  -  -  -  3,640  

Total -  3,640  -  -  -  3,640  

Of which: interest rate swap contracts, where the banking 
corporation agreed to pay a fixed interest rate -  3,640  

    B. ALM derivatives⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾ 
      Futures contracts -  780  -  -  -  780  

Forward contracts 8,345  7,700  18,587  -  -  34,632  

Marketable option contracts 
      Options written -  -  1,899  -  -  1,899  

Options purchased -  -  1,886  -  -  1,886  

Other option contracts 
      Options written -  1,620  9,395  -  -  11,015  

Options purchased -  44  8,789  ⁽⁴⁾-  -  8,833  

Swaps 223  73,705  65,035  -  -  138,963  

Total 8,568  83,849  105,591  -  -  198,008  

Of which: interest rate swap contracts, where the banking 
corporation agreed to pay a fixed interest rate 223  37,502  

    C. Other derivatives⁽¹⁾ 
      Futures contracts -  35  -  -  22  57  

Forward contracts -  -  2,907  -  -  2,907  

Marketable option contracts 
      Options written -  -  6  6,585  -  6,591  

Options purchased -  -  6  6,585  -  6,591  

Other option contracts 
      Options written -  44  482  537  28  1,091  

Options purchased -  51  481  544  29  1,105  

Swaps -  6,337  -  -  -  6,337  

Total -  6,467  3,882  14,251  79  24,679  

Of which: interest rate swap contracts, where the banking 
corporation agreed to pay a fixed interest rate -  3,134  

    D. Credit derivatives and SPOT foreign currency swap 
contracts 

      SPOT foreign currency swap contracts 
  

7,793  
   Footnotes: 

(1) Excluding credit derivatives and SPOT foreign currency swap contracts. 

(2) Derivatives comprising a part of the Bank's asset and liability management system, which were not designated for hedging relations. 

(3) For details regarding the change in presentation format, see Note 1 D above. 

(4) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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11. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS ACTIVITY - VOLUME, CREDIT RISK AND DUE DATES 

(CONTINUED) 

A. VOLUME OF ACTIVITY ON A CONSOLIDATED BASIS (CONTINUED) 

1. PAR VALUE OF DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS(3) (CONTINUED) 

 
Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

 
Interest rate contracts 

    

 
Shekel/CPI Other 

Foreign 
currency 
contracts 

Contracts 
on shares 

Commodities 
and other 
contracts Total 

 
in NIS millions 

A. Hedging derivatives⁽¹⁾ 
      Swaps -  3,599  -  -  -  3,599  

Total -  3,599  -  -  -  3,599  

Of which: interest rate swap contracts, where the banking 
corporation agreed to pay a fixed interest rate -  3,599  

    B. ALM derivatives⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾ 
      Futures contracts -  385  -  -  -  385  

Forward contracts 10,237  400  11,072  -  -  21,709  

Marketable option contracts 
          Options written -  -  1,406  -  -  1,406  

    Options purchased -  -  1,433  -  -  1,433  

Other option contracts 
          Options written -  2,375  6,237  -  -  8,612  

    Options purchased -  1,120  6,220  -  -  7,340  

Swaps 228  76,312  58,468  -  -  135,008  

Total 10,465  80,592  84,836  -  -  175,893  

Of which: interest rate swap contracts, where the banking 
corporation agreed to pay a fixed interest rate 228  37,576  

    C. Other derivatives⁽¹⁾ 
      Futures contracts -  45  -  90  9  144  

Forward contracts -  -  2,477  -  -  2,477  

Marketable option contracts 
          Options written -  -  4  6,998  -  7,002  

    Options purchased -  -  4  6,998  -  7,002  

Other option contracts 
          Options written -  74  295  616  32  1,017  

    Options purchased -  85  288  625  33  1,031  

Swaps -  7,849  -  -  -  7,849  

Total -  8,053  3,068  15,327  74  26,522  

Of which: interest rate swap contracts, where the banking 
corporation agreed to pay a fixed interest rate -  3,890  

    D. Credit derivatives and SPOT foreign currency swap 
contracts 

      SPOT foreign currency swap contracts 
  

2,051  
   Footnotes: 

(1) Excluding credit derivatives and SPOT foreign currency swap contracts. 

(2) Derivatives comprising a part of the Bank's asset and liability management system, which were not designated for hedging relations. 

(3) For details regarding the change in presentation format, see Note 1 D above. 
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11. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS ACTIVITY - VOLUME, CREDIT RISK AND DUE DATES 

(CONTINUED) 

A. VOLUME OF ACTIVITY ON A CONSOLIDATED BASIS (CONTINUED) 

2. GROSS FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS(5) 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2017 

 
Interest rate contracts 

    

 
Shekel/CPI Other 

Foreign 
currency 
contracts 

Contracts 
on shares 

Commodities 
and other 
contracts Total 

 
in NIS millions 

A. Hedging derivatives 
      Positive gross fair value -  41  -  -  -  41  

Negative gross fair value -  23  -  -  -  23  

B. ALM derivatives⁽¹⁾ 
      Positive gross fair value 67  105  206  -  -  378  

Negative gross fair value 106  227  618  -  -  951  

C. Other derivatives 
      Positive gross fair value 108  1,343  796  392  ⁽⁴⁾-  2,639  

Negative gross fair value 72  1,392  838  391  ⁽⁴⁾-  2,693  

D.Total 
      Positive gross fair value⁽²⁾ 175  1,489  1,002  392  -  3,058  

Amounts of fair value offset in the balance sheet -  -  -  -  -  -  

Balance sheet balance of assets stemming from 
derivative instruments⁽²⁾ 175  1,489  1,002  392  -  3,058  

Of which: Balance sheet balance of assets in respect of 
derivative instruments not subject to net settlement 
arrangement or similar arrangements ⁽⁴⁾-  -  53  369  ⁽⁴⁾-  422  

Negative gross fair value ⁽³⁾ 178  1,642  1,456  391  -  3,667  

Amounts of fair value offset in the balance sheet -  -  -  -  -  -  

Balance sheet balance of liabilities stemming from 
derivative instruments⁽³⁾ 178  1,642  1,456  391  -  3,667  

Of which: Balance sheet balance of liabilities in respect of 
derivative instruments not subject to net settlement 
arrangement or similar arrangements -  -  91  369  ⁽⁴⁾-  460  
For footnotes see page 134. 
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11. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS ACTIVITY - VOLUME, CREDIT RISK AND DUE DATES 

(CONTINUED) 

A. VOLUME OF ACTIVITY ON A CONSOLIDATED BASIS (CONTINUED) 

2. GROSS FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS(5) (CONTINUED) 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2016 

 
Interest rate contracts 

    

 
Shekel/CPI Other 

Foreign 
currency 
contracts 

Contracts 
on shares 

Commodities 
and other 
contracts Total 

 
in NIS millions 

A. Hedging derivatives 
      Positive gross fair value -  -  -  -  -  -  

Negative gross fair value -  145  -  -  -  145  

B. ALM derivatives⁽¹⁾ 
      Positive gross fair value 199  1,959  1,289  ⁽⁴⁾-  -  3,447  

Negative gross fair value 180  2,260  1,639  -  -  4,079  

C. Other derivatives 
      Positive gross fair value -  113  42  184  ⁽⁴⁾-  339  

Negative gross fair value -  113  42  183  ⁽⁴⁾-  338  

D.Total 
      Positive gross fair value⁽²⁾ 199  2,072  1,331  184  -  3,786  

Amounts of fair value offset in the balance sheet -  -  -  -  -  -  

Balance sheet balance of assets stemming from 
derivative instruments⁽²⁾ 199  2,072  1,331  184  -  3,786  

Of which: Balance sheet balance of assets in respect of 
derivative instruments not subject to net settlement 
arrangement or similar arrangements -  ⁽⁴⁾-  51  157  ⁽⁴⁾-  208  

Negative gross fair value ⁽³⁾ 180  2,518  1,681  183  -  4,562  

Amounts of fair value offset in the balance sheet -  -  -  -  -  -  

Balance sheet balance of liabilities stemming from 
derivative instruments⁽³⁾ 180  2,518  1,681  183  -  4,562  

Of which: Balance sheet balance of liabilities in respect of 
derivative instruments not subject to net settlement 
arrangement or similar arrangements -  ⁽⁴⁾-  79  157  ⁽⁴⁾-  236  
For footnotes see next page. 
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11. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS ACTIVITY - VOLUME, CREDIT RISK AND DUE DATES 

(CONTINUED) 

A. VOLUME OF ACTIVITY ON A CONSOLIDATED BASIS (CONTINUED) 

2. GROSS FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS(5) (CONTINUED) 

 
Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

 
Interest rate contracts 

    

 
Shekel/CPI Other 

Foreign 
currency 
contracts 

Contracts 
on shares 

Commodities 
and other 
contracts Total 

 
in NIS millions 

A. Hedging derivatives 
      Positive gross fair value -  88  -  -  -  88  

Negative gross fair value -  34  -  -  -  34  

B. ALM derivatives⁽¹⁾ 
      Positive gross fair value 178  1,457  1,101  -  -  2,736  

Negative gross fair value 160  1,694  1,234  -  -  3,088  

C. Other derivatives 
      Positive gross fair value -  61  39  380  ⁽⁴⁾-  480  

Negative gross fair value -  61  36  379  ⁽⁴⁾-  476  

D.Total 
      Positive gross fair value⁽²⁾ 178  1,606  1,140  380  -  3,304  

Amounts of fair value offset in the balance sheet -  -  -  -  -  -  

Balance sheet balance of assets stemming from 
derivative instruments⁽²⁾ 178  1,606  1,140  380  -  3,304  

Of which: Balance sheet balance of assets in respect of 
derivative instruments not subject to net settlement 
arrangement or similar arrangements -  ⁽⁴⁾-  35  356  ⁽⁴⁾-  391  

Negative gross fair value ⁽³⁾ 160  1,789  1,270  379  -  3,598  

Amounts of fair value offset in the balance sheet -  -  -  -  -  -  

Balance sheet balance of liabilities stemming from 
derivative instruments⁽³⁾ 160  1,789  1,270  379  -  3,598  

Of which: Balance sheet balance of liabilities in respect of 
derivative instruments not subject to net settlement 
arrangement or similar arrangements -  1  70  356  ⁽⁴⁾-  427  

Footnotes: 

(1) Derivatives comprising a part of the Bank's asset and liability management system, which were not designated for hedging relations. 

(2) Of which: NIS 24 million (March 31, 2016: NIS 25 million; December 31, 2016: NIS 21 million) positive gross fair value of assets stemming from embedded 
derivative instruments. 

(3) Of which: NIS 28 million (March 31, 2016: NIS 27 million; December 31, 2016: NIS 28 million) negative gross fair value of liabilities stemming from embedded 
derivative instruments. 

(4) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

(5) For details regarding the change in presentation format, see Note 1 D above. 
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11. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS ACTIVITY - VOLUME, CREDIT RISK AND DUE DATES 

(CONTINUED) 

B. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS CREDIT RISK BASED ON THE COUNTERPARTY TO THE CONTRACT, ON A CONSOLIDATED BASIS 

 
Unaudited 

 

Stock 
Exchange Banks 

Dealers/ 
brokers 

Governments 
and central 

banks Others Total 

 
In NIS millions 

 
March 31, 2017 

Balance sheet balance of assets in respect of derivative 
instruments⁽²⁾ 28  1,696  26  20  1,288  3,058  

Gross amounts not offset in the balance sheet: 
      Credit risk mitigation in respect of financial instruments -  (1,592) (3) ⁽⁴⁾-  (219) (1,814) 

Credit risk mitigation in respect of cash collateral received -  (29) (4) (17) (21) (71) 

Net amount of assets in respect of derivative 
instruments 28  75  19  3  1,048  1,173  

Off-balance sheet credit risk in respect of derivative 
instruments⁽¹⁾ ⁽⁵⁾131  102  36  21  490  780  

Total credit risk in respect of derivative  
instruments 159  177  55  24  1,538  1,953  

Balance sheet balance of liabilities in respect of derivative 
instruments⁽³⁾ 339  2,693  15  ⁽⁴⁾-  620  3,667  

Gross amounts not offset in the balance sheet: 
      Financial instruments -  (1,592) (3) ⁽⁴⁾-  (219) (1,814) 

Pledged cash collateral -  (999) -  -  (27) (1,026) 

Net amount of liabilities in respect of derivative 
instruments 339  102  12  -  374  827  

 
March 31, 2016 

Balance sheet balance of assets in respect of derivative 
instruments⁽²⁾ 29  2,573  26  9  1,149  3,786  

Gross amounts not offset in the balance sheet: 
      Credit risk mitigation in respect of financial instruments (1) (2,334) (12) -  (288) (2,635) 

Credit risk mitigation in respect of cash collateral received -  (88) -  -  (29) (117) 

Net amount of assets in respect of derivative 
instruments 28  151  14  9  832  1,034  

Off-balance sheet credit risk in respect of derivative 
instruments⁽¹⁾ -  69  70  18  504  661  

Total credit risk in respect of derivative  instruments 28  220  84  27  1,336  1,695  

Balance sheet balance of liabilities in respect of derivative 
instruments⁽³⁾ 68  3,739  192  -  563  4,562  

Gross amounts not offset in the balance sheet: 
      Financial instruments (1) (2,334) (12) -  (288) (2,635) 

Pledged cash collateral -  (976) (4) -  (8) (988) 

Net amount of liabilities in respect of derivative 
instruments 67  429  176  -  267  939  
For footnotes see next page. 
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11. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS ACTIVITY - VOLUME, CREDIT RISK AND DUE DATES 

(CONTINUED) 

B. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS CREDIT RISK BASED ON THE COUNTERPARTY TO THE CONTRACT, ON A CONSOLIDATED BASIS 

(CONTINUED) 

 
Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

 

Stock 
Exchange Banks 

Dealers/ 
brokers 

Governments 
and central 

banks Others Total 

 
In NIS millions 

Balance sheet balance of assets in respect of derivative 
instruments⁽²⁾ 130  2,164  23  -  987  3,304  

Gross amounts not offset in the balance sheet: 
      Credit risk mitigation in respect of financial instruments (1) (1,794) (6) -  (307) (2,108) 

Credit risk mitigation in respect of cash collateral received -  (280) (3) -  (34) (317) 

Net amount of assets in respect of derivative 
instruments 129  90  14  -  646  879  

Off-balance sheet credit risk in respect of derivative 
instruments⁽¹⁾ -  242  21  22  332  617  

Total credit risk in respect of derivative  
instruments 129  332  35  22  978  1,496  

Balance sheet balance of liabilities in respect of derivative 
instruments⁽³⁾ 192  2,638  45  10  713  3,598  

Gross amounts not offset in the balance sheet: 
      Financial instruments (1) (1,794) (6) -  (307) (2,108) 

Pledged cash collateral -  (700) -  (5) -  (705) 

Net amount of liabilities in respect of derivative 
instruments 191  144  39  5  406  785  

Footnotes: 

(1) The difference, if positive, between the total amount in respect of derivative instruments (including derivative instruments with a negative fair value) included 
in the borrower's indebtedness, as computed for the purpose of limitation on the indebtedness of a borrower, before credit risk mitigation, and the balance 
sheet amount of assets in respect of derivative instruments of the borrower. 

(2) Of which: a balance sheet balance of standalone derivative instruments in the amount of NIS 3,034 million included in the item assets in respect of derivative 
instruments (March 31, 2016: NIS 3,761 million; December 31, 2016: NIS 3,283 million). 

(3) Of which: a balance sheet balance of standalone derivative instruments in the amount of NIS 3,639 million included in the item liabilities in respect of 
derivative instruments (March 31, 2016: NIS 4,535 million; December 31, 2016: NIS 3,570 million). 

(4) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

(5) The amount stems from an amendment to Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive in the matter of capital requirement for exposures to central 
counterparties, which came into effect on January 1, 2017. 
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11. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS ACTIVITY - VOLUME, CREDIT RISK AND DUE DATES 

(CONTINUED) 

C. DUE DATES - PAR VALUE: CONSOLIDATED PERIOD END BALANCES  

 
Unaudited 

 

Up to 3 
months 

From 3 
months to 1 

year 
From 1 year 

to 5 years Over 5 years Total 

 
In NIS millions 

 
March 31, 2017 

Interest rate contracts 
     Shekel/CPI 1,370  2,720  4,534  2,566  11,190  

Other 8,141  22,611  34,790  29,590  95,132  

Foreign currency contracts 49,554  29,753  7,232  2,909  89,448  

Contracts on shares 8,696  407  1,151  -  10,254  

Commodities and other contracts 10  44  19  -  73  

Total 67,771  55,535  47,726  35,065  206,097  

      
 

Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2016 

Total 86,285  61,206  58,451  28,178  234,120  

      
 

Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

Total 72,360  52,068  49,762  33,875  208,065  

12. REGULATORY OPERATING SEGMENTS  
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12. REGULATORY OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 

C. INFORMATION REGARDING REGULATORY OPERATING SEGMENTS, CONSOLIDATED 

 
Unaudited 

 

 
For the three months ended March 31, 2017 

 

 
Domestic operations 

 

 
Households 

Private 
Banking 

Small and 
minute 

businesses 
 

 
Total 

Of which - 
Mortgages 

Of 
which - 

Credit 
cards 

   

 
in NIS millions 

 Interest income From external sources 454  143  108  1  388  
 Interest expenses To external sources 41  -  -  20  15  
 Interest income, net From external sources 413  143  108  (19) 373  
 Interest income, net Intersegmental (49) (96) (12) 32  (27) 
 Total Interest income, net 364  47  96  13  346  
 Non-interest financing income From external sources 766  4  194  424  372  
 Non-interest financing income Intersegmental (443) -  -  (407) (212) 
 Total Non-interest financing income 323  4  194  17  160  
 Total income 687  51  290  30  506  
 Credit loss expenses (expenses reversal) 72  4  29  -  46  
 Operating and other expenses 723  29  208  31  332  
 Profit (loss) before taxes (108) 18  53  (1) 128  
 Provision for taxes (tax savings) on profit (35) 5  18  -  46  
 Profit (loss) after taxes (73) 13  35  (1) 82  
 Bank's share in losses of affiliated companies -  -  -  -  -  
 Net Profit (loss)  from ordinary operations before Attributed to the non-

controlling rights holders (73) 13  35  (1) 82  
 Net Profit (loss) from ordinary operations Attributed to the non-controlling rights 

holders (9) -  (10) -  (3) 
 Net Profit (loss) Attributed to the bank's shareholders (82) 13  25  (1) 79  
 Average Assets 54,373  25,877  11,772  248  33,779  
 Of which - Investment in Investee companies -  -  -  -  -  
 Average credit to the public⁽³⁾ 53,508  25,979  11,644  182  33,334  
 Balance of credit to the public⁽³⁾ 53,048  26,389  12,282  209  35,970  
 Balance of impaired debts 65  -  22  -  826  
 Balance of debts (not impaired) in arrear for over ninety days 355  283  -  -  49  
 Average Liabilities 72,931  240  2,346  15,435  33,030  
 Of which - Average Deposits from the public 68,348  -  19  15,329  28,910  
 Balance of Deposits from the public  67,941  -  21  15,450  27,128   

Average Risk-assets⁽¹⁾ 38,201  14,446  8,795  401  36,129  
 Balance of Risk-assets⁽¹⁾ 38,563  14,657  8,900  415  37,111  
 Average assets under management⁽²⁾ 35,473  472  -  19,240  28,489  
 Interest income, net: 

      Margin from credit activity to the public 320  47  96  -  326  
 Margin from deposits activity from the public 44  -  -  13  20  
 Other -  -  -  -  -  
 Total Interest income, net 364  47  96  13  346  
 Footnotes: 

(1) Risk weighted assets – as computed for capital adequacy purposes. 
(2) Managed assets – including assets of provident funds, further education funds, mutual funds and customer securities. 
(3) Outstanding balance of credit to the public- the recorded amount of the debt is presented. 
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International 
operations 

 

 

Medium 
businesses 

Large 
businesses 

Institutional 
bodies 

Financial 
management 

Total 
Domestic 

operations 

total 
International 
operations total 

        

  

 
83  164  -  85  1,175  265  1,440  

 
3  13  7  95  194  79  273  

 
80  151  (7) (10) 981  186  1,167  

 
(14) (36) 14  80  -  -  -  

 
66  115  7  70  981  186  1,167  

 
69  82  72  (912) 873  40  913  

 
(33) (21) (67) 1,183  -  -  -  

 
36  61  5  271  873  40  913  

 
102  176  12  341  1,854  226  2,080  

 
6  3  -  -  127  18  145  

 
59  69  18  66  1,298  134  1,432  

 
37  104  (6) 275  429  74  503  

 
13  38  (1) 92  153  29  182  

 
24  66  (5) 183  276  45  321  

 
-  -  -  (4) (4) -  (4) 

 
24  66  (5) 179  272  45  317  

 
(1) (1) -  -  (14) -  (14) 

 
23  65  (5) 179  258  45  303  

 
10,684  21,540  1,107  63,814  185,545  34,359  219,904  

 
-  -  -  153  153  -  153  

 
10,678  21,491  986  -  120,179  21,328  141,507  

 
12,436  21,921  1,007  -  124,591  20,957  145,548  

 
311  579  587  -  2,368  272  2,640  

 
5  -  -  -  409  -  409  

 
7,174  16,295  13,621  15,689  174,175  30,808  204,983  

 
6,395  14,314  13,580  -  146,876  25,478  172,354  

 6,369  15,098  14,960  -  146,946  24,696  171,642  

 
15,735  26,719  1,602  11,807  130,594  23,801  154,395  

 
14,854  28,101  1,652  12,191  132,887  23,012  155,899  

 
7,800  33,744  65,171  6,533  196,450  13,530  209,980  

        

 
62  111  2  -  821  97  918  

 
4  4  5  -  90  75  165  

 
-  -  -  70  70  14  84  

 
66  115  7  70  981  186  1,167  
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12. REGULATORY OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 

C. INFORMATION REGARDING REGULATORY OPERATING SEGMENTS, CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

 
Unaudited 

 

 
For the three months ended March 31, 2016 ⁽⁶⁾ 

 

 
Domestic operations 

 

 
Households 

Private 
Banking 

Small and 
minute 

businesses 
 

 
Total 

Of which - 
Mortgages 

Of 
which - 

Credit 
cards 

   

 
in NIS millions 

 Interest income From external sources 330  63  87  1  333  
 Interest expenses To external sources 23  -  -  13  9  
 Interest income, net From external sources 307  63  87  (12) 324  
 Interest income, net Intersegmental 2  (29) (9) 26  (23) 
 Total Interest income, net 309  34  78  14  301  
 Non-interest financing income  494  3  177  234  223  
 Non-interest financing income Intersegmental (187) -  (1) (214) (75) 
 Total Non-interest financing income 307  3  176  20  148  
 Total income 616  37  254  34  449  
 Credit loss expenses (expenses reversal) 33  4  13  -  45  
 Operating and other expenses  716  30  174  34  323  
 Profit (loss) before taxes (133) 3  67  -  81  
 Provision for taxes (tax savings) on profit⁽⁴⁾ (25) 2  28  -  34  
 Profit (loss) after taxes (108) 1  39  -  47  
 Bank's share in operating income of affiliated companies -  -  -  -  -  
 Net income from ordinary operations before Attributed to the non-controlling 

rights holders (108) 1  39  -  47  
 Net income from ordinary operations Attributed to the non-controlling rights 

holders (8) -  (8) -  (3) 
 Net Income (loss) Attributed to the bank's shareholders (116) 1  31  -  44  
 Average Assets 47,324  21,895  10,620  263  30,430  
 Of which - Investment in Investee companies -  -  -  -  -  
 Of which - Average credit to the public⁽³⁾ 46,211  22,004  10,376  190  29,930  
 Balance of credit to the public⁽³⁾ 45,767  21,873  10,796  201  32,084  
 Balance of impaired debts 60  -  12  -  1,039  
 Balance of debts (not impaired) in arrear for over ninety days 359  306  -  -  29  
 Average Liabilities 69,222  39  2,280  16,035  28,705  
 Of which - Average Deposits from the public 65,773  -  16  15,927  24,853  
 Balance of deposits from the public 64,625  -  18  16,089  25,659  
 Average Risk-assets⁽¹⁾ 34,014  11,946  10,092  449  32,684  
 Balance of Risk-assets⁽¹⁾ 34,331  12,994  7,479  432  33,337  
 Average assets under management⁽²⁾ 38,632  579  -  19,999  22,199  
 Interest income, net: 

      Margin from credit activity to the public 271  34  78  -  286  
 Margin from deposits activity from the public 38  -  -  14  15  
 Other -  -  -  -  -  
 Total Interest income, net 309  34  78  14  301  
 Footnotes:  

(1) Risk weighted assets – as computed for capital adequacy purposes.  
(2) Managed assets – including assets of provident funds, further education funds, mutual funds and customer securities.  
(3) Outstanding balance of credit to the public- the recorded amount of the debt is presented.  
(4) Reclassified - see Note 1 G (1) to the condensed financial statements.  
(5)Reclassified - see Note 1 G (2) to the condensed financial statements.  
(6) Reclassified - see item Note B (1) above.  
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Medium 
businesses 

Large 
businesses 

Institutional 
bodies 

Financial 
management 

Total 
Domestic 

operations 

total 
International 
operations total 

        

  

 
87  157  8  ⁽⁴⁾36  952  266  1,218  

 
2  6  4  33  90  79  169  

 
85  151  4  3  862  187  1,049  

 
(11) (28) 4  30  -  -  -  

 
74  123  8  33  862  187  1,049  

 
54  29  29  (349) 714  68  782  

 
(18) 23  (25) 496  -  -  -  

 
36  52  4  147  714  68  782  

 
110  175  12  180  1,576  255  1,831  

 
21  (72) -  -  27  19  46  

 
67  63  17  54  1,274  143  1,417  

 
22  184  (5) 126  275  93  368  

 
9  62  (1) 60  139  36  175  

 
13  122  (4) 66  136  57  193  

 
-  -  -  (1) (1) -  (1) 

 
13  122  (4) 65  135  57  192  

 
(1) (2) -  1  (13) -  (13) 

 
12  120  (4) 66  122  57  179  

 
10,809  20,552  1,104  61,546  172,028  36,106  208,134  

 
-  -  -  141  141  -  141  

 
10,772  20,640  1,038  -  108,781  21,565  130,346  

 
11,736  19,679  1,080  -  110,547  20,725  131,272  

 
574  934  -  -  2,607  197  2,804  

 
6  -  -  -  394  -  394  

 
6,878  13,989  10,695  16,601  162,125  32,545  194,670  

 
6,133  11,294  10,656  -  134,636  ⁽⁵⁾27,232  161,868  

 
6,048  12,221  11,498  -  136,140  ⁽⁵⁾25,493  161,633  

 
16,383  24,635  1,233  10,572  119,970  24,149  144,119  

 
16,397  24,634  1,257  11,233  121,621  23,216  144,837  

 
5,175  28,884  54,588  6,276  175,753  12,885  188,638  

        

 
70  119  5  -  751  76  827  

 
4  4  3  -  78  78  156  

 
-  -  -  33  33  33  66  

 
74  123  8  ⁽⁴⁾33  862  187  1,049  
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

12. REGULATORY OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 

C. INFORMATION REGARDING REGULATORY OPERATING SEGMENTS, CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

 
Audited 

 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2016 

 

 
Domestic operations 

 

 
Households 

Private 
Banking 

Small and 
minute 

businesses 
 

 
Total 

Of which - 
Mortgages 

Of 
which - 

Credit 
cards 

   

 
in NIS millions 

 Interest income From external sources 1,704  549  386  3  1,494  
 Interest expenses To external sources 171  -  (2) 72  53  
 Interest income, net From external sources 1,533  549  388  (69) 1,441  
 Interest income, net Intersegmental (187) (395) (35) 114  (123) 
 Total Interest income, net 1,346  154  353  45  1,318  
 Non-interest financing income From external sources 1,599  15  752  283  560  
 Non-interest financing income Intersegmental (316) -  -  (216) 44  
 Total Non-interest financing income 1,283  15  752  67  604  
 Total income 2,629  169  1,105  112  1,922  
 Credit loss expenses (expenses reversal) 216  8  73  1  90  
 Operating and other expenses 2,871  116  789  120  1,364  
 Profit (loss) before taxes (458) 45  242  (9) 468  
 Provision for taxes (tax savings) on profit⁽⁵⁾ (94) 20  95  (1) 206  
 Profit (loss) after taxes (364) 25  147  (8) 262  
 Bank's share in operating income of affiliated companies -  -  -  -  -  
 Net Profit (loss) from ordinary operations before Attributed to the non-

controlling rights holders (364) 25  147  (8) 262  
 Net Profit (loss) from ordinary operations Attributed to the non-controlling rights 

holders (41) -  (41) -  3  
 Net Profit (loss) Attributed to the bank's shareholders (405) 25  106  (8) 265  
 Average Assets 50,174  23,382  11,107  228  32,168  
 Of which - Investment in Investee companies -  -  -  -  -  
 Of which - Average credit to the public⁽³⁾ 49,230  23,484  10,993  162  31,708  
 Of which - Balance of credit to the public⁽³⁾ 51,488  25,624  11,715  214  34,219  
 Balance of impaired debts 61  -  22  -  909  
 Balance of debts (not impaired) in arrear for over ninety days 381  299  -  -  51  
 Average Liabilities 71,388  19  2,341  14,595  30,765  
 Of which - Average Deposits from the public 66,917  -  18  14,485  26,838  
 Balance of deposits from the public 67,496  -  19  16,221  27,729  
 Average Risk-assets⁽¹⁾ ⁽⁶⁾35,614  12,475  9,805  404  ⁽⁶⁾33,608  
 Balance of Risk-assets⁽¹⁾ ⁽⁶⁾37,840  14,234  8,690  386  ⁽⁶⁾35,147  
 Average assets under management⁽²⁾ 37,354  533  -  18,658  24,702  
 Interest income, net: 

      Margin from credit activity to the public 1,183  154  353  1  1,255  
 Margin from deposits activity from the public 163  -  -  44  63  
 Other -  -  -  -  -  
 Total Interest income, net 1,346  154  353  45  1,318  
 Footnotes:  

(1) Risk weighted assets – as computed for capital adequacy purposes.  
(2) Managed assets – including assets of provident funds, further education funds, mutual funds and customer securities.  
(3) Outstanding balance of credit to the public- the recorded amount of the debt is presented.  
(4) The effect of the transaction for the acquisition of VISA Europe, as described in Note 36 F to the financial statements as of December 31, 2016.  
(5) Reclassified - see Note 1 G (1) to the condensed financial statements.  
(6) Reclassified - see item B (2) above.  
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Medium 
businesses 

Large 
businesses 

Institutional 
bodies 

Financial 
management 

Total 
Domestic 

operations 

Total 
International 

operations Total 

        

  

 
367  659  28  ⁽⁵⁾347  4,602  1,057  5,659  

 
11  34  23  425  789  313  1,102  

 
356  625  5  (78) 3,813  744  4,557  

 
(64) (152) 27  385  -  -  -  

 
292  473  32  307  3,813  744  4,557  

 
151  239  50  332  3,214  225  3,439  

 
(4) (18) (33) 543  -  -  -  

 
147  221  17  ⁽⁴⁾875  3,214  225  3,439  

 
439  694  49  1,182  7,027  969  7,996  

 
46  (40) 30  -  343  126  469  

 
289  306  75  ⁽⁴⁾255  5,280  534  5,814  

 
104  428  (56) 927  1,404  309  1,713  

 
47  162  (18) 322  624  117  741  

 
57  266  (38) 605  780  192  972  

 
-  -  -  15  15  -  15  

 
57  266  (38) 620  795  192  987  

 
1  2  -  (47) (82) -  (82) 

 
58  268  (38) 573  713  192  905  

 
10,532  20,510  1,181  59,925  174,718  34,941  209,659  

 
-  -  -  143  143  -  143  

 
10,581  20,696  1,054  -  113,431  21,375  134,806  

 
12,398  21,438  1,047  -  120,804  22,100  142,904  

 
316  725  597  -  2,608  335  2,943  

 
7  1  -  -  440  -  440  

 
6,938  13,830  11,009  15,909  164,434  31,431  195,865  

 
6,189  12,025  10,973  -  137,427  26,048  163,475  

 
6,982  14,285  13,185  -  145,898  26,420  172,318  

 
⁽⁶⁾16,605  25,108  1,294  ⁽⁶⁾11,409  124,042  23,980  148,022  

 
⁽⁶⁾16,616  25,337  1,552  ⁽⁶⁾11,422  128,300  24,590  152,890  

 
7,502  29,528  57,708  6,326  181,778  13,139  194,917  

        

 
278  454  18  -  3,189  311  3,500  

 
14  19  14  -  317  399  716  

 
-  -  -  307  307  34  341  

 
292  473  32  307  3,813  744  4,557  
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13. MANAGERIAL OPERATING SEGMENTS 

A. INFORMATION REGARDING MANAGERIAL OPERATING SEGMENTS 

 
Unaudited 

 

 

Retail 
banking 

Middle 
market  

banking 
Corporate 

banking 
Financial 

management 
Discount 
Capital¹⁾ 

 

 
In NIS millions 

 

 
For the three months ended March 31, 2017 

 Interest income, net 519  120  168  70  -  
 Non-interest income 281  33  95  150  82  
 Total income 800  153  263  220  82  
 Credit loss expenses (expenses reversal) 90  18  (9) -  -  
 Operating and other expenses 807  99  97  53  10  
 Income (loss) before taxes (97) 36  175  167  72  
 Provision for taxes on income (Tax savings) (32) 14  62  67  18  
 Income (loss) after taxes (65) 22  113  100  54  
 Bank’s share in income of affiliated companies, net of tax effect 1  -  -  -  (4) 
 Net income (loss) before attributed to the non-controlling rights holders (64) 22  113  100  50  
 Net income attributed to the non-controlling rights holders -  -  -  -  -  
 Net Income (loss) Attributed to the bank's shareholders (64) 22  113  100  50  
 Balance of Assets 65,059  16,908  38,677  66,360  1,328  
 Balance of credit to the public 63,207  17,049  37,476  -  -  
 Balance of deposits from the public 108,850  13,337  23,552  5,539  -  
   

 

Retail 
banking(5) 

Middle 
market  

banking 
Corporate 

banking 
Financial 

management 
Discount 
Capital¹⁾ 

 

 
For the three months ended March 31, 2016 

 Interest income, net 462  ⁽²⁾115  ⁽²⁾168  ⁽⁴⁾34  -  
 Non-interest income 272  ⁽²⁾33  ⁽²⁾88  102  10  
 Total income 734  148  256  136  10  
 Credit loss expenses (expenses reversal) 32  ⁽²⁾(8) ⁽²⁾(12) 1  -  
 Operating and other expenses 819  ⁽²⁾106  ⁽²⁾92  55  2  
 Income (loss) before taxes (117) 50  176  80  8  
 Provision for taxes on income (Tax savings) ⁽⁴⁾(29) ⁽⁴⁾20  ⁽⁴⁾64  ⁽⁴⁾52  1  
 Income (loss) after taxes (88) 30  112  28  7  
 Bank’s share in income of affiliated companies, net of tax effect 1  -  -  1  (2) 
 Net income (loss) before attributed to the non-controlling rights holders (87) 30  112  29  5  
 Net income attributed to the non-controlling rights holders -  -  -  -  -  
 Net Income (loss) Attributed to the bank's shareholders (87) 30  112  29  5  
 Balance of Assets 57,903  ⁽²⁾16,027  ⁽²⁾33,200  67,587  1,116  
 Balance of credit to the public 55,595  ⁽²⁾16,098  ⁽²⁾33,044  -  -  
 Balance of deposits from the public 104,832  ⁽²⁾12,696  ⁽²⁾17,880  5,810  -  
 footnotes:  

(1) The contribution to the Bank's business results.  

(2) See B below.  

(3) Reclassified, see Note 1 G (2).  

(4) Reclassified, see Note 1 G (1).  

(5) See item C below.  
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Discount 
Bancorp⁽¹⁾ 

Israel 
Credit 

Cards⁽¹⁾ Other Adjustments Total 

  

  

 
187  101  1  1  1,167  

 
47  259  5  (39) 913  

 
234  360  6  (38) 2,080  

 
18  27  -  1  145  

 
134  262  7  (37) 1,432  

 
82  71  (1) (2) 503  

 
29  23  2  (1) 182  

 
53  48  (3) (1) 321  

 
-  -  -  (1) (4) 

 
53  48  (3) (2) 317  

 
-  (14) (1) 1  (14) 

 
53  34  (4) (1) 303  

 
33,784  13,083  4,406  (20,509) 219,096  

 
20,957  12,706  -  (5,847) 145,548  

 
24,660  21  -  (4,317) 171,642  

      

 

Discount 
Bancorp⁽¹⁾ 

Israel 
Credit 

Cards⁽¹⁾ Other Adjustments Total 

 
188  ⁽⁴⁾80  1  1  1,049  

 
46  237  34  (40) 782  

 
234  317  35  (39) 1,831  

 
19  14  -  -  46  

 
135  233  13  (38) 1,417  

 
80  70  22  (1) 368  

 
29  ⁽⁴⁾27  10  1  175  

 
51  43  12  (2) 193  

 
-  -  -  (1) (1) 

 
51  43  12  (3) 192  

 
-  (13) (1) 1  (13) 

 
51  30  11  (2) 179  

 
35,008  11,212  5,295  (20,148) 207,200  

 
20,725  10,905  -  (5,095) 131,272  

 
⁽³⁾25,453  18  -  (5,056) 161,633  
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13. MANAGERIAL OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 

A. INFORMATION REGARDING MANAGERIAL OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 

Retail 
banking(5) 

Middle 
market  

banking 
Corporate 

banking 
Financial 

management Discount Capital¹⁾ 
 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2016 

 

 
In NIS millions 

 Interest income, net 1,946  ⁽²⁾469  ⁽²⁾700  ⁽⁴⁾323  1  
 Non-interest income 1,104  ⁽²⁾135  ⁽²⁾342  367  109  
 Total income 3,050  604  1,042  690  110  
 Credit loss expenses 239  ⁽²⁾(1) ⁽²⁾15  14  -  
 Operating and other expenses 3,231  ⁽²⁾415  ⁽²⁾413  211  28  
 Income (loss) before taxes (420) 190  614  465  82  
 Provision for taxes on income ⁽⁴⁾(81) ⁽²⁾⁽⁴⁾77  ⁽²⁾⁽⁴⁾230  ⁽⁴⁾203  13  
 Income (loss) after taxes (339) 113  384  262  69  
 Bank’s share in income of affiliated companies, net of tax effect 1  -  -  7  9  
 Net income (loss) before attributed to the non-controlling rights 

holders (338) 113  384  269  78  
 Net income attributed to the non-controlling rights holders -  -  -  -  -  
 Net Income (loss) Attributed to the bank's shareholders (338) 113  384  269  78  
 Balance of Assets 63,733  ⁽²⁾16,277  ⁽²⁾37,645  67,941  1,267  
 Balance of credit to the public 61,690  ⁽²⁾16,379  ⁽²⁾36,349  -  -  
 Balance of deposits from the public 109,485  ⁽²⁾13,024  ⁽²⁾22,594  5,694  -  
 footnotes:  

(1) The contribution to the Bank's business results.  

(2) See B below.  

(3) The effects of an arrangement in lieu of criminal proceedings, and the transaction for the acquisition of VISA Europe, as described in Note 36 Sections E 
(2) and F to the financial statements as of December 31, 2016, respectively. 

 

(4) Reclassified, see Note 1 G (1).  
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Discount 
Bancorp⁽¹⁾ 

Israel 
Credit 

Cards⁽¹⁾ other Adjustments Total 

  

  

 
747  362  3  6  4,557  

 
208  ⁽³⁾1,260  71  (157) 3,439  

 
955  1,622  74  (151) 7,996  

 
127  75  -  -  469  

 
527  ⁽³⁾1,105  35  (151) 5,814  

 
301  442  39  -  1,713  

 
108  174  16  1  741  

 
193  268  23  (1) 972  

 
-  -  -  (2) 15  

 
193  268  23  (3) 987  

 
-  (82) (2) 2  (82) 

 
193  186  21  (1) 905  

 
35,609  12,416  5,038  (20,349) 219,577  

 
22,100  12,043  -  (5,657) 142,904  

 
26,384  19  -  (4,882) 172,318  
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14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES 

 

A. DEBTS AND OFF-BALANCE SHEET CREDIT INSTRUMENTS 

1. CHANGE IN THE BALANCE OF THE ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES - CONSOLIDATED 

 
Unaudited 

 
Credit  to the public 

  

 
Commercial 

Private 
Individuals 

- Housing 
Loans 

Private 
Individuals 

- Other 
Loans Total 

Banks and 
Governments Total 

 
In NIS millions 

 
Three months ended March 31, 2017 

Balance of allowance for credit losses, as at December 31, 2016 
(audited) 1,702  168  469  2,339  ⁽¹⁾-  2,339  

Expenses for credit loss 73  4  68  145  -  145  

Accounting write-offs (210) (2) (107) (319) -  (319) 

Collection of debts written-off in previous years 77  -  49  126  -  126  

Net accounting write-offs (133) (2) (58) (193) -  (193) 

Financial statements translation adjustments (14) -  (1) (15) -  (15) 

Balance of allowance for credit losses, as at March 31, 
2017 1,628  170  478  2,276  ⁽¹⁾-  2,276  

Of which: In respect of off-balance sheet credit instruments 154  -  33  187  -  187  

       

 
Three months ended March 31, 2016 

Balance of allowance for credit losses, as at December 31, 2015 
(audited) 1,675  176  407  2,258  3  2,261  

Expenses (expenses reversal ) for credit loss 14  4  29  47  (1) 46  

Accounting write-offs (91) (9) (72) (172) -  (172) 

Collection of debts written-off in previous years 78  -  48  126  -  126  

Net accounting write-offs (13) (9) (24) (46) -  (46) 

Financial statements translation adjustments (9) -  -  (9) -  (9) 

Balance of allowance for credit losses, as at March 31, 
2016 1,667  171  412  2,250  2  2,252  

Of which: In respect of off-balance sheet credit instruments 145  3  33  181  -  181  

Footnote: 

(1) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) 

A. DEBTS AND OFF-BALANCE SHEET CREDIT INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING THE MODE OF COMPUTING THE ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES IN RESPECT OF THE DEBTS AND 

REGARDING THE DEBTS FOR WHICH THE ALLOWANCE IS COMPUTED – CONSOLIDATED  

 
Unaudited 

 
Credit  to the public 

  

 
Commercial 

Private 
Individuals 

- Housing 
Loans 

Private 
Individuals 

- Other 
Loans Total 

Banks and 
Governments Total 

 
In NIS millions 

 
March 31, 2017 

Recorded amount of debts: 
      Examined on a specific basis⁽¹⁾ 65,267  -  523  65,790  3,404  69,194  

Examined on a group basis: 
      The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the extent of 

arrears ⁽²⁾253  26,480  -  26,733  -  26,733  

Group - other ⁽²⁾25,444  67  27,514  53,025  1,929  54,954  

Total debts 90,964  26,547  28,037  145,548  5,333  150,881  
       

Allowance for Credit Losses in respect of debts: 
      Examined on a specific basis⁽¹⁾ 1,107  -  11  1,118  -  1,118  

Examined on a group basis: 
      The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the extent of 

arrears ⁽³⁾3  ⁽³⁾170  -  173  -  173  

Group - other 364  -  434  798  ⁽⁴⁾-  798  

Total allowance for Credit Losses 1,474  170  445  2,089  ⁽⁴⁾-  2,089  

 
March 31, 2016 

Recorded amount of debts: 
      Examined on a specific basis⁽¹⁾ ⁽⁵⁾59,382  -  ⁽⁵⁾612  59,994  3,603  63,597  

Examined on a group basis: 
      The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the extent of 

arrears ⁽²⁾243  22,435  -  22,678  -  22,678  

Group - other ⁽²⁾⁽⁵⁾24,779  47  ⁽⁵⁾23,774  48,600  2,362  50,962  

Total debts 84,404  22,482  24,386  131,272  5,965  137,237  
       

Allowance for Credit Losses in respect of debts: 
      Examined on a specific basis⁽¹⁾ ⁽⁵⁾1,202  -  ⁽⁵⁾11  1,213  1  1,214  

Examined on a group basis: 
      The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the extent of 

arrears ⁽³⁾2  ⁽³⁾168  -  170  -  170  

Group - other ⁽⁵⁾318  -  ⁽⁵⁾368  686  1  687  

Total allowance for Credit Losses 1,522  168  379  2,069  2  2,071  

Footnotes: 

(1) Including credit examined on a specific basis and found not to be impaired in an amount of NIS 66,580 million (March 31, 2016 - NIS 60,793 million) and the 
allowance in its respect in an amount of NIS 835 million (March 31, 2016 - NIS 730 million) computed on a group basis. 

(2) The balance of commercial debts includes housing loans in the amount of NIS 258 million, which are combined in the layout of transactions and collateral of 
commercial borrowers' business, or which were granted to acquisition groups, the projects being built by them are in the course of construction (as of March 
31, 2016 – an amount of NIS 248 million). 

(3) Includes the balance of allowance in excess of that required by the extent of arrears method, computed on a specific basis in amount of  NIS 3 million (March 
31, 2016 - NIS 3 million), and computed on a group basis in an amount of  NIS 98 million (March 31, 2016 - NIS 81 million). 

(4) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

(5) Reclassified - improvement of the classification to examine routs in the data of a subsidiary company. 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) 

A. DEBTS AND OFF-BALANCE SHEET CREDIT INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING THE MODE OF COMPUTING THE ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES IN RESPECT OF THE DEBTS AND 

REGARDING THE DEBTS FOR WHICH THE ALLOWANCE IS COMPUTED – CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED)  

 
Audited 

 
Credit  to the public 

  

 
Commercial 

Private 
Individuals - 

Housing 
Loans 

Private 
Individuals - 
Other Loans Total 

Banks and 
Governments Total 

 
In NIS millions 

 
December 31,2016 

Recorded amount of debts: 
      Examined on a specific basis⁽¹⁾ 63,292  -  482  63,774  4,024  67,798  

Examined on a group basis: 
      The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the 

extent of arrears ⁽²⁾261  25,696  -  25,957  -  25,957  

Group - other ⁽²⁾26,247  68  26,858  53,173  1,803  54,976  

Total debts 89,800  25,764  27,340  142,904  5,827  148,731  
       

Allowance for Credit Losses in respect of debts: 
      Examined on a specific basis⁽¹⁾ 1,176  -  12  1,188  -  1,188  

Examined on a group basis: 
      The allowance in respect thereof is computed by the 

extent of arrears ⁽³⁾3  ⁽³⁾168  -  171  -  171  

Group - other 362  -  423  785  ⁽⁴⁾-  785  

Total allowance for Credit Losses 1,541  168  435  2,144  ⁽⁴⁾-  2,144  

Footnotes: 

(1) Including credit examined on a specific basis and found not to be impaired in an amount of NIS 64,855 million and the allowance in its respect in an amount of 
NIS 799 million computed on a group basis. 

(2) The balance of commercial debts includes housing loans in the amount of NIS 266 million, which are combined in the layout of transactions and collateral of 
commercial borrowers' business, or which were granted to acquisition groups, the projects being built by them are in the course of construction. 

(3) Includes the balance of allowance in excess of that required by the extent of arrears method, computed on a specific basis in amount of  NIS 2 million, and 
computed on a group basis in an amount of  NIS 94 million. 

(4) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) 

B. DEBTS  

1. CREDIT QUALITY AND ARREARS - CONSOLIDATED 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2017 

  
Problematic⁽¹⁾ 

 

Unimpaired debts – 
additional 

information 

 

Non-
problematic Unimpaired Impaired⁽²⁾ Total 

In Arrears 
of 90 Days 
or More⁽³⁾ 

In Arrears 
of 30 to 89 

Days⁽⁴⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

Lending Activity in Israel 
      Public - Commercial 
      Construction and Real Estate - Construction 9,863  65  122  10,050  9  48  

Construction and Real Estate - Real Estate Activity 7,744  16  258  8,018  4  9  

Financial Services 6,601  3  646  7,250  1  9  

Commercial - Other 41,679  890  1,166  43,735  40  131  

Total Commercial 65,887  974  2,192  69,053  54  197  

Private Individuals - Housing Loans 26,084  ⁽⁵⁾309  -  26,393  280  87  

Private Individuals - Other Loans 26,246  379  65  26,690  72  192  

Total Public - Lending Activity in Israel 118,217  1,662  2,257  122,136  406  476  

Banks in Israel 557  -  -  557  -  -  

Government of Israel 609  -  -  609  -  -  

Total Lending Activity in Israel 119,383  1,662  2,257  123,302  406  476  

Lending Activity Outside of Israel 
      Public - Commercial 
      Construction and Real Estate 7,780  60  83  7,923  -  14  

Commercial - Other 13,333  355  300  13,988  -  26  

Total Commercial 21,113  415  383  21,911  -  40  

Private Individuals 1,498  3  -  1,501  3  2  

Total Public - Lending Activity Outside of Israel 22,611  418  383  23,412  3  42  

Foreign banks 3,981  -  -  3,981  -  -  

Foreign governments 186  -  -  186  -  -  

Total Lending Activity Outside of Israel 26,778  418  383  27,579  3  42  

Total public 140,828  2,080  2,640  145,548  409  518  

Total banks 4,538  -  -  4,538  -  -  

Total governments 795  -  -  795  -  -  

Total 146,161  2,080  2,640  150,881  409  518  
For footnotes see page 153. 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) 

B. DEBTS (CONTINUED) 

1. CREDIT QUALITY AND ARREARS – CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2016 

  
Problematic⁽¹⁾ 

 

Unimpaired debts – 
additional 

information 

 

Non-
problematic Unimpaired Impaired⁽²⁾ Total 

In Arrears 
of 90 Days 
or More⁽³⁾ 

In Arrears 
of 30 to 89 

Days⁽⁴⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

Lending Activity in Israel 
      Public - Commercial 
      Construction and Real Estate - Construction 6,260  69  123  6,452  8  ⁽⁶⁾20  

Construction and Real Estate - Real Estate Activity 9,137  277  263  9,677  1  ⁽⁶⁾14  

Financial Services 6,397  3  109  6,509  3  1  

Commercial - Other 37,310  444  1,790  39,544  22  ⁽⁶⁾125  

Total Commercial 59,104  793  2,285  62,182  34  160  

Private Individuals - Housing Loans 21,999  ⁽⁵⁾336  -  22,335  304  80  

Private Individuals - Other Loans 22,684  275  60  23,019  51  ⁽⁶⁾147  

Total Public - Lending Activity in Israel 103,787  1,404  2,345  107,536  389  387  

Banks in Israel 824  -  -  824  -  -  

Government of Israel 510  -  -  510  -  -  

Total Lending Activity in Israel 105,121  1,404  2,345  108,870  389  387  

Lending Activity Outside of Israel 
      Public - Commercial 
      Construction and Real Estate 7,709  64  248  8,021  -  -  

Commercial - Other 13,791  199  211  14,201  1  2  

Total Commercial 21,500  263  459  22,222  1  2  

Private Individuals 1,510  4  -  1,514  4  2  

Total Public - Lending Activity Outside of Israel 23,010  267  459  23,736  5  4  

Foreign banks 4,617  -  -  4,617  -  -  

Foreign governments 14  -  -  14  -  -  

Total Lending Activity Outside of Israel 27,641  267  459  28,367  5  4  

Total public 126,797  1,671  2,804  131,272  394  391  

Total banks 5,441  -  -  5,441  -  -  

Total governments 524  -  -  524  -  -  

Total 132,762  1,671  2,804  137,237  394  391  
For footnotes see next page. 
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14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) 

B. DEBTS (CONTINUED) 

1. CREDIT QUALITY AND ARREARS – CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

 
Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

  
Problematic⁽¹⁾ 

 

Unimpaired debts – 
additional 

information 

 

Non-
problematic Unimpaired Impaired⁽²⁾ Total 

In Arrears 
of 90 Days 
or More⁽³⁾ 

In Arrears 
of 30 to 89 

Days⁽⁴⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

Lending Activity in Israel 
      Public - Commercial 
      Construction and Real Estate - Construction 8,928  58  136  9,122  10  29  

Construction and Real Estate - Real Estate Activity 7,809  7  265  8,081  1  13  

Financial Services 6,234  4  666  6,904  3  7  

Commercial - Other 40,248  985  1,317  42,550  44  129  

Total Commercial 63,219  1,054  2,384  66,657  58  178  

Private Individuals - Housing Loans 25,290  ⁽⁵⁾320  -  25,610  292  73  

Private Individuals - Other Loans 25,458  376  61  25,895  82  190  

Total Public - Lending Activity in Israel 113,967  1,750  2,445  118,162  432  441  

Banks in Israel 130  -  -  130  -  -  

Government of Israel 618  -  -  618  -  -  

Total Lending Activity in Israel 114,715  1,750  2,445  118,910  432  441  

Lending Activity Outside of Israel 
      Public - Commercial 
      Construction and Real Estate 7,990  64  128  8,182  -  1  

Commercial - Other 14,284  307  370  14,961  1  1  

Total Commercial 22,274  371  498  23,143  1  2  

Private Individuals 1,591  8  -  1,599  7  2  

Total Public - Lending Activity Outside of Israel 23,865  379  498  24,742  8  4  

Foreign banks 4,960  -  -  4,960  -  -  

Foreign governments 119  -  -  119  -  -  

Total Lending Activity Outside of Israel 28,944  379  498  29,821  8  4  

Total public 137,832  2,129  2,943  142,904  440  445  

Total banks 5,090  -  -  5,090  -  -  

Total governments 737  -  -  737  -  -  

Total 143,659  2,129  2,943  148,731  440  445  

Footnotes: 

(1) Impaired, substandard or under special mention credit risk, including housing loans for which an allowance according to the extent of arrears exists and 
including housing loans in arrears for ninety days or over for which an allowance according to the extent of arrears does not exist. 

(2) As a general rule, interest income is not accrued in respect of impaired debts. For information regarding impaired debt restructured under problematic debt 
restructuring, see B.2.c. below. 

(3) Classified as unimpaired problematic debts. Accruing interest income. 

(4) Debts in arrears for between 30 and 89 days which accrue interest income, in amount of NIS 166 millions are classified as unimpaired problematic debts 
(March 31, 2016 - NIS 111 million, December 31, 2016 - NIS 110 million). 

(5) Including housing loans  in amount of NIS 12 million with an allowance according to the extent of arrears, for which an arrangement was made for the 
repayment of overdue amounts, which included a change in the repayment schedule for the balance of the loan not yet due (March 31, 2016 - NIS 9 million, 
December 31, 2016 - NIS 12 million). 

(6) Reclassified due to changes in the data of the bank and a subsidiary company. 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) 

B. DEBTS (CONTINUED) 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING IMPAIRED DEBTS – CONSOLIDATED  

A. IMPAIRED DEBTS AND SPECIFIC ALLOWANCE 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2017 

 

Balance⁽¹⁾of 
impaired debts in 
respect of which 

specific allowance 
exist⁽²⁾ 

Balance of 
specific 

allowance⁽²⁾ 

Balance⁽¹⁾ of 
impaired debts for 

which specific 
allowance do not 

exist⁽²⁾ 

Total 
balance⁽¹⁾ of 

Impaired 
Debts 

Contractual 
principal 

amount of 
impaired 

debts⁽³⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

Lending Activity in Israel 
     Public - Commercial 
     Construction and Real Estate - Construction 32  12  90  122  2,612  

Construction and Real Estate - Real Estate Activity 108  11  150  258  1,244  

Financial Services 646  51  -  646  772  

Commercial - Other 532  196  634  1,166  4,284  

Total Commercial 1,318  270  874  2,192  8,912  

Private Individuals - Other Loans 16  4  49  65  437  

Total Public - Lending Activity in Israel 1,334  274  923  2,257  9,349  
      
Total Lending Activity in Israel 1,334  274  923  2,257  9,349  

      Lending Activity Outside of Israel 
     Public - Commercial 
     Construction and Real Estate -  -  83  83  589  

Commercial - Other 52  9  248  300  417  

Total Commercial 52  9  331  383  1,006  

Private Individuals -  -  -  -  1  

Total Public - Lending Activity Outside of 
Israel 52  9  331  383  1,007  
      
Total Lending Activity Outside of Israel 52  9  331  383  1,007  

Total public 1,386  283  1,254  2,640  10,356  

Total 1,386  283  1,254  2,640  10,356  
      
Of which: 

     Measured according to present value of cash flows 1,014  211  298  1,312  
 Debts under troubled debt restructurings 1,023  132  927  1,950  
 For footnotes see page 156. 
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14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) 

B. DEBTS (CONTINUED) 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING IMPAIRED DEBTS – CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

A. IMPAIRED DEBTS AND SPECIFIC ALLOWANCE (CONTINUED) 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2016 

 

Balance⁽¹⁾of 
impaired debts in 
respect of which 

specific allowance 
exist⁽²⁾ 

Balance of 
specific 

allowance⁽²⁾ 

Balance⁽¹⁾ of 
impaired debts for 

which specific 
allowance do not 

exist⁽²⁾ 

Total 
balance⁽¹⁾ of 

Impaired 
Debts 

Contractual 
principal 

amount of 
impaired 

debts⁽³⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

Lending Activity in Israel 
     Public - Commercial 
     Construction and Real Estate - Construction 39  20  84  123  3,260  

Construction and Real Estate - Real Estate Activity 88  11  175  263  1,459  

Financial Services 104  15  5  109  304  

Commercial - Other 1,196  405  594  1,790  5,102  

Total Commercial 1,427  451  858  2,285  10,125  

Private Individuals - Other Loans 13  2  47  60  439  

Total Public - Lending Activity in Israel 1,440  453  905  2,345  10,564  

Total Lending Activity in Israel 1,440  453  905  2,345  10,564  

      Lending Activity Outside of Israel 
     Public - Commercial 
     Construction and Real Estate 33  4  215  248  886  

Commercial - Other 78  27  133  211  345  

Total Commercial 111  31  348  459  1,231  

Private Individuals -  -  -  -  1  

Total Public - Lending Activity Outside of 
Israel 111  31  348  459  1,232  

Total Lending Activity Outside of Israel 111  31  348  459  1,232  

Total public 1,551  484  1,253  2,804  11,796  

Total 1,551  484  1,253  2,804  11,796  
      
Of which: 

     Measured according to present value of cash flows 752  316  317  1,069  
 Debts under troubled debt restructurings 903  184  740  1,643  
 For footnotes see next page. 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) 

B. DEBTS (CONTINUED) 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING IMPAIRED DEBTS – CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

A. IMPAIRED DEBTS AND SPECIFIC ALLOWANCE (CONTINUED) 

 
Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

 

Balance⁽¹⁾of 
impaired debts in 
respect of which 

specific allowance 
exist⁽²⁾ 

Balance of 
specific 

allowance⁽²⁾ 

Balance⁽¹⁾ of 
impaired debts for 

which specific 
allowance do not 

exist⁽²⁾ 

Total 
balance⁽¹⁾ 

of 
Impaired 

Debts 

Contractual 
principal 

amount of 
impaired 

debts⁽³⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

Lending Activity in Israel 
     Public - Commercial 
     Construction and Real Estate - Construction 45  20  91  136  3,126  

Construction and Real Estate - Real Estate Activity 99  12  166  265  1,208  

Financial Services 663  51  3  666  792  

Commercial - Other 854  280  463  1,317  4,433  

Total Commercial 1,661  363  723  2,384  9,559  

Private Individuals - Other Loans 15  3  46  61  431  

Total Public - Lending Activity in Israel 1,676  366  769  2,445  9,990  

Total Lending Activity in Israel 1,676  366  769  2,445  9,990  

Lending Activity Outside of Israel 
     Public - Commercial 
     Construction and Real Estate -  -  128  128  637  

Commercial - Other 80  23  290  370  553  

Total Commercial 80  23  418  498  1,190  

Private Individuals -  -  -  -  1  

Total Public - Lending Activity Outside of Israel 80  23  418  498  1,191  

Total Lending Activity Outside of Israel 80  23  418  498  1,191  

Total public 1,756  389  1,187  2,943  11,181  

Total 1,756  389  1,187  2,943  11,181  
      
Of which: 

     Measured according to present value of cash flows 1,077  219  304  1,381  
 Debts under troubled debt restructurings 1,384  225  740  2,124  
 Footnotes: 

(1) Recorded amount. 

(2) Specific allowance for credit losses. 

(3) The contractual balance of the principal amount includes accrued unpaid interest at date of the initial implementation of the instruction in respect of impaired 
debts, not yet written off or collected. 
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14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) 

B. DEBTS (CONTINUED) 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING IMPAIRED DEBTS – CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

B. AVERAGE BALANCE AND INTEREST INCOME  

 
Unaudited 

 
Three months ended March 31 

 
2017 2016 

 

Average 
balance of 

Impaired 
Debts⁽¹⁾ 

Recorded 
Interest 

Income⁽²⁾ 

Of which: 
recorded 
on cash 

basis 

Average 
balance of 

Impaired 
Debts⁽¹⁾ 

Recorded 
Interest 

Income⁽²⁾ 

Of which: 
recorded 
on cash 

basis 

 
In NIS millions 

Lending Activity in Israel 
   Public - Commercial 
   Construction and Real Estate - Construction 131  1  -  127  -  -  

Construction and Real Estate - Real Estate Activity 266  1  1  272  1  1  

Financial Services 654  5  5  122  -  -  

Commercial - Other 1,272  6  4  1,817  11  7  

Total Commercial 2,323  13  10  2,338  12  8  

Private Individuals - Other Loans 68  -  -  66  -  -  

Total Public - Lending Activity in Israel 2,391  13  10  2,404  12  8  

Total Lending Activity in Israel 2,391  13  10  2,404  12  8  
       

Lending Activity Outside of Israel 
      Public - Commercial 
      Construction and Real Estate 105  -  -  258  2  1  

Commercial - Other 290  2  -  232  1  -  

Total Commercial 395  2  -  490  3  1  

Total Public - Lending Activity Outside of Israel 395  2  -  490  3  1  

Total Lending Activity Outside of Israel 395  2  -  490  3  1  

Total 2,786  ⁽³⁾15  10  2,894  ⁽³⁾15  9  

Footnotes: 

(1) Average recorded amount of Impaired debts during the reported period. 

(2) Interest income recognized in the reported period, in respect of the average balance of impaired debts, during the time period in which these debts had been 
classified as impaired. 

(3) Total interest income that would have been recognized had such credit accrued interest according to its original terms is in amoumt of NIS 28 millions and NIS 
33 millions for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and March 31, 2016, respectively. 
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Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) 

B. DEBTS (CONTINUED) 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING IMPAIRED DEBTS – CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

C. RESTRUCTURED TROUBLED DEBTS - CONSOLIDATED 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2017 

 
Recorded amount 

 

Not accruing 
interest 
income 

Accruing 
debts⁽¹⁾,in 

arrears for 
90 days or 

more 

Accruing 
debts⁽¹⁾, in 

Arrears for 
30 to 89 

Days 

Accruing 
debts⁽¹⁾ not 

in arrears Total⁽²⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

Lending Activity in Israel 
     Public - Commercial 
     Construction and Real Estate - Construction 20  -  -  40  60  

Construction and Real Estate - Real Estate Activity 98  -  -  24  122  

Financial Services 587  -  -  55  642  

Commercial - Other 729  -  1  131  861  

Total Commercial 1,434  -  1  250  1,685  

Private Individuals - Other Loans 23  -  2  20  45  

Total Public - Lending Activity in Israel 1,457  -  3  270  1,730  

Total Lending Activity in Israel 1,457  -  3  270  1,730  

      Lending Activity Outside of Israel 
     Public - Commercial 
     Construction and Real Estate 20  -  -  -  20  

Commercial - Other 25  -  -  175  200  

Total Commercial 45  -  -  175  220  

Total Public - Lending Activity Outside of Israel 45  -  -  175  220  

Total Lending Activity Outside of Israel 45  -  -  175  220  

Total 1,502  -  3  445  1,950  
Footnotes: 

(1) Accruing interest income. 

(2) Included in impaired debts. 
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14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) 

B. DEBTS (CONTINUED) 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING IMPAIRED DEBTS – CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

C. RESTRUCTURED TROUBLED DEBTS – CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2016 

 
Recorded amount 

 

Not accruing 
interest 
income 

Accruing 
debts⁽¹⁾,in 

arrears for 
90 days or 

more 

Accruing 
debts⁽¹⁾, in 

Arrears for 
30 to 89 

Days 

Accruing 
debts⁽¹⁾ not 

in arrears Total⁽²⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

Lending Activity in Israel 
     Public - Commercial 
     Construction and Real Estate - Construction 30  -  -  8  38  

Construction and Real Estate - Real Estate Activity 82  -  -  40  122  

Financial Services 102  -  -  1  103  

Commercial - Other 949  -  4  297  1,250  

Total Commercial 1,163  -  4  346  1,513  

Private Individuals - Other Loans 19  -  -  29  48  

Total Public - Lending Activity in Israel 1,182  -  4  375  1,561  

Total Lending Activity in Israel 1,182  -  4  375  1,561  

      Lending Activity Outside of Israel 
     Public - Commercial 
     Construction and Real Estate 23  -  -  1  24  

Commercial - Other 7  -  -  51  58  

Total Commercial 30  -  -  52  82  

Total Public - Lending Activity Outside of Israel 30  -  -  52  82  

Total Lending Activity Outside of Israel 30  -  -  52  82  

Total 1,212  -  4  427  1,643  
Footnotes: 

(1) Accruing interest income. 

(2) Included in impaired debts. 
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14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) 

B. DEBTS (CONTINUED) 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING IMPAIRED DEBTS – CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

C. RESTRUCTURED TROUBLED DEBTS – CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

 
Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

 
Recorded amount 

 

Not accruing 
interest 
income 

Accruing 
debts⁽¹⁾,in 

arrears for 
90 days or 

more 

Accruing 
debts⁽¹⁾, in 

Arrears for 
30 to 89 

Days 

Accruing 
debts⁽¹⁾ not 

in arrears Total⁽²⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

Lending Activity in Israel 
     Public - Commercial 
     Construction and Real Estate - Construction 18  -  -  41  59  

Construction and Real Estate - Real Estate Activity 101  -  2  26  129  

Financial Services 598  -  -  63  661  

Commercial - Other 814  -  1  182  997  

Total Commercial 1,531  -  3  312  1,846  

Private Individuals - Other Loans 21  -  1  26  48  

Total Public - Lending Activity in Israel 1,552  -  4  338  1,894  

Total Lending Activity in Israel 1,552  -  4  338  1,894  

      Lending Activity Outside of Israel 
     Public - Commercial 
     Construction and Real Estate 21  -  -  -  21  

Commercial - Other 2  -  15  192  209  

Total Commercial 23  -  15  192  230  

Total Public - Lending Activity Outside of Israel 23  -  15  192  230  

Total Lending Activity Outside of Israel 23  -  15  192  230  

Total 1,575  -  19  530  2,124  
Footnotes: 

(1) Accruing interest income. 

(2) Included in impaired debts. 
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14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) 

B. DEBTS (CONTINUED) 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING IMPAIRED DEBTS – CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

C. RESTRUCTURED TROUBLED DEBTS - CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

 
Unaudited 

 
Three months ended March 31 

 
2017 2016 

 
Debt restructuring performed 

 

Number of 
contracts 

Recorded 
amount 

before 
restructuring 

Recorded 
amount after 
restructuring 

Number of 
contracts 

Recorded 
amount 

before 
restructuring 

Recorded 
amount after 
restructuring 

 
In NIS millions 

Lending Activity in Israel 
      Public - Commercial 
      Construction and Real Estate - Construction 33  6  6  32  3  3  

Construction and Real Estate - Real Estate Activity 2  1  1  2  2  2  

Commercial - Other 106  16  16  99  11  11  

Total Commercial 141  23  23  133  16  16  

Private Individuals - Other Loans 755  13  12  612  9  8  

Total Public - Lending Activity in Israel 896  36  35  745  25  24  

Total Lending Activity in Israel 896  36  35  745  25  24  
       

Lending Activity Outside of Israel 
      Public - Commercial 
      Construction and Real Estate -  -  -  1  1  1  

Total Commercial -  -  -  1  1  1  

Total Public - Lending Activity Outside of Israel -  -  -  1  1  1  

Total Lending Activity Outside of Israel -  -  -  1  1  1  

Total 896  36  35  746  26  25  
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14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) 

B. DEBTS (CONTINUED) 

2. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING IMPAIRED DEBTS – CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

C. RESTRUCTURED TROUBLED DEBTS - CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

 
Unaudited 

 
Three months ended March 31 

 
2017 2016 

 
Failure of restructured debts⁽¹⁾ 

 

Number of 
contracts 

Recorded 
amount 

Number of 
contracts 

Recorded 
amount 

 
In NIS millions 

Lending Activity in Israel 
    Public - Commercial 
    Construction and Real Estate - Construction 5  ⁽²⁾-  4  ⁽²⁾-  

Construction and Real Estate - Real Estate Activity 1  1  1  ⁽²⁾-  

Commercial - Other 26  1  27  41  

Total Commercial 32  2  32  41  

Private Individuals - Other 401  4  337  3  

Total Public - Activity in Israel 433  6  369  44  

Total Activity in Israel 433  6  369  44  

Lending Activity Outside of Israel 
    Public - Commercial 
    Commercial - Other 1  25  -  -  

Total Commercial 1  25  -  -  

Total Public - Activity Outside of Israel 1  25  -  -  

Total Activity Outside of Israel 1  25  -  -  

Total 434  31  369  44  

Footnotes: 

(1) Debts, which in the reported period turned into debts in arrears for 30 days or over, which had been restructured under troubled debt restructurings during the 
period of twelve months prior to their having become debts in arrear. 

(2) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

 

3. ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE REGARDING THE QUALITY OF CREDIT  
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14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) 

B. DEBTS (CONTINUED) 

3. ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE REGARDING THE QUALITY OF CREDIT (CONTINUED) 

(B) Indication of credit quality 

 
Unaudited Audited 

 
March 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 

  
Private Individuals 

  
Private Individuals 

 

 
Commercial 

Housing 
Loans 

Other 
Loans Total Commercial 

Housing 
Loans 

Other 
Loans Total 

Ratio of the balance of non-problematic credit to 
the public to the balance of credit to the public 95.7%  98.8%  98.4%  96.8%  95.2%  98.8%  98.4%  96.4%  

Ratio of  the balance of problematic unimpaired 
credit to the public to the balance of credit to 
the public 1.5%  1.2%  1.4%  1.4%  1.6%  1.2%  1.4%  1.5%  

Ratio of  the balance of impaired credit to the 
public to the balance of credit to the public 2.8%  -  0.2%  1.8%  3.2%  -  0.2%  2.1%  

Ratio of the balance of allowance to credit 
losses in respect of credit to the public to the 
balance of credit to the public 1.6%  0.6%  1.6%  1.4%  1.7%  0.7%  1.6%  1.5%  

Ratio of the balance of allowance to credit 
losses in respect of credit to the public to the 
balance of problematic credit risk (excluding 
derivatives and bonds)  33.8%  54.5%  99.6%  40.8%  32.4%  51.2%  98.9%  38.8% 
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14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) 

B. DEBTS (CONTINUED) 

4. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING HOUSING LOANS 

Balances for the year end, according to Loan-to-Value (LTV)(1) ratio, manner of repayment and type of interest: 

  
Balance of housing loans 

  
Total 

Of which: 
Bullet and 

Balloon debts 

Of which: 
variable 
interest 

Total Off-
Balance Sheet 

Credit Risk 

  
In NIS millions 

  
Unaudited 

  
March 31, 2017 

First degree pledge: financing ratio Up to 60% 17,004  345  10,229  190  

 
Over 60% 8,832  60  5,601  44  

Second degree pledge or without pledge 
 

711  25  278  1,853  

Total 
 

⁽²⁾26,547  430  16,108  2,087  

      

  
Unaudited 

  
March 31, 2016 

First degree pledge: financing ratio Up to 60% 14,165  285  8,739  146  

 
Over 60% 7,536  57  4,921  74  

Second degree pledge or without pledge 
 

781  23  402  1,856  

Total 
 

⁽²⁾22,482  365  14,062  2,076  

      

  
Audited 

  
December 31,2016 

First degree pledge: financing ratio Up to 60% 16,298  307  9,882  148  

 
Over 60% 8,683  66  5,512  46  

Second degree pledge or without pledge 
 

783  22  368  1,803  

Total 
 

⁽²⁾25,764  395  15,762  1,997  

Footnotes: 

(1) The ratio between the authorized credit line at the time the credit line was granted and the value of the asset, as confirmed by the Bank at the time the credit 
line was granted.The LTV ratio is another indication of the bank as to the assessment of the customer risk when the facility was granted. 

(2) The balance of housing loans not includes the balance of commercial debts in the amount of NIS 258 million, which are combined in the layout of transactions 
and collateral of commercial borrowers' business, or which were granted to acquisition groups, the projects being built by them are in the course of 
construction (March 31, 2016 - NIS 248 million, December 31, 2016 - NIS 266 million). 

 

C. INFORMATION REGARDING THE PURCHASE AND SALE OF DEBTS 

DETAILS REGARDING THE CONSIDERATION PAID OR RECEIVED FOR THE PURCHASE OR SALE OF LOANS 

 
Unaudited 

 
For the three months ended March 31, 2017 For the three months ended March 31, 2016 

 
Credit to the public 

  
Credit to the public 

  

 
Commercial Housing Other 

Credit to 
banks and 
governments Total Commercial Housing Other 

Credit to 
banks and 
governments Total 

 
In NIS millions 

Loans acquired 495  -  -  -  495  278  -  -  4  282  

Loans sold 45  -  -  -  45  160  -  -  -  160  
For details regarding profit (loss) net in respect of loans sold, see Note 3. 
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14. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING CREDIT RISK, CREDIT TO THE PUBLIC AND 

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (CONTINUED) 

D. OFF BALANCE SHEET FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS(3) 

 
Unaudited Unaudited Audited 

 
Balance⁽¹⁾ Provision⁽²⁾ Balance⁽¹⁾ Provision⁽²⁾ Balance⁽¹⁾ Provision⁽²⁾ 

 
March 31,2017 March 31,2016 December 31,2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Transactions in which the balance represents credit risk: 
      Letters of credit 1,068  5  1,608  8  1,195  4  

Credit guarantees 2,448  22  2,109  28  2,544  23  

Guarantees for home purchasers 6,766  2  6,207  3  6,861  2  

Other guarantees and obligations 6,109  53  5,490  32  6,240  55  

Unutilized facilities for transactions in derivative instruments 1,109  -  1,054  -  954  -  

Unutilized facilities credit line for credit cards 21,987  25  20,348  24  21,922  25  

Unutilized current loan account facilities and other credit facilities in on-
call accounts 8,884  25  8,542  26  8,986  27  

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit approved but not yet 
granted⁽³⁾ 22,581  51  21,723  55  22,470  54  

Commitment to issue guarantees 5,135  4  4,050  5  4,446  5  

Footnotes: 

(1) Contract balance or their stated amounts at period end before of allowance for credit loss. 

(2) Balance of allowance for credit losses at period end. 

(3) Including commitments to customers for granting credit within the framework of "an approval in principle and maintaning interest rates" in accordance with 
Proper Management Directive No. 451 "Procedures for the granting of housing loans". 
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15. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ACCORDING TO LINKAGE TERMS - CONSOLIDATED 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2017 

 
Israeli currency Foreign currency⁽¹⁾ 

  

 
Non-linked 

Linked to 
the CPI In US$ In Euro 

In other 
currencies 

Non 
monetary 

items Total 

 
in NIS millions 

Assets 
       Cash and deposits with banks 24,345  50  3,901  264  619  -  29,179  

Securities 16,414  4,139  13,936  728  20  950  36,187  

Securities borrowed or purchased under resale 
agreements 369  -  -  -  -  -  369  

Credit to the public, net 100,117  15,627  25,653  1,619  443  -  143,459  

Credit to the Government 222  207  169  197  -  -  795  

Investments in affiliated companies -  2  -  -  -  145  147  

Buildings and equipment -  -  -  -  -  2,271  2,271  

Intangible assets and goodwill -  -  -  -  -  160  160  

Assets in respect of derivative instruments 1,827  88  561  104  92  362  3,034  

Other assets 1,673  25  905  43  344  458  3,448  

Assets held for sale -  -  -  -  -  47  47  

Total assets 144,967  20,138  45,125  2,955  1,518  4,393  219,096  

Liabilities 
       Deposits from the public 111,196  5,203  46,579  6,370  2,294  -  171,642  

Deposits from banks 3,440  4  1,635  97  8  -  5,184  

Deposits from the Government 149  46  107  -  -  -  302  

Securities loaned or sold under repurchase 
agreements -  -  3,340  -  -  -  3,340  

Subordinated debt notes 2,667  5,896  -  85  -  -  8,648  

Liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 2,326  159  575  127  88  364  3,639  

Other liabilities 10,121  163  441  20  43  368  11,156  

Liabilities held for sale -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Total liabilities 129,899  11,471  52,677  6,699  2,433  732  203,911  

Difference 15,068  8,667  (7,552) (3,744) (915) 3,661  15,185  

Effect of non-hedging derivative instruments: 
       Derivative instruments (except for options) (12,305) (3,557) 11,180  3,820  862  -  -  

Options in the money, net (in terms of underlying 
asset) 197  -  (257) 57  3  -  -  

Options out of the money, net (in terms of 
underlying asset) 65  -  54  (92) (27) -  -  

Total 3,025  5,110  3,425  41  (77) 3,661  15,185  

Options in the money, net (discounted par value) 68  -  (226) 151  7  -  -  

Options out of the money, net (discounted par value) (134) -  424  (210) (80) -  -  

Footnote: 

(1) Includes those linked to foreign currency. 
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15. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ACCORDING TO LINKAGE TERMS - CONSOLIDATED 

(CONTINUED) 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2016 

 
Israeli currency Foreign currency⁽¹⁾ 

  

 
Non-linked 

Linked to 
the CPI In US$ In Euro 

In other 
currencies 

Non 
monetary 

items Total 

 
in NIS millions 

Assets 
       Cash and deposits with banks 23,518  60  4,212  627  793  -  29,210  

Securities 16,796  4,472  15,247  662  6  881  38,064  

Securities borrowed or purchased under resale 
agreements 183  -  -  -  -  -  183  

Credit to the public, net 86,061  14,867  25,975  1,757  543  -  129,203  

Credit to the Government 208  198  14  104  -  -  524  

Investments in affiliated companies -  2  -  -  -  139  141  

Buildings and equipment -  -  -  -  -  2,180  2,180  

Intangible assets and goodwill -  -  -  -  -  142  142  

Assets in respect of derivative instruments 2,234  77  665  456  175  154  3,761  

Other assets 2,053  16  1,124  10  324  249  3,776  

Assets held for sale -  -  -  -  -  16  16  

Total assets 131,053  19,692  47,237  3,616  1,841  3,761  207,200  

Liabilities 
       Deposits from the public 99,669  6,117  ⁽²⁾45,969  7,226  2,652  -  161,633  

Deposits from banks 2,374  5  1,393  51  19  -  3,842  

Deposits from the Government 145  66  ⁽²⁾114  -  -  -  325  

Securities loaned or sold under repurchase 
agreements -  -  3,698  -  -  -  3,698  

Subordinated debt notes 2,078  6,596  -  65  -  -  8,739  

Liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 2,871  138  777  422  168  159  4,535  

Other liabilities 9,825  161  467  50  75  176  10,754  

Liabilities held for sale -  -  19  26  2  -  47  

Total liabilities 116,962  13,083  52,437  7,840  2,916  335  193,573  

Difference 14,091  6,609  (5,200) (4,224) (1,075) 3,426  13,627  

Effect of non-hedging derivative instruments: 
       Derivative instruments (except for options) (11,988) (1,569) 8,616  4,073  868  -  -  

Options in the money, net (in terms of underlying 
asset) (148) -  176  (36) 8  -  -  

Options out of the money, net (in terms of 
underlying asset) 34  -  (157) 98  25  -  -  

Total 1,989  5,040  3,435  (89) (174) 3,426  13,627  

Options in the money, net (discounted par value) (313) -  284  4  25  -  -  

Options out of the money, net (discounted par value) (303) -  (294) 395  202  -  -  

Footnotes: 

(1) Includes those linked to foreign currency. 

(2) Reclassified - see Note 1 G (2). 

  

  



 

 

 

 

168 

Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

15. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ACCORDING TO LINKAGE TERMS - CONSOLIDATED 

(CONTINUED) 

 
Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

 
December 31, 2016 

   

 
Non-linked 

Linked to 
the CPI In US$ In Euro 

In other 
currencies 

Non 
monetary 

items Total 

 
in NIS millions 

Assets 
       Cash and deposits with banks 23,739  51  4,181  611  729  -  29,311  

Securities 16,705  4,607  15,972  538  20  976  38,818  

Securities borrowed or purchased under resale 
agreements 440  -  -  -  -  -  440  

Credit to the public, net 96,200  15,243  27,050  1,752  515  -  140,760  

Credit to the Government 224  206  102  205  -  -  737  

Investments in affiliated companies -  2  -  -  -  155  157  

Buildings and equipment -  -  -  -  -  2,295  2,295  

Intangible assets and goodwill -  -  -  -  -  160  160  

Assets in respect of derivative instruments 1,499  79  1,254  70  33  348  3,283  

Other assets 1,766  23  948  31  360  461  3,589  

Assets held for sale -  -  -  -  -  27  27  

Total assets 140,573  20,211  49,507  3,207  1,657  4,422  219,577  

Liabilities 
       Deposits from the public 108,345  5,360  49,396  6,770  2,447  -  172,318  

Deposits from banks 3,303  5  1,908  117  9  -  5,342  

Deposits from the Government 133  57  113  -  -  -  303  

Securities loaned or sold under repurchase 
agreements -  -  3,543  -  -  -  3,543  

Subordinated debt notes 2,052  6,356  -  90  -  -  8,498  

Liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 1,608  152  1,284  145  28  353  3,570  

Other liabilities 9,913  186  466  26  41  435  11,067  

Liabilities held for sale -  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Total liabilities 125,354  12,116  56,710  7,148  2,525  788  204,641  

Difference 15,219  8,095  (7,203) (3,941) (868) 3,634  14,936  

Effect of non-hedging derivative instruments: 
       Derivative instruments (except for options) (12,291) (3,076) 10,749  3,919  699  -  -  

Options in the money, net (in terms of underlying 
asset) 160  -  (189) 1  28  -  -  

Options out of the money, net (in terms of 
underlying asset) (91) -  45  33  13  -  -  

Total 2,997  5,019  3,402  12  (128) 3,634  14,936  

Options in the money, net (discounted par value) 225  -  (232) (43) 50  -  -  

Options out of the money, net (discounted par value) (466) -  152  288  26  -  -  

Footnotes: 

(1) Includes those linked to foreign currency. 
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16. BALANCES AND FAIR VALUE ESTIMATES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

A. COMPOSITION - CONSOLIDATED 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2017 

 
Book Fair value 

 
value Level 1⁽¹⁾ Level 2⁽¹⁾ Level 3⁽¹⁾ Total 

 
in NIS millions 

Financial assets 
     Cash and deposits with banks 29,179  9,402  -  19,800  29,202  

Securities⁽²⁾ 36,187  20,666  14,937  865  36,468  

Securities borrowed or purchased under resale 
agreements 369  -  -  369  369  

Credit to the public, net 143,459  3,474  2  139,645  143,121  

Credit to Governments 795  -  -  833  833  

Assets in respect of derivative instruments 3,034  394  1,682  958  3,034  

Other financial assets 1,582  225  24  1,333  1,582  

Total financial assets ⁽³⁾214,605  34,161  16,645  163,803  214,609  

Financial liabilities 
     Deposits from the public 171,642  18,957  114,605  38,303  171,865  

Deposits from banks 5,184  -  4,134  1,063  5,197  

Deposits from the Government 302  -  198  113  311  

Securities loaned or sold under repurchase 
agreements 3,340  -  -  3,474  3,474  

Bonds and Subordinated debt notes 8,648  7,458  277  1,905  9,640  

Liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 3,639  394  2,921  324  3,639  

Other financial liabilities 8,081  489  28  7,564  8,081  

Total financial liabilities ⁽³⁾200,836  27,298  122,163  52,746  202,207  

Off-balance sheet financial instruments 
     Transactions in which the balance represents credit 

risk 86  -  -  86  86  

Footnotes: 

(1) Level 1 - fair value measurements using quoted prices in an active market. Level 2 - fair value measurements using other significant observable inputs. Level 3 
- fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs. 

(2) For further details of the stated balance sheet amount and the fair value of securities, see Note 5. 

(3) Of which: assets and liabilities in the amount of NIS 48,287 million and NIS 87,119 million, respectively, the stated balance sheet amounts of which are 
identical to their fair value (instruments stated in the balance sheet at their fair value). For additional information regarding instruments measured at fair .value 
on a recurrent basis and on a non-recurrent basis, see the following Notes B and C. 
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16. BALANCES AND FAIR VALUE ESTIMATES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(CONTINUED) 

A. COMPOSITION - CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2016 

 
Book Fair value 

 
value Level 1⁽¹⁾ Level 2⁽¹⁾ Level 3⁽¹⁾ Total 

 
in NIS millions 

Financial assets 
     Cash and deposits with banks 29,210  9,439  -  19,787  29,226  

Securities⁽²⁾ 38,064  21,691  16,016  798  38,505  

Securities borrowed or purchased under resale 
agreements 183  -  -  183  183  

Credit to the public, net 129,203  2,050  2  127,296  129,348  

Credit to Governments 524  -  -  585  585  

Assets in respect of derivative instruments 3,761  185  2,407  1,169  3,761  

Other financial assets 1,931  48  25  1,858  1,931  

Financial assets held for sale -  -  -  -  -  

Total financial assets ⁽³⁾202,876  33,413  18,450  151,676  203,539  

Financial liabilities 
     Deposits from the public ⁽⁴⁾161,633  18,753  ⁽⁴⁾111,488  31,792  162,033  

Deposits from banks 3,842  2  3,710  138  3,850  

Deposits from the Government ⁽⁴⁾325  -  ⁽⁴⁾220  117  337  

Securities loaned or sold under repurchase 
agreements 3,698  -  -  3,981  3,981  

Subordinated debt notes 8,739  7,668  310  2,014  9,992  

Liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 4,535  185  4,033  317  4,535  

Other financial liabilities 7,329  59  27  7,243  7,329  

Financial liabilities held for sale 47  -  47  -  47  

Total financial liabilities ⁽³⁾190,148  26,667  119,835  45,602  192,104  

Off-balance sheet financial instruments 
     Transactions in which the balance represents credit 

risk 72  -  -  72  72  

Footnotes: 

(1) Level 1 - fair value measurements using quoted prices in an active market. Level 2 - fair value measurements using other significant observable inputs. Level 3 
- fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs. 

(2) For further details of the stated balance sheet amount and the fair value of securities, see Note 5. 

(3) Of which: assets and liabilities in the amount of NIS 49,392 million and NIS 83,240 million, respectively, the stated balance sheet amounts of which are 
identical to their fair value (instruments stated in the balance sheet at their fair value). For additional information regarding instruments measured at fair value 
on a recurrent basis and on a non-recurrent basis, see Notes B and C. 

(4) Reclassified - see Note 1 G (2). 
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16. BALANCES AND FAIR VALUE ESTIMATES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(CONTINUED) 

A. COMPOSITION - CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

 
Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

 
Book Fair value 

 
value Level 1⁽¹⁾ Level 2⁽¹⁾ Level 3⁽¹⁾ Total 

 
in NIS millions 

Financial assets 
     Cash and deposits with banks 29,311  8,886  -  20,448  29,334  

Securities⁽²⁾ 38,818  21,706  16,551  853  39,110  

Securities borrowed or purchased under resale 
agreements 440  -  -  440  440  

Credit to the public, net 140,760  3,336  1  136,790  140,127  

Credit to Governments 737  -  -  799  799  

Assets in respect of derivative instruments 3,283  365  2,075  843  3,283  

Other financial assets 1,803  298  21  1,484  1,803  

Total financial assets ⁽³⁾215,152  34,591  18,648  161,657  214,896  

Financial liabilities 
     Deposits from the public 172,318  19,173  116,222  37,120  172,515  

Deposits from banks 5,342  -  4,166  1,182  5,348  

Deposits from the Government 303  -  123  189  312  

Securities loaned or sold under repurchase 
agreements 3,543  -  -  3,712  3,712  

Subordinated capital notes 8,498  7,271  265  1,958  9,494  

Liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 3,570  365  2,910  295  3,570  

Other financial liabilities 7,963  583  28  7,352  7,963  

Total financial liabilities ⁽³⁾201,537  27,392  123,714  51,808  202,914  

Off-balance sheet financial instruments 
     Transactions in which the balance represents credit 

risk 83  -  -  83  83  

Footnotes: 

(1) Level 1 - fair value measurements using quoted prices in an active market. Level 2 - fair value measurements using other significant observable inputs. Level 3 
- fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs. 

(2) For further details of the stated balance sheet amount and the fair value of securities, see Note 12. 

(3) Of which: assets and liabilities in the amount of NIS 50,627 million and NIS 87,991 million, respectively, the stated balance sheet amounts of which are 
identical to their fair value (instruments stated in the balance sheet at their fair value). For additional information regarding instruments measured at fair .value 
on a recurrent basis and on a non-recurrent basis, see the following Notes B and C. 
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16. BALANCES AND FAIR VALUE ESTIMATES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(CONTINUED) 

B. ITEMS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE – CONSOLIDATED 

1. ITEMS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE ON A RECURRING BASIS 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2017 

 
Fair value measurements using - 

   

 

Quoted 
prices in 
an active 

market 
(level 1) 

Other 
significant 

observable 
inputs 

(level 2) 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs (level 3) 

Influence of 
deduction 

agreements 
Total fair 

value 

Balance 
sheet 

balance 

 
In NIS millions 

Assets 
      Available for sale securities 
      Of the Israeli Government 14,540  1,742  -  -  16,282  16,282  

Of foreign governments -  711  -  -  711  711  

Of  Israeli financial institutions 10  47  -  -  57  57  

Of  foreign financial institutions -  989  -  -  989  989  

Mortgage-backed-securities or Assets -backed-securities -  7,207  -  -  7,207  7,207  

Of others in Israel 198  182  -  -  380  380  

Of others abroad -  1,151  -  -  1,151  1,151  

Shares 76  -  -  -  76  76  
Total available-for-sale securities 14,824  12,029  -  -  26,853  26,853  

Trading Securities 
      Of the Israeli Government 1,922  469  -  -  2,391  2,391  

Of foreign governments -  -  -  -  -  -  

Of  Israeli financial institutions 25  -  -  -  25  25  

Of  foreign financial institutions -  36  -  -  36  36  

Mortgage-backed-securities or Assets -backed-securities -  53  -  -  53  53  

Of others in Israel 32  4  -  -  36  36  

Of others abroad -  21  -  -  21  21  

Shares 9  -  -  -  9  9  
Total trading securities 1,988  583  -  -  2,571  2,571  

Credit to the public in respect of securities loaned 3,474  2  -  -  3,476  3,476  

Assets in respect of derivative instruments 
      Shekel/CPI Interest Rate Contracts -  1  174  -  175  175  

Other Interest Rate Contracts -  1,261  228  -  1,489  1,489  

Foreign Exchange Contracts 29  393  556  -  978  978  

Shares Contracts 365  27  -  -  392  392  

Commodity and other Contracts -  -  -  -  -  -  

Total assets in respect of derivative instruments 394  1,682  958  -  3,034  3,034  

Other -  24  -  -  24  24  

Assets in respect of the "Maof" market operations 225  -  -  -  225  225  
Total assets 20,905  14,320  958  -  36,183  36,183  

Liabilities 
      Deposits from the public in respect of securities borrowed 1,636  19  -  -  1,655  1,655  

CLN deposits -  -  309  -  309  309  

Liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 
      Shekel/CPI Interest Rate Contracts -  1  177  -  178  178  

Other Interest Rate Contracts -  1,641  -  -  1,641  1,641  

Foreign Exchange Contracts 29  1,279  147  -  1,455  1,455  

Shares Contracts 365  -  -  -  365  365  

Commodity and other Contracts -  -  -  -  -  -  

Total liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 394  2,921  324  -  3,639  3,639  

Other -  28  -  -  28  28  

Commitments in respect of the "Maof" market operations 225  -  -  -  225  225  

Short sales of securities 264  -  -  -  264  264  
Total liabilities 2,519  2,968  633  -  6,120  6,120  
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16. BALANCES AND FAIR VALUE ESTIMATES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(CONTINUED) 

B. ITEMS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE - CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

1. ITEMS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE ON A RECURRING BASIS (CONTINUED) 

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2016 

 
Fair value measurements using - 

   

 

Quoted 
prices in 
an active 

market 
(level 1) 

Other 
significant 

observable 
inputs 

(level 2) 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs (level 3) 

Influence of 
deduction 

agreements 
Total fair 

value 

Balance 
sheet 

balance 

 
In NIS millions 

Assets 
      Available for sale securities 
      Of the Israeli Government 13,660  1,400  -  -  15,060  15,060  

Of foreign governments 197  624  -  -  821  821  

Of  Israeli financial institutions 140  46  -  -  186  186  

Of  foreign financial institutions -  1,517  -  -  1,517  1,517  

Mortgage-backed-securities or Assets -backed-securities  ׁ -  7,387  -  -  7,387  7,387  

Of others in Israel 200  225  -  -  425  425  

Of others abroad -  1,461  -  -  1,461  1,461  

Shares 76  -  -  -  76  76  

Total available-for-sale securities 14,273  12,660  -  -  26,933  26,933  

Trading Securities 
      Of the Israeli Government 3,163  213  -  -  3,376  3,376  

Of foreign governments -  -  -  -  -  -  

Of  Israeli financial institutions -  -  -  -  -  -  

Of  foreign financial institutions -  5  -  -  5  5  

Mortgage-backed-securities or Assets -backed-securities  ׁ -  58  -  -  58  58  

Of others in Israel 14  8  -  -  22  22  

Of others abroad -  28  -  -  28  28  

Shares 6  1  -  -  7  7  

Total trading securities 3,183  313  -  -  3,496  3,496  

Credit to the public in respect of securities loaned 2,050  2  -  -  2,052  2,052  

Assets in respect of derivative instruments 
      Shekel/CPI Interest Rate Contracts -  -  199  -  199  199  

Other Interest Rate Contracts -  1,815  257  -  2,072  2,072  

Foreign Exchange Contracts 26  567  713  -  1,306  1,306  

Shares Contracts 159  25  -  -  184  184  

Commodity and other Contracts -  -  -  -  -  -  

Total assets in respect of derivative instruments 185  2,407  1,169  -  3,761  3,761  

Other -  25  -  -  25  25  

Assets in respect of the "Maof" market operations 48  -  -  -  48  48  

Total assets 19,739  15,407  1,169  -  36,315  36,315  

Liabilities 
      Deposits from the public in respect of securities borrowed 1,089  21  -  -  1,110  1,110  

CLN deposits -  -  339  -  339  339  

Liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 
      Shekel/CPI Interest Rate Contracts -  -  180  -  180  180  

Other Interest Rate Contracts -  2,516  -  -  2,516  2,516  

Foreign Exchange Contracts 26  1,517  137  -  1,680  1,680  

Shares Contracts 159  -  -  -  159  159  

Commodity and other Contracts -  -  -  -  -  -  

Total liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 185  4,033  317  -  4,535  4,535  

Other -  27  -  -  27  27  

Commitments in respect of the "Maof" market operations 48  -  -  -  48  48  

Short sales of securities 11  -  -  -  11  11  

Total liabilities 1,333  4,081  656  -  6,070  6,070  
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16. BALANCES AND FAIR VALUE ESTIMATES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(CONTINUED) 

B. ITEMS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE - CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

1. ITEMS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE ON A RECURRING BASIS (CONTINUED) 

 
Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

 
Fair value measurements using - 

   

 

Quoted 
prices in 
an active 

market 
(level 1) 

Other 
significant 

observable 
inputs 

(level 2) 

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs (level 3) 

Influence of 
deduction 

agreements 
Total fair 

value 

Balance 
sheet 

balance 

 
In NIS millions 

Assets 

      Available for sale securities 

      Of the Israeli Government 14,671  1,893  -  -  16,564  16,564  

Of foreign governments 197  721  -  -  918  918  

Of  Israeli financial institutions 10  48  -  -  58  58  

Of  foreign financial institutions -  1,154  -  -  1,154  1,154  

Mortgage-backed-securities or Assets -backed-securities  ׁ -  7,683  -  -  7,683  7,683  

Of others in Israel 200  153  -  -  353  353  

Of others abroad -  2,023  -  -  2,023  2,023  

Shares 110  -  -  -  110  110  

Total available-for-sale securities 15,188  13,675  -  -  28,863  28,863  
Trading Securities 

      Of the Israeli Government 2,424  144  -  -  2,568  2,568  

Of foreign governments -  21  -  -  21  21  

Of  Israeli financial institutions 14  -  -  -  14  14  

Of  foreign financial institutions -  39  -  -  39  39  

Mortgage-backed-securities or Assets -backed-securities  ׁ -  61  -  -  61  61  

Of others in Israel 46  8  -  -  54  54  

Of others abroad -  65  -  -  65  65  

Shares 13  -  -  -  13  13  

Total trading securities 2,497  338  -  -  2,835  2,835  

Credit  to the public in respect of securities loaned 3,336  1  -  -  3,337  3,337  
Assets in respect of derivative instruments 

      Shekel/CPI Interest Rate Contracts -  -  178  -  178  178  

Other Interest Rate Contracts -  1,359  247  -  1,606  1,606  

Foreign Exchange Contracts 12  689  418  -  1,119  1,119  

Shares Contracts 353  27  -  -  380  380  

Commodity and other Contracts -  -  -  -  -  -  

Total assets in respect of derivative instruments 365  2,075  843  -  3,283  3,283  

Other -  21  -  -  21  21  

Assets in respect of the "Maof" market operations 298  -  -  -  298  298  

Total assets 21,684  16,110  843  -  38,637  38,637  
Liabilities 

      Deposits from the public in respect of securities borrowed 1,185  20  -  -  1,205  1,205  

CLN deposits -  -  319  -  319  319  
Liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 

      Shekel/CPI Interest Rate Contracts -  -  160  -  160  160  

Other Interest Rate Contracts -  1,788  -  -  1,788  1,788  

Foreign Exchange Contracts 12  1,122  135  -  1,269  1,269  

Shares Contracts 353  -  -  -  353  353  

Commodity and other Contracts -  -  -  -  -  -  

Total liabilities in respect of derivative instruments 365  2,910  295  -  3,570  3,570  

Other -  28  -  -  28  28  

Commitments in respect of the "Maof" market operations 298  -  -  -  298  298  

Short sales of securities 285  -  -  -  285  285  

Total liabilities 2,133  2,958  614  -  5,705  5,705  
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16. BALANCES AND FAIR VALUE ESTIMATES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(CONTINUED) 

B. ITEMS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE - CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

2. ITEMS MEASURED ACCORDING TO FAIR VALUE NOT ON A RECURRING BASIS  

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2017 

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Total fair 
value 

 

Profit (Loss) 
for the three 

months 
ended 

March 31, 
2017 

 
In NIS millions 

Impaired credit the collection of which is collateral 
dependent -  -  1,328  1,328  

 
(20) 

Other -  -  16  16  
 

-  
       

 
Unaudited 

 
March 31, 2016 

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Total fair 
value 

 

Profit (Loss) 
for the three 

months 
ended 

March 31, 
2016 

 
In NIS millions 

Impaired credit the collection of which is collateral 
dependent -  -  1,735  1,735  

 
(82) 

Other -  -  16  16  
 

-  
       

 
Audited 

 
December 31, 2016 

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Total fair 
value 

 

Loss for the 
year ended 
December 

31, 2016 

 
In NIS millions 

Impaired credit the collection of which is collateral 
dependent -  -  1,562  1,562  

 
(211) 

Other -  -  16  16  
 

-  
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16. BALANCES AND FAIR VALUE ESTIMATES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(CONTINUED) 

C. CHANGES IN ITEMS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE ON A RECURRING BASIS INCLUDED IN LEVEL 3 - CONSOLIDATED  

1. FOR A PERIOD OF THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2017 

 
Unaudited 

 

Fair value 
as at 

December 
31, 2016 

Total 
realized 

and 
unrealized 

gains  
(losses) 

included in 
the 

statement 
of profit 
and loss Issuances Acquisitions Clearings 

Transfers 
from level 

3 
Transfers 
to level 3 

Fair value 
as at  

March 31, 
2017 

Unrealized 
gains 

(losses) in 
respect of 

held 
instruments 
as at March 

31, 2017 

 
in NIS millions 

Net Assets (Liabilities) in respect of derivative instruments 

Shekel/CPI Interest Rate 
Contracts 18  ⁽¹⁾5  -  -  (26) -  -  (3) ⁽¹⁾6  

Other Interest Rate 
Contracts 247  ⁽¹⁾(5) -  -  -  (17) 3  228  ⁽¹⁾(5) 

Foreign Exchange 
Contracts 283  ⁽¹⁾294  -  (66) (52) (60) 10  409  ⁽¹⁾285  

Total 548  294  -  (66) (78) (77) 13  634  286  

Liabilities 
         CLN Deposits (319) (2) -  -  12  -  -  (309) (2) 

 

2. FOR A PERIOD OF THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2016 

 
Unaudited 

 

Fair value 
as at 

December 
31, 2015 

Total 
realized 

and 
unrealized 

gains  
(losses) 

included in 
the 

statement 
of profit 
and loss Issuances Acquisitions Clearings 

Transfers 
from level 

3 
Transfers 
to level 3 

Fair value 
as at  

March 31, 
2016 

Unrealized 
gains 

(losses) in 
respect of 

held 
instruments 
as at March 

31, 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Net Assets (Liabilities) in respect of derivative instruments 

Shekel/CPI Interest Rate 
Contracts 19  ⁽¹⁾17  -  -  (17) -  -  19  ⁽¹⁾21  

Other Interest Rate 
Contracts 154  ⁽¹⁾148  -  -  (28) (7) (10) 257  ⁽¹⁾148  

Foreign Exchange 
Contracts 230  ⁽¹⁾572  -  (63) (137) (23) (3) 576  ⁽¹⁾573  

Total 403  737  -  (63) (182) (30) (13) 852  742  

Liabilities 
         CLN Deposits (345) (3) -  -  9  -  -  (339) (2) 

Footnotes: 

(1) Included in the statement of income in the item "Non-interest financing income". 
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16. BALANCES AND FAIR VALUE ESTIMATES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(CONTINUED) 

C. CHANGES IN ITEMS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE ON A RECURRING BASIS INCLUDED IN LEVEL 3 - CONSOLIDATED (CONTINUED) 

3. FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 

 
Audited 

 

Fair value 
as at 

December 
31, 2015 

Total 
realized 

and 
unrealized 

gains  
(losses) 

included in 
the 

statement 
of profit 
and loss Issuances Acquisitions Clearings 

Transfers 
from level 

3 
Transfers to 

level 3 

Fair value 
as at 

December 
31, 2016 

Unrealized 
gains 

(losses) in 
respect of 

held 
instruments 

as at 
December 

31, 2016 

 
in NIS millions 

Net Assets (Liabilities) in respect of derivative instruments 

Shekel/CPI Interest 
Rate Contracts 19  ⁽¹⁾2  -  -  (3) -  -  18  ⁽¹⁾12  

Other Interest Rate 
Contracts 154  ⁽¹⁾154  -  -  (50) (13) 2  247  ⁽¹⁾155  

Foreign Exchange 
Contracts 230  ⁽¹⁾320  -  (99) (172) 4  ⁽²⁾-  283  ⁽¹⁾229  

Total 403  476  -  (99) (225) (9) 2  548  396  

Liabilities 
         CLN Deposits (345) (14) (29) -  69  -  -  (319) (14) 

Footnotes: 
(1) Included in the statement of profit and loss in the item "Non-interest financing income" 
(2) An amount lower than NIS 1 million 

 

D. TRANSFERS BETWEEN HIERARCHY LEVELS OF FAIR VALUE 
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16. BALANCES AND FAIR VALUE ESTIMATES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(CONTINUED) 

E. ADDITIONAL DETAILS REGARDING SIGNIFICANT UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS AND VALUATION TECHNIQUES USED FOR THE 

MEASUREMENT OF FAIR VALUE OF ITEMS CLASSIFIED TO LEVEL 3  

1. QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION REGARDING THE MEASUREMENT OF FAIR VALUE AT LEVEL 3 

 
Unaudited 

 

Fair value 
as at  

March 31, 
2017 Valuation Techniques Unobservable inputs 

Range  
(Weighted Average) 

 

In NIS 
millions 

  
In % 

A. Items measured at fair value not on a recurring basis 
 

Impaired credit the collection of which is collateral 
dependent 1,328  

Discounted cash flow, 
assessments and 
evaluation 

Discount rate, real estate 
market inputs 

 

Other 16  
Valuation by an expert 
assessor 

Company value,  real 
estate market inputs 

 
B. Items measured at fair value on a recurring basis 

 
Net Assets (Liabilities) in respect of derivative instruments 

 

Shekel/CPI Interest Rate Contracts (3) Discounted cash flow 
The interest curve in the 
CPI linked segments From -1.53%  to  0.83%  (-0.19%) 

   

Counterparty credit risk 
(CVA) From  0.00%  to  2.88%  (0.51%) 

Other Interest Rate Contracts 228  Discounted cash flow 
Counterparty credit risk 
(CVA) From   0.00%  to  3.27% (0.08%) 

Foreign Exchange Contracts 409  Discounted cash flow 
The interest curve in the 
CPI linked segments From -1.40%  to  0.29%  (-0.37%) 

  

Discounted cash flow, 
Models for the pricing of 
options. 

Counterparty credit risk 
(CVA) From  0.00%  to  18.21%  (0.17%) 

Liabilities 
 

CLN Deposits 309  Discounted cash flow 
Credit risk of the 
underlying asset 

      

 
Unaudited 

 

Fair value 
as at  

March 31, 
2016 Valuation Techniques Unobservable inputs 

Range  
(Weighted Average) 

 

In NIS 
millions 

  
In % 

A. Items measured at fair value not on a recurring basis 
 

Impaired credit the collection of which is collateral 
dependent 1,735  

Discounted cash flow, 
assessments and 
evaluation 

Discount rate, real estate 
market inputs 

 

Other 16  
Valuation by an expert 
assessor 

Company value,  real 
estate market inputs 

 
B. Items measured at fair value on a recurring basis 

 
Net Assets in respect of derivative instruments 

 

Shekel/CPI Interest Rate Contracts 19  Discounted cash flow 
One year period inflation 
expectations From  -1.42%  to  2.48%   (0.78%) 

   

Counterparty credit risk 
(CVA) From  0.00%   to  3.93%   (0.08%) 

Other Interest Rate Contracts 257  Discounted cash flow 
Counterparty credit risk 
(CVA) From   0.00%  to  8.1%  (0.27%) 

Foreign Exchange Contracts 576  Discounted cash flow 
One year period inflation 
expectations From  -1.42%  to  1.83%   (0.84%) 

  

Discounted cash flow, 
Models for the pricing of 
options. 

Counterparty credit risk 
(CVA) From   0.00%  to  4.15%   (0.01%) 

Liabilities 
 

CLN Deposits 339  Discounted cash flow 
Credit risk of the 
underlying asset 
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16. BALANCES AND FAIR VALUE ESTIMATES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(CONTINUED) 

E. ADDITIONAL DETAILS REGARDING SIGNIFICANT UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS AND VALUATION TECHNIQUES USED FOR THE 

MEASUREMENT OF FAIR VALUE OF ITEMS CLASSIFIED TO LEVEL 3 (CONTINUED) 

1. QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION REGARDING THE MEASUREMENT OF FAIR VALUE AT LEVEL 3 (CONTINUED) 

 
Audited 

 

Fair value 
as at  

December 
31, 2016 

Valuation 
Techniques Unobservable inputs 

Range  
(Weighted Average) 

 

In NIS 
millions 

  
In % 

A. Items measured at fair value not on a recurring basis 
 

Impaired credit the collection of which is collateral 
dependent 1,562  

Discounted cash 
flow, assessments 
and evaluation 

Discount rate, real 
estate market inputs 

 

Other 16  
Valuation by an 
expert assessor 

Company value,  real 
estate market inputs 

 B. Items measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
 Net Assets in respect of derivative instruments 
 

Shekel/CPI Interest Rate Contracts 18  Discounted cash flow 

The interest curve in 
the CPI linked 
segments From -0.74%  to  2.57%  (-0.08%) 

   

Counterparty credit 
risk (CVA) From  0.00%  to  3.09%  (0.42%) 

Other Interest Rate Contracts 247  Discounted cash flow 
Counterparty credit 
risk (CVA) From   0.00%  to  9.92% (0.07%) 

Foreign Exchange Contracts 283  Discounted cash flow 

The interest curve in 
the CPI linked 
segments From -0.73%  to  2.38%  (-0.41%) 

  

Discounted cash 
flow, Models for the 
pricing of options. 

Counterparty credit 
risk (CVA) From  0.00%  to  18.40%  (0.16%) 

Liabilities 
 

CLN Deposits 319  Discounted cash flow 
Credit risk of the 
underlying asset 

 
 

2. QUALITATIVE INFORMATION REGARDING THE MEASUREMENT OF FAIR VALUE AT LEVEL 3 

17. CREDIT CARD ACTIVITY 
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17. CREDIT CARD ACTIVITY (CONTINUED) 

18. SHELF PROSPECTUS 

19. PLEDGES, RESTRICTIVE TERMS AND COLLATERAL 

20. ISSUANCE OF SHARMARKES AND OPTION WARRANTS 

21. ISSUE OF SUBORDINATED DEBT NOTES (SERIES L) 
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ADDITIONAL DETAILS REGARDING THE BUSINESS OF THE 

BANKING CORPORATION AND MANAGEMENT THEREOF 

DISCOUNT GROUP STRUCTURE 

FIXED ASSETS AND INSTALLATIONS 

ACCESSIBILITY FOR HANDICAPPED PERSONS 

INFORMATION AND COMPUTER SYSTEMS – ICC 
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THE HUMAN CAPITAL  

IMPROVEMENT OF SERVICE 

ORGANIZATIONAL CULTURE 

RATING THE LIABILITIES OF THE BANK AND SOME OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 

ACTIVITY OF THE GROUP ACCORDING TO REGULATORY OPERATING SEGMENTS 

- ADDITIONAL DETAILS  

HOUSEHOLD SEGMENT (DOMESTIC OPERATIONS) - ADDITIONAL DETAILS 

DEVELOPMENTS IN THE SEGMENT 
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MORTGAGE ACTIVITY 

Developments in the mortgage market 

 

For the three months 
ended March 31 

 

 
2017 2016 

 

 
in NIS millions 

Change 
in % 

Total housing loans granted by the banks, excluding internal recycling of loans 13,007  14,907  (12.7) 

Loans from State funds 50  21  138.1  

New loans and recycled loans granted for the purchase of a residential unit and secured by a mortgage on a residential unit 

 
For the three months ended March 31, 

For the  year 
ended 

December 
31, 

 
2017 2016 

 
2016 

 
In NIS millions Change in % 

In NIS 
millions 

From bank funds(1) 1,536  1,542  (0.4) 7009.0  

From Treasury funds(2) 2  -  -  8.0  

Total of new loans 1,538  1,542  (0.3) 7017.0  

Recycled loans 77  178  (56.7) 503.0  

Total 1,615  1,720  (6) 7,520  
Footnotes: 
(1) Including new loans granted, secured by housing mortgages, in the amount of NIS 35 million in the first three months of 2017, compared to NIS 40 million as at 

March 31, 2016 and NIS 128 million in 2016. 
(2) Including standing loans in the amount of NIS 0.1 million in the first three months of 2017, compared to NIS 0.1 as at March 31, 2016 and NIS 1.9 million in 

2016. 

PRIVATE BANKING SEGMENT (DOMESTIC OPERATIONS) - ADDITIONAL DETAILS 
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LARGE BUSINESSES SEGMENT (DOMESTIC OPERATIONS) - ADDITIONAL DETAILS 

REACHING TARGETS AND BUSINESS STRATEGY – FIRST THREE MONTHS OF 2017 

LEGISLATIVE RESTRICTIONS, REGULATIONS AND SPECIAL CONSTRAINTS APPLICABLE TO THE 

SEGMENT 

DEVELOPMENTS IN THE DEBT OF THE BUSINESS SECTOR 

DEVELOPMENTS IN THE SEGMENT’S MARKETS 

3 The most updated data available at the time of submitting the report to print. 
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ANTICIPATED DEVELOPMENTS IN THE SEGMENT'S MARKETS  

CONSTRUCTION AND REAL ESTATE ACTIVITY 

Developments in markets of the activity  

Legislative and regulatory limitations and special constraints applying to the activity  

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT SEGMENT (DOMESTIC OPERATIONS) - ADDITIONAL DETAILS 

NON-FINANCIAL COMPANIES 

Legislative restrictions, regulations and special constraints applicable to the sub-segment 
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Investment of the Group in private investment funds, venture capital funds and corporations  

Developments in the activity 

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS SEGMENT - ADDITIONAL DETAILS 

LEGISLATIVE RESTRICTIONS, REGULATIONS AND SPECIAL CONSTRAINTS APPLICABLE TO THE 

OPERATIONS OVERSEAS 

ADDITIONAL SEGMENTS 

CREDIT CARD OPERATIONS 

Developments in operations 
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LEGISLATIVE RESTRICTIONS, REGULATIONS AND SPECIAL CONSTRAINTS APPLICABLE TO THE 

OPERATIONS 

TECHNOLOGICAL IMPROVEMENTS AND INNOVATION 

"PAYBOX"  
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DIRECT CHANNELS 



FIRST QUARTER OF 2017 Corporate Governance, audit and additional information  

regarding the business of the Banking Corporation 

 

 

193 

MAIN DEVELOPMENTS IN THE ISRAELI ECONOMY AND AROUND THE WORLD IN 

THE FIRST THREE MONTHS OF 2017 

DEVELOPMENTS IN THE GLOBAL ECONOMY 

The changes in selected share indices recorded during the first three months of the years 2016 and 2017 

Index 2017 2016 

500 S&P 5.5%  0.8%  

DAX 7.3%  (7.2%) 

MSCI Emerging Markets  11.1%  5.4% 

The returns on government bonds 

Return on bonds for 10 years March 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 

U.S.A. 2.39%  2.44%  

Germany  0.33%  0.21% 

Changes in the U.S. dollar against selected currencies 

Exchange rate 2017 2016 

EUR 1.3%  4.7%  

JPY (4.8%) (6.4%) 

GBP  1.7% (2.3%) 

Changes in selected commodities indexes 

 
2017 2016 

The commodities index - GSCI (5.0%) (2.5%) 

The oil price (BRENT) (7.0%) 6.2%  

The oil price (WTI) (5.8%) 3.5%  

Gold  8.9%  16.0% 
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MAIN DEVELOPMENTS IN THE ISRAELI ECONOMY  

GENERAL4 

DEVELOPMENTS IN ECONOMIC SECTORS 

DEVELOPMENTS IN FOREIGN ACTIVITIES OF THE ISRAELI ECONOMY 

The changes recorded in investments of the Israeli economy abroad 

Investments in Israel by foreign residents 
January-February 

2017 
January-March 

2016 

 
US$ billion 

Total direct investments through banks  1,181  2,560  

Total financial investments  2,882   1,882  

Of which: Government bonds and MAKAM  1,976   1,906  

Shares 848 67 
  

Investments abroad by Israeli residents 
January-February 

2017 
January-March 

2016 

 
US$ billion 

Total direct investments 167   (110) 

Total financial investments  1,462   382  

DEVELOPMENTS IN INFLATION AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES 

The growth figures in Israel for the first quarter of 2017 were not available at the time the report was submitted to the printing press.

5 The most updated data available at the time of submitting the report to print.



FIRST QUARTER OF 2017 Corporate Governance, audit and additional information  

regarding the business of the Banking Corporation 

 

 

195 

FISCAL AND MONETARY POLICY 

CAPITAL MARKET 

The changes recorded in selected share indices during the first three months of 2016 and 2017 

Index 2017 2016 

General share index 2.2%  11.8%  

TA 35 (5.0%) (5.1%) 

TA 125 (2.4%) (4.9%) 

TA banks 1.5%  2.8%  

TA Global – Bluetech (3.5%) 2.0%  

TA Real-estate  12.3% (5.1%) 

The changes recorded in selected bond indices during the first three months of 2016 and 2017 

Index 2017 2016 

General bonds 0.6%  (1.3%) 

General Government bonds 0.1%  (1.4%) 

Shekel Government bonds 0.6%  (1.2%) 

Linked Government bonds (0.6%) (1.8%) 

General Corporate bonds 1.5%  (1.0%) 

Linked Corporate bonds 1.2%  (1.1%) 

Shekel Tel-Bond  2.0%  1.3% 
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THE ASSET PORTFOLIO HELD BY THE PUBLIC 

The distribution of the asset portfolio held by the public 

 
February 28, 2017 December 31, 2017 

Shares 21.7%  22.2%  

Non-linked assets 36.4%  36.1%  

CPI linked assets 29.6%  29.1%  

Foreign currency linked assets  12.4%  12.6% 

PRINCIPAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTS IN APRIL AND MAY 20176 

 

6 All data relate to the period from April 1, 2017 and until May 10, 2017. 
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LEGISLATION AND SUPERVISION 

LEGISLATION FOR INCREASING COMPETITION IN BANKING AND FINANCIAL SERVICES 

 

ANTITRUST 
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LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

ADDITIONAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS SETTLED IN THE FIRST QUARTER OF 2017 

PROCEEDINGS REGARDING AUTHORITIES 
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APPENDIX NO. 1 - RATES OF INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES ON A CONSOLIDATED 

BASIS AND ANALYSIS OF THE CHANGES IN INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES 

PART "A" - AVERAGE BALANCES AND INTEREST RATES - ASSETS

 
For the three months ended March 31 

 
2017 2016 

 

Average 
balance⁽²⁾ 

Interest 
income 

Rate of 
income 

Average 
balance⁽²⁾ 

Interest 
income 

Rate of 
income 

 
In NIS millions In % In NIS millions In % 

Interest bearing assets: 
      Credit to the public:⁽³⁾ 
        In Israel 112,190  1,086  3.93  101,998  900  3.58  

  Outside Israel 21,197  196  3.75  21,384  192  3.64  

Total credit to the public 133,387  *1,282  3.90  123,382  *1,092  3.59  

Credit to the Government: 
        In Israel 758  5  2.66  505  3  2.40  

  Outside Israel 4  ⁽¹⁰⁾-  -  14  ⁽¹⁰⁾-  -  

Total credit to the Government 762  5  2.65  519  3  2.33  

Deposits with banks: 
        In Israel 3,100  5  0.65  3,156  3  0.38  

  Outside Israel 616  2  1.31  810  1  0.49  

Total deposits with banks 3,716  7  0.76  3,966  4  0.40  

Deposits with central banks: 
        In Israel 19,532  4  0.08  18,119  4  0.09  

  Outside Israel 1,254  3  0.96  1,778  2  0.45  

Total deposits with central banks 20,786  7  0.13  19,897  6  0.12  

Securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements: 
        In Israel 537  ⁽¹⁰⁾-  -  250  ⁽¹⁰⁾-  -  

Total securities borrowed or purchased under resale 
agreements 537  -  -  250  -  -  

Bonds held for redemption and available for sale:⁽⁴⁾ 
        In Israel 25,025  68  1.09  22,942  44  0.77  

  Outside Israel 10,558  59  2.25  11,245  66  2.37  

Total bonds held for redemption and available for sale 35,583  127  1.44  34,187  110  1.29  

Trading bonds:⁽⁴⁾ 
        In Israel 2,816  5  0.71  3,138  (2) (0.25) 

  Outside Israel 59  ⁽¹⁰⁾-  -  624  ⁽¹⁰⁾-  -  

Total trading bonds 2,875  5  0.70  3,762  (2) (0.21) 

Other assets: 
        In Israel -  -  -  -  ⁽⁹⁾-  -  

  Outside Israel 698  7  4.07  711  5  2.84  

Total other assets 698  7  4.07  711  5  2.84  

Total interest bearing assets 198,344  1,440  2.94  186,674  1,218  2.64  

Debtors in respect of credit card operations 6,243  
  

6,025  
  Other non-interest bearing assets⁽⁵⁾ 15,317  

  
15,435  

  Total assets 219,904  
  

208,134  
  Of which: Total interest bearing assets attributable to operations outside 

Israel 34,386  267  3.14  36,566  266  2.94  

* Commissions included in interest income from credit to the public 
 

76  
  

81  
 For footnotes see page 205. 
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APPENDIX NO. 1 - RATES OF INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES ON A CONSOLIDATED 

BASIS AND ANALYSIS OF THE CHANGES IN INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES 

(CONTINUED) 

PART "B" – AVERAGE BALANCES AND INTEREST RATES – LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

 
For the three months ended March 31 

 
2017 2016 

 

Average 
balance⁽²⁾ 

Interest 
expenses 

Rate of 
expense 

Average 
balance⁽²⁾ 

Interest 
expenses 

Rate of 
expense 

 
In NIS millions In % In NIS millions In % 

Interest bearing liabilities: 
      Deposits from the public: 
        In Israel - On call 30,613  1  0.01  28,204  1  0.01  

  In Israel - Time deposits 82,538  95  0.46  74,511  32  0.17  

Total deposits from the public in Israel 113,151  96  0.34  102,715  33  0.13  

  Outside Israel - On call 13,203  18  0.55  13,574  17  0.50  

  Outside Israel - Time deposits 7,968  21  1.06  ⁽¹¹⁾8,239  ⁽¹¹⁾20  0.97  

Total deposits from the public outside Israel 21,171  39  0.74  21,813  37  0.68  

Total deposits from the public 134,322  135  0.40  124,528  70  0.23  

Deposits from the Government: 
        In Israel 223  1  1.81  244  ⁽¹⁰⁾-  -  

  Outside Israel 84  ⁽¹⁰⁾-  -  ⁽¹¹⁾16  ⁽¹⁰⁾⁽¹¹⁾-  -  

Total deposits from the Government 307  1  1.31  260  -  -  

Deposits from banks: 
        In Israel 3,430  4  0.47  3,107  3  0.39  

  Outside Israel 1,426  4  1.13  932  4  1.73  

Total deposits from banks 4,856  8  0.66  4,039  7  0.70  

Securities loaned or sold under repurchase agreements: 
        Outside Israel 3,471  34  3.98  3,851  38  4.01  

Total securities loaned or sold under repurchase agreements 3,471  34  3.98  3,851  38  4.01  

Bonds and subordinated debt notes: 
        In Israel 9,193  94  4.15  9,541  53  2.24  

Total bonds and subordinated debt notes 9,193  94  4.15  9,541  53  2.24  

Other liabilities: 
        In Israel 74  1  5.52  82  1  4.97  

Total other liabilities 74  1  5.52  82  1  4.97  

Total interest bearing liabilities 152,223  273  0.72  142,301  169  0.48  

Non-interest bearing deposits from the public 38,032  
  

37,340  
  Creditors in respect of credit card operations 6,769  

  
6,516  

  Other non-interest bearing liabilities⁽⁶⁾ 7,959  
  

8,513  
  Total liabilities 204,983  

  
194,670  

  Total capital resources 14,921  
  

13,464  
  Total liabilities and capital resources 219,904  

  
208,134  

  Interest margin 
 

1,167  2.22  
 

1,049  2.16  

Net return on interest bearing assets:⁽⁷⁾ 
        In Israel 163,958  977  2.40  150,108  862  2.32  

  Outside Israel 34,386  190  2.23  36,566  187  2.06  

Total net return on interest bearing assets 198,344  1,167  2.37  186,674  1,049  2.27  

Of which: Total interest bearing liabilities attributable to operations outside 
Israel 26,152  77  1.18  26,612  79  1.19  
For footnotes see page 205. 
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APPENDIX NO. 1 - RATES OF INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES ON A CONSOLIDATED 

BASIS AND ANALYSIS OF THE CHANGES IN INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES 

(CONTINUED) 

PART "C" - AVERAGE BALANCES AND INTEREST RATES - ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING INTEREST BEARING ASSETS 

AND LIABILITIES ATTRIBUTED TO OPERATIONS IN ISRAEL

 
For the three months ended March 31 

 
2017 2016 

 

Average 
balance⁽²⁾ 

Interest 
income 

(expense) 

Rate of 
income 

(expense) 
Average 

balance⁽²⁾ 

Interest 
income 

(expense) 

Rate of 
income 

(expense) 

 
In NIS millions In % In NIS millions In % 

Non-linked shekels: 

Total interest bearing assets 127,887  973  3.08  114,402  876  3.10  

Total interest bearing liabilities (96,706) (82) (0.34) (85,667) (68) (0.32) 

Interest margin 
 

891  2.74  
 

808  2.78  

CPI-linked shekels: 

Total interest bearing assets 19,807  92  1.87  19,371  ⁽⁹⁾(23) (0.47) 

Total interest bearing liabilities (11,766) (82) (2.82) (13,632) 1  0.03  

Interest margin 
 

10  (0.95) 
 

(22) (0.44) 

Foreign Currency (including foreign currency-linked shekels): 

Total interest bearing assets 16,264  108  2.68  16,335  99  2.45  

Total interest bearing liabilities (17,599) (32) (0.73) (16,390) (23) (0.56) 

Interest margin 
 

76  1.95  
 

76  1.89  

Total operations in Israel: 

Total interest bearing assets 163,958  1,173  2.89  150,108  952  2.56  

Total interest bearing liabilities (126,071) (196) (0.62) (115,689) (90) (0.31) 

Interest margin 
 

977  2.27  
 

862  2.25  
For footnotes see next page. 
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APPENDIX NO. 1 - RATES OF INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES ON A CONSOLIDATED 

BASIS AND ANALYSIS OF THE CHANGES IN INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES 

(CONTINUED) 

PART "D" – ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES

 
For the three months ended March 31 

 
2017 Compared to 2016 

 

Increase (decrease) due to 
change⁽⁸⁾ 

 

 
Quantity Price Net change 

 
In NIS millions 

Interest bearing assets: 

Credit to the public: 
     In Israel 99  87  186  

  Outside Israel (2) 6  4  

Total credit to the public 97  93  190  

Other interest bearing assets: 
     In Israel 6  29  35  

  Outside Israel (11) 8  (3) 

Total other interest bearing assets (5) 37  32  

Total interest income 92  130  222  

Interest bearing liabilities: 

Deposits from the public: 
     In Israel 9  54  63  

  Outside Israel (1) 3  2  

Total deposits from the public 8  57  65  

Other interest bearing liabilities: 

  In Israel ⁽¹⁰⁾-  43  43  

  Outside Israel 1  (5) (4) 

Total other interest bearing liabilities 1  38  39  

Total interest expenses 9  95  104  

Interest income, net 83  35  118  

Footnotes: 

(1) The data is presented after the effect of hedge derivative instruments. 

(2) Based on monthly opening balances, except for the non-linked shekels segment in respect of which the average balances are based on daily data. 

(3) Before deduction of the average stated balance of allowances for credit losses. Including impaired debts that do not accrue interest income. 

(4) From the average balance of trading bonds and of available-for-sale bonds was deducted (added) the average balance of non-realized gains (losses) from 
adjustment to fair value of trading bonds as well as gains (losses) in respect of available-for-sale bonds included in shareholders' equity as part of accumulated 
other comprehensive income, in the item "Adjustments in respect of available-for-sale securities according to fair value" in the amount of NIS (4) million and 
NIS 57 million, respectively; 2016 – NIS 1 million and NIS 220 million respectively. 

(5) Including derivative instruments and other assets that do not carry interest and net of allowance for credit losses. 

(6) Including derivative instruments. 

(7) Net return – net interest income divided by total interest bearing assets. 

(8) The quantitative impact has been computed by multiplying the interest margin by the change in the average balance between the periods. The price impact 
has been calculated by multiplying the average balance for the corresponding period last year by the change in the interest margin between the periods. 

(9) Reclassified, see Note 1 G (1). 

(10) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 
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APPENDIX NO. 2 - ADDITIONAL DETAILS - SECURITIES PORTFOLIO 

1. AVAILABLE FOR SALE BONDS - DATA ACCORDING TO ECONOMIC SECTORS 

Details regarding to the distribution of bonds in the available-for-sale portfolio according to economic sectors 

 
March 31, 2017 

   

Accumulated  other 
comprehensive income 

 

Amortized 
cost Fair value Gains Losses 

 
In NIS millions 

Non government bonds 
    Various sectors 1,503  1,531  31  3  

Financial services⁽¹⁾ 8,311  8,253  21  79  

Total non government bonds 9,814  9,784  52  82  

Government bonds 
    U.S. government 447  447  1  1  

Israel Government 16,196  16,282  105  19  

Other Governments 263  264  1  *-  

Total government bonds 16,906  16,993  107  20  

Total  bond in the available-for-sale portfolio 26,720  26,777  159  102  
*An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

(1) Details regarding bonds in the financial services sector in the available-for-sale portfolio 

 
March 31, 2017 

   

Accumulated  other 
comprehensive income 

 

Amortized 
cost Fair value Gains Losses 

 
In NIS millions 

Banks and banking holding companies⁽²⁾ 983  989  9  3  

Insurance and provident funds 56  57  1  *-  

Ginnie Mae 5,822  5,765  5  62  

Freddie Mac 455  451  1  5  

Fannie Mae 815  809  3  9  

Other 180  182  2  -  

Total financial services 8,311  8,253  21  79  
*An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

(2) Details according to geographical areas of investment in bonds of banks and banking holding companies in the available-for-sale 

portfolio 

 
March 31, 2017 

   

Accumulated  other 
comprehensive income 

 

Amortized 
cost Fair value Gains Losses 

 
In NIS millions 

Western Europe⁽³⁾ 667  670  5  2  

Australia 316  319  4  1  

Total banks and banking holding companies 983  989  9  3  
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APPENDIX NO. 2 - ADDITIONAL DETAILS - SECURITIES PORTFOLIO (CONTINUED) 

 1. AVAILABLE FOR SALE BONDS - DATA ACCORDING TO ECONOMIC SECTORS (CONTINUED) 

(3) Details by countries of investment in bonds of banks and bank holding companies in the available-for-sale portfolio in Western 

Europe 

Britain 237  236  1  2  

Switzerland 157  158  1  -  

Sweden 38  39  1  -  

France 156  156  -  -  

Netherlands 47  48  1  -  

Germany 32  33  1  -  

Total 667  670  5  2  

2. HELD-TO-MATURITY SECURITIES - DATA ACCORDING TO ECONOMIC SECTORS 

Details regarding the distribution of bonds in the held-to-maturity securities portfolio according to economic sectors 

 
March 31, 2017 

 
Amortized cost Fair value 

Unrecognized 
gains from 

adjustment to 
fair value 

Unrecognized 
losses from 

adjustment to 
fair value 

 
In NIS millions 

Non government bonds 
    Public and community services ⁽¹⁾1,448  1,494  48  2  

Financial services* 793  791  8  10  

Total non government bonds 2,241  2,285  56  12  

Total Government bonds 3,657  3,894  237  -  

Total bonds in the held-to-maturity portfolio 5,898  6,179  293  12  

*Following are details of Held-to-maturity bonds in the  financial 
services sector: 

    Ginnie Mae 214  215  4  3  

Freddie Mac 343  339  1  5  

Fannie Mae 117  115  ⁽²⁾-  2  

Other 119  122  3  ⁽²⁾-  

Total financial services 793  791  8  10  
Footnotes: 

(1) Most of this amount represents the investment of IDB New York in the U.S.A. municipal bonds. Of which, the three largest investments are in the amount of 
NIS 182 - 147 million, each, in municipal bonds of New York City, in bonds of the water corporation of New York city and in bonds of the state of New York. 

(2) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

 



 

 

 

 

208 

Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 

APPENDIX NO. 2 - ADDITIONAL DETAILS - SECURITIES PORTFOLIO (CONTINUED) 

3. TRADING BONDS - DATA ACCORDING TO ECONOMIC SECTORS 

Details regarding the distribution of bonds in the trading securities portfolio according to economic sectors 

 
March 31, 2017 

 
Amortized cost Fair value 

Unrecognized 
gains from 

adjustment to 
fair value 

Unrecognized 
losses from 

adjustment to 
fair value 

 
In NIS millions 

Non government bonds 
    Various sectors 57  57  ⁽¹⁾-  ⁽¹⁾-  

Financial services 115  114  ⁽¹⁾-  1  

Total non government bonds 172  171  -  1  

Total government bonds 2,391  2,391  2  2  

Total bonds in the trading portfolio 2,563  2,562  2  3  
Footnote: 

(1) An amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

APPENDIX NO. 3 - ADDITIONAL DETAILS 

1. ACTIVITY IN DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(1) Details according to rating of balances of assets derived from transactions in derivative instruments where the counterparty is a 

bank 

 
As of March 31 As of December 31 

 
2017 2016 

 
In NIS million 

Balance-sheet balances of assets deriving from derivative instruments against foreign banks 
  With an AAA rating 5  2  

With an AA+ rating 3  3  

With an AA rating 222  260  

With an AA- rating 83  158  

With an A+ rating 734  782  

With an A rating 139  139  

With an A- rating 199  231  

With a BBB- rating 15  14  

Not rated 24  29  

Total against foreign banks 1,424  1,618  

Total against Israeli banks 272  546  

Total Balance-sheet balances of assets deriving from derivative instruments 1,696  2,164  
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APPENDIX NO. 3 - ADDITIONAL DETAILS (CONTINUED) 

1. ACTIVITY IN DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 (2) Details according to rating of off balance sheet credit risk in respect of transactions in derivative instruments where the 

counterparty is a bank 

 
As of March 31 As of December 31 

 
2017 2016 

 
In NIS million 

Off balance sheet balances of assets deriving from derivative instruments against foreign banks 
  With an AAA rating -  2  

With an AA+ rating 1  1  

With an AA rating 10  11  

With an AA- rating 17  17  

With an A+ rating 46  20  

With an A rating 1  1  

With an A- rating 2  3  

Total against foreign banks 77  55  

Total against Israeli banks 25  187  

Total Off Balance-sheet balances of assets deriving from derivative instruments 102  242  
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 APPENDIX NO. 3 - ADDITIONAL DETAILS (CONTINUED) 

1. ACTIVITY IN DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

(3) Details of the column "Other" in Note 11 to the condensed financial statements according to the overall credit to the public risk 

per economic sectors 

 
As of March 31, 2017 As of March 31, 2016 As of December 31,  2016 

 
in NIS million 

Agriculture 
 

1  
 

1  
 

-  

Industry: 
      Machines, electrical and electronic equipment 26  

 
64  

 
51  

 Mining, chemical industry and oil products 69  
 

36  
 

51  
 Other 29  

 
47  

 
19  

 Total industry 
 

124  
 

147  
 

121  

Construction and real estate: 
      Acquisition of real estate for construction 19  

 
17  

 
20  

 Real estate holdings 46  
 

107  
 

52  
 Other 27  

 
8  

 
21  

 Total Construction and real estate 
 

92  
 

132  
 

93  

Electricity and water 
 

302  
 

177  
 

231  

Commerce 
 

134  
 

101  
 

99  

Hotels, hotel services and food 
 

8  
 

4  
 

2  

Transporation and storage 
 

48  
 

79  
 

25  

Communications and computer services 
 

38  
 

80  
 

27  

Financial services: 
      Financial institution (excluding banks) 573  

 
298  

 
584  

 Private customers active on the capital market 299  
 

466  
 

271  
 Financial holding institutions 132  

 
129  

 
54  

 Insurance and provident fund services -  
 

-  
 

-  
 Total financial services 

 
1,004  

 
893  

 
909  

Business and other services 
 

6  
 

9  
 

9  

Public and community services 
 

8  
 

12  
 

7  

Private individuals - housing loans 
 

-  
 

-  
 

-  

Private individuals - other 
 

13  
 

18  
 

6  

Total 
 

1,778  
 
1,653  

 
1,529  

Credit risk mitigation in respect of financial instruments and in 
respect of a cash collateral received 

 
(240) 

 
(317) 

 
(341) 

Total credit risk in respect of derivative instruments 
 

1,538  
 
1,336  

 
1,188  

3. DETAILS OF THE INVESTMENT IN GOVERNMENT BONDS 

Details divided by governments with respect to the total securities portfolio 

 
March 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 

 
Book value Fair value⁽¹⁾ Book value Fair value⁽¹⁾ 

 
In NIS millions 

Of the Israeli Government 22,221  22,458  22,835  23,086  

U.S. government 556  556  664  664  

Other governments 264  264  390  390  

Total 23,041  23,278  23,889  24,140  
Footnote: 

(1) Fair value data based on market prices, does not necessarily reflect the price that may be obtained on the sale of securities in large volumes. 
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Appendix no. 4 - Glossary 

Option 
A contract between two parties within the framework of which one of the parties 
(the option writer) grants the counterparty a right to acquire or a right to sell 
an asset specified in the contract, in consideration for a predetermined price on 
a date set in advance or prior thereto.  

Bond 
A security that includes a commitment by the issuer to pay the holder of the 
security (the bond) the principal specified in the bond with the addition of 
interest, on the dates prescribed or upon fulfillment of a certain condition (in 
accordance with the terms prescribed in the bond).  

Least developed countries - LDC 
Countries classified by the World Bank in a low or medium income group.  

Regulatory capital 
The capital components used in calculating the stability ratios (e.g., capital 
adequacy) and consisting of two tiers:  

a. Tier 1 capital that comprises the accounting common equity after 
regulatory adjustments (as defined in Proper Conduct of Banking Business 
Directive No. 202).  

b. Tier 2 capital that mainly comprises capital debt instruments and other 

regulatory adjustments.  

Indebtedness 
Credit and commitments to provide credit (balance-sheet and off-balance-sheet) 
as defined in Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No. 313.  

Special mention debt 
A debt that has potential weaknesses for which Management’s special attention is 
required, and which, if not attended to, might adversely affect the repayment of 
the credit or the position of the Bank as a creditor.  

Problematic debt 
A debt that is classified as “impaired”, “substandard” or under “special mention”.  

Substandard debt 
A debt that is inadequately safeguarded by collateral or by the solvency of the 
debtor, and in respect of which there is a distinct possibility that the Bank will 
sustain a loss, if the deficiencies are not rectified.  

Impaired debt 
A debt in respect of which the Bank expects that it will be unable to collect the 
amounts due to it from the debtor, on the dates prescribed under the debt 
agreement.  

Collateral dependent debt 
An impaired debt whose repayment, in the Bank's opinion, is expected from the 
realization of only the collateral provided to secure the said debt, since the 
debtor has no other available resources for its repayment.  

Total capital adequacy ratio 
The ratio of the total capital resources (Tier 1 and Tier 2) to the Bank’s total 
risk weighted assets.  

Recorded amount of a debt 
The balance of a debt, including accrued interest that has been recognized, any 
premium or discount that has not yet been amortized, deferred net commissions or 
deferred net costs that have been added to the debt balance and have not yet been 
amortized, net of any part of the debt that has been subject to an accounting 
write-off.  

Basel instructions 
The instructions for the management of banks risks that have been prescribed by 
the Basel Committee that deals with supervision and the setting of standards for 
the supervision of the world’s banks.  

Subordinated debt notes 
Debt notes, in which the rights conferred thereunder are subordinate to claims by 
the rest of the Bank’s creditors, except for other debt notes of the same class.  
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Appendix no. 4 – Glossary (continued) 

Off-balance-sheet credit instruments 
Debt instruments such as commitments to provide credit and guarantees (not 
including derivative instruments).  

Derivative instrument  
A financial instrument or other contract that contains three cumulative 
features:  

a. A basis and nominal value that determine the settlement amount of the 
instrument.  

b. The net initial investment required is less than that would be required 

in other types of contracts that are exposed in a similar manner to 

changes in market factors (or where no investment is required).  
c. Its terms require or permit net settlement.  

Financial instrument 
Cash, evidence of the rights of ownership in a corporation, or a contract that 
fulfills the following two conditions: 

a. The instrument imposes a contractual obligation on one party to 
transfer cash or another financial instrument to the second party, or to 
exchange other financial instruments with the second party under terms 
that might be unfavorable to the first party.  

b. The instrument grants the second party a contractual right to receive 
cash or another financial instrument from the first party, or to 
exchange other financial instruments with the first party under terms 
that might be beneficial to the second party.  

Average maturity 
A weighted average of the time to the principal repayment and to the interest 
payments of interest-bearing financial instruments.  

Over-the-counter (OTC) derivative 
Derivative instruments which are not traded on an official stock exchange and 
are created within the framework of an agreement between two counterparties.  

Counterparty credit risk - CVA (Credit 

Valuation Adjustment) 

The exposure to a loss that might arise if the counterparty to a derivative 
instrument transaction does not fulfill the terms of the transaction.  

Active market 
A market in which transactions in an asset or a liability take place with 
sufficient frequency and volumes as to provide information regarding the 
pricing of the assets or liabilities on a current basis.  

Financing rate – LTV (Loan To Value 

Ratio) 

The ratio of the approved debt facility, at the time of granting the facility, 
to the value of the asset that secures the debt, as approved by the Bank at the 
time of granting the facility, which is used in calculating the “capital 
adequacy”.  

ICAAP (Internal Capital Adequacy 

Assessment Process) 

The Bank’s internal capital adequacy assessment process. The process 
combines, among other things, setting capital targets, capital planning 
measures and examining the capital position under a variety of stress tests.  
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Appendix no. 5 - Index 

Term  Page Term Page 

Derivative instruments 67, 129-137 The digital department  191-192 

Securities 24-26, 93-108 Critical accounting 
estimates 

67-68 

Risk management  38-67 Raising of capital 180 

Customer Assets 26-27 Credit to the public 21-24, 39-59, 109-112, 148-165 

Credit risk 39-59 Capital and capital adequacy 27-30, 120-124 

Credit risk in housing loans  51-54 Employee benefits 68, 114-119 

Credit risk  54-56 Interest income 17-20, 89-90 

Liquidity and financing 
risks 

64-66 Legal proceedings  125-128, 198 

Compliance risk 
66 Allowance for credit loss 

expenses 
19, 148-165 

Market risk 59-64 Main investee companies 35-38 

Operational risk 66 Dividend distribution 30 

Direct Channels 192 Leverage ratio 123 

Deposits from the public 26-27, 113 Liquidity coverage ratio 64, 124 

Credit card activity 179-180, 190-191 Goals and business strategy 11-12 

Fair value 67, 169-179 Issue of subordinated debt 
notes (Series L) 

13, 180 

Pay Box 191-192 Segments of operation 30-35, 137-147 

  Accounting policy 67, 86-88 

  Foreign financial 
institutions 

50-51 

  Leveraged finance 58-59 

    

    



 

 

 

 

214 

Israel Discount Bank Limited and its Subsidiaries 

 


